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OUR STRATEGY AND PERFORMANCE
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Risks (see pages 18 and 19)
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OUR PRIORITIES

We provide power transmission Growth Capabilities

components, engineenng and » Country organic growth > People development
other related industrial services » Key Accounts > Business skills development
and fuffil a pivotal role between > Insites > Distnbuted learning
customers and supphlers, adding > Product range extension programme development
value to both through services » Geographical development > Internal communications
of the highest quality. and invelvement

Our strategy has been clear Costs Synergies

and consistent over the past > Suppler rationalisation » Business best practice
seven years - and is focused > European buying > Systems integration

on the four key areas of growth, > IT and other cost reductions > Brand development
capabhilities, costs and > Capital employed > Supplher relationship
synergies. management management

Our number one priority 1s growth — achieved in five mamn
areas by using our wealth of expenence to focus on key
market segments and producing solutions for our customers
based on this experience, by providing solutions for Key
Account customers on both a national and a pan-European
basts, by developing the Insite concept with our larger
customers, by cross-selling, and through acquisition

Our capabiliies strategy aims to ensure that our pecple
are the best recruited, best trained, and most highly skilled

people in the industry

Our cost strategy ensures that we source product under
the most advantageous terms for cur customers, and that
our sales, distribution and administration costs are spent

as efficiently as possible

Our synergies strategy provides benefits by leveraging the
fact that we supply the same service and products to the
same type of customer in over 300 locations in 16 countrnes




OUR VALUE PROPOSITION

Customer requires

Brammer capability

Portfolio

Products

Business processes

Organisation

» Reduce total

» Brammer

> Product transformation/

» Transaction analysis

acquisition product adaption reporting
costs portfolio > Ongmnal Equipment » Consolidated invoicing
(“OE") parts conversion » Blanket orders
> Substitute parts > Electronic ordenng/ > Supplier reduction
Invoicing » Vendor managed
» Purchase cards nventory
» Self bilhng » Training
» Equipment surveys
» Improve > Brammer » Performance » Technical consuttancy » Insite Services
g;:_l’:"::\:;;" grot:':’fgﬁ; measurement » 24/7/365 service Energy survey/
L4 Y,
> Condition monitoning » Camponent kitting monitoring
= Technical support
PP > Delvery toline » Consignment stock
> Repars management
» Drive design
> Application advice
> Reduce > Brammer = Product and brand > Stock profiling
working product rationahsation
capital portfolio

» Standardisation

Qur extensive range of added value services are categonsed
under (i) the extensive portfohio of mechanical MRO products
that we have avallable - from beanngs to belts, from seals

to chain, from motors to gearboxes, (i) the way in which

we can modify and adapt these products to ensure that our

customers’ specific needs can be addressed, (i} the business
processes by which we can assist our customers improve
their internal efficiencies and (v} the organisation solutions
through which we can assist our customers manage more
effectively their mechanical MRO requirements

OUR REACH

AUSTRIA
BELGIUM

CZECH REPUBLIC
FRANCE
GERMANY
HUNGARY
ICELAND
IRELAND

ITALY
LUXEMBOURG
THE NETHERLANDS
NORWAY

POLAND
SLOVAKIA

SPAIN
UNITED KINGDOM




OUR RECORD

Figure one - Revenue

e
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Figure two — Profit before tax, before amortisation and exceptional items

2011 I 25 O

2010 £20 6m -+ 4 1 %
2009 IR £13 8m

Figure three — Earnings per share, before amortisation and exceptional items
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Figure four - Dvidend per share

2011 I G4
2010 I 66p —|—27%
2000 I 5 5p

Figure five — Total shareholder return over five years
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WE ARE THE EUROPEAN MARKET LEADER

The market opportunity for our products

£33 billion

With over 300 locations in 16 countries,
Brammer has the widest coverage avatable
to supply those customers who wish

to reduce their supplier base and purchase
our products on a pan-European basis
Most of our customers find that there 1s

a Brammer branch local to their operations
i most of our countries

Qur shara of the market

£572 million

We believe the market opportunity

for our chosen product range has a value
of £33 billlon We therefore have a less
than 2% market share of this extremely
fragmented market, but nevertheless are
the market leader Whilst we enjoy more
than a 10% share of the bearings market

in Eurcpe, sigrificantly more than any other
player, we have less than 2% share of

the market for power transmission products,
fluid power, and the tools and general
maintenance market, giving us a huge
opportunity to cross-sell as we estabhsh
the full product range in each country




OUR GROWTH DRIVERS

Market segmentation

Brammer's Market Segmentation inittative 1s proving its
worth i our challenging economic environment Devised
to promote growth in resilient sectors - away from any
susceptibilities to recessionary pressures — our approach
has established a library of industry intelhgence, which
now has its own momentum We're confident that prowviding
the best research to our sales personne! gives them

the competitive edge when presenting Brammer solutions
and services to therr customers

Jakob Alkil, Group growth and marketing director

Product range extension

The recent Buck & Hickman acquisttion takes us to a whole
new league in the Tools & General Maintenance business,
giving us an extensive, mature product catalogue to sell
across Europe, and more reach in the UK, putting us closer
to our customers This should be an excring year for
Brammer, cur supphers and our customers, as we all
concentrate our effort to prowde a superor service
Philppe Hervieux, Eurcpean managing director

Tools and General Maintenance

Insites

In additien to cost savings, Brammer Insites provide
numerous value-added services, like local inventory
optimisation, cost-saving projects specific to the indnidual
customer, or the reduction of carbon footprint and CO2
emissions Not least, an opportunity to work In close
cooperation with Brammer's specialists, to learn and benefit
from therr MRO and process expertise And of course,
reassurance that Brammer’s pan-European network can
maintan stocks at optimum levels

Piotr Kckoszka, European Insite development manager

Key Accounts

Cost savings remain the major focus amongst manufactunng
organisations The prionty 1s to find suppliers who meet
their needs whilst maintaining consistently high levels

of service — where Brammer's value proposition 1s particularly
compeling Inierestingly, the biggest opportunities for
efficiencies aren't the frequently replaced products like
consumables, but high-value components selected for
durabiiiy/longevity where fallure 1s difficult to predict and

the cost iImphcations of downtirme more serious

Ralf Hellwig, European Key Account director

CROSS-SELLING INTO
EXISTING MARKETS
IS A MAJOR GROWTH
OPPORTUNITY.

lan Fraser Chief executive

01| Brammer plc | Annual Report 2011




CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

Overall

2011 was a highly successful and significant year for
Brammer The group has produced substantially increased
sales and profits, acquired an exciting business in Buck

& Hickman, and secured new long term borrowing faciliies
on favourable terms | believe these achievements again
demonstrate the consistent application of our proven long
term strategy and the strength of our management team

Results for 2011

Total sales for the year were £571 5 million which was

an increase of 22% over the prior year Excluding a small
exchange rate benefit and a first trme contnbution from Buck
& Hickman of £26 5 millicn for the final three months of the
year, the organic sales growth at constant exchange rates was
15 6% Once agan Key Accounts were the principal growth
drver with twelve new accounts won in 2011 Sales growth
in Key Accounts was 23 3% Importantly, the piceline of new
prospects remans strong and there I1s constderable scope
for further penetration of existing accounts

Gross margins were 30 3% which was shghtly up on 2010
notwithstanding dilution of 0 3% from the lower margin Buck
& Hickman business Sales, distribution, and administrative
costs totalled £144 7 million including £6 O milhion from
Buck & Hickrnan On a like for hke basis (excluding Buck &
Hickman and exceptional items}) at constant exchange rates
this 1s 14 2% higher than last year Included in the total 1s

a charge of non-cash costs related to the anticipated vesting
of management share options awarded in 2009 under

the Performance Share Plan This amounted to £3 1 million
No such charges were made in the previous two years

as pnor year awards lapsed duning the recession and its
immediate aftermath
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The resulting operatng profit (pre amortisation of acguired
intangibles and exceptional tems) was up by 38 3% to

£31 8 million {2010 £23 0 million} representing a margin

of 5 6% on sales (2010 4 9%) On the same basis profit
before tax was £29 0 million, a 40 8% improvement on last
year's £20 6 millon Exceptional items totalled £3 2 milon
{2010 £nil) most of which related to the acquisition of Buck
& Hickman with the balance being accounted for by some
minor restructuring in Europe Earmings per share (pre
amortsation and excephonal tems) were 19 8p compared
to 13 9p in 2010, an increase of 42 4% There was no
diution of earnings associated with Buck & Hickman which
15 being mtegrated to plan

Balance sheet

Net debt at 31 December 2011 was £35 3 milion (2010
£36 7 million} The reduction in debt is after the payment

of deferred consideration for previous acquistions of £1 8
milion and a net cash outflow of £2 1 millien to part finance
the purchase of Buck & Hickman The bulk of the Buck

& Hickman censideration was covered by the proceeds

of a new 1ssue of ordinary shares which raised £24 8 million
net of costs

As indicated in our intenm review the group was pleased

to announce the completion in July of new banking facilities
providing up to €100 milion {£83 @ million} of debt finance
for a five year term

Buck & Hickman

Brammer acquired Buck & Hickman, a leading UK distributor
of industnal products, at the end of September 2011

Prior to the acquisition, Brammer already had a modest
sized tools and general maintenance product range which




had bean identified as an area of maor growih potential

In the group's strategic planning As a top five UK suppler
of tools and general maintenance products Buck & Hickman
gwves us the opportunity to accelerate these growth plans
significantly, and we were delighted to acquire the business

Buck & Hickman i1s now in the process of being integrated
into the Brammer business Considerable opportunites
for the combined business were identified pror to acquisiion
and these have been reinforced in the Immediate post
acquisition period We are leveraging Buck & Hickman's
expertise n tools and general maintenance into many
cross-selling initiatives with Brammer's custormer base
Qur European network 15 cpening up sales opportunities
for Buck & Hickman and a new European organisation
has been set up to focus on thuis major area of growth
The merging of expertise, purchasing, and distnbution
networks will also create future benefits for the group

and consequently our customer base We are grateful

to the management and employees of Buck & Hickman
for their enthusiasm and co-operation in bringing the two
businesses together

Dwidend

The intenm dividend for 2011 was increased by 28 6%

to 2 7p per share Given the growth in earnings the Board
15 Nnow proposing a 26 7% increase in the final dvidend to

5 7p per share Total dmdends for 2011 would then amount
to 8 4p per share which 1s a 27 3% increase over the prior
year At this level the total dmdend would be covered 2 4
times by earnings Subject to shareholder approval, the final
drvidend will be paid on 3 July 2012 to shareholders on the
register at close of business on 8 June 2012

Board

After more than ten years as Charrman of Brammer | have
decided not to stand for re-election at the annual general
meeting n May | am delighted to say that Bill Whiteley
has agreed, subject to re-election, to take over at that tme
Bill joned Brammer's Board as a non-executive director
in July 2008 and we are fortunate to be able to appoint
someone of his quality and expenence Duncan Magrath
wall join the Board as a non-executive director on 1 March
2012 We are delighted to welcome Duncan whose wide
international expenence will be invaluable to the group

It has been a pnvilege for me to serve as Charman and

I leave the group in excellent shape We have a sound and
proven strategy, a first class management team ably led
by lan Fraser and massive opportunities for future growth

Prospects

We have continued to execute successfully our proven
strategy to exploit Brammer's leadership position in the
fragmented, pan-European, €40 billon market that

we address The scale of this market offers multiple growth
opportunities as we invest in quality products, people,
systems, and marketing 2012 will be another economically
challenging year but early trading has started well and

we are denving addibonal benefits from Buck & Hickman
The Board 1s confident that Brammer will make further
significant progress during the course of the current year

WE HAVE A SOUND AND
PROVEN STRATEGY AND
MASSIVE OPPORTUNITIES
FOR FUTURE GROWTH.

Dawvid Dunn Chairman
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REVIEW

Overview

In 2011 we continued to invest in and benefit from our
growth strategy focused on Key Accounts, Product Range
Extension, Insites and segment based marketing, gwving nse,
once more, to growth significantly ahead of the market

Qur growth drivers have served us well over the past eight
years, and in 2011 our strategy remained unchanged
Although our growth rate deciined slightly towards the end
of the year due to increasingly challenging comparators,

we nevertheless exited 2011 with an organic growth rate

in December of 13 5%, measured in Sales Per Working Day
at a constant exchange rate (“SPWD"} We thus enter 2012
with good growth momentum

In 2011, we achieved an organic growth rate m SPWD of
15 9% We continued to invest In Initiatives to grow in more
defensive segments such as Food and Dnnk, Fast Moving
Consumer Goods (*FMCG"), and Utities Qur Key Account
development continued unabated, and it became clear
that our value and cost saving propositions are becoming
ever more important to both existing and potental Key
Account customers We increased our investment in our
Iinsite programme increasing the number of sites by a net
forty-eight Our Product Range Extension and cross-selling
INitiatives gave us good growth in product lines such as
Mechamical Power Transmussion, Flurd Power, and Tools
and General Maintenance products especially on the
continent where we are significantly under-represented

N these product hnes

DOING BUSINESS WITH BRAMMER
HAS BEEN INVALUABLE; IT GIVES

US REPORTING TRANSPARENCY FOR
MRO SO WE CAN EASILY MAKE
COMPARISONS FROM SITE TO SITE.

Andrew Power Rexarn Beverage Can Europe & Asia Ltd

Brammer won the Rexam 2011 Suppgher
Excellence award for Cost Saving Delivery
Commeniting on the award Rexam said
“The suppher who wins the award has
been in partnership with Rexam since
2009 Dunng that time this supplier has
helped Rexam dnve operational excellence
at the plants through ncreased spend
wvisibity and control The partnership
with this supplier has been invaluable

to Rexam's long term MRO strategy over
the last three years ”
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REVIEW

Finally, our scals, geographic coverage, and focus as

a technical specialist in a core range of products continues
to reinforce to our customers and potential customers
alike that we are a strong partner that adds real value

to ther business Our ability to provide a consistent
qualty of product and service across the entire Bearnngs,
Power Transmission, Flud Power, and Tools and General
Mantenance product range in Europe remains unparalleled

Operational review

Brammer 1s the leading European supplier of technical
components and related services to the MRO markets

In 2011, revenue increased by 22 0% to £571 5 millien {2010
£468 4 million), whilst operating profit before amortisation
and exceptional items increased by 38 3% to £31 8 milhon
(2010 £23 0 milon} Earnings per share {before amortisation
and exceptional tems) increased by 42 4% to 19 8p

per share (2010 13 9p per share) Cash generated from
operations before outflows relating to exceptional items
was £28 9 million (2010 £27 5 milion), reflecting continued
focus on working capital In a year of growth

Operating margin {belfore amortisatton and exceptional
items) ncreased from 4 8% to 5 6% Excluding Buck

& Hickman, our operating margin improved to 5 7%
Revenue per head was up 13% to £221,000 (2010
£195,000} reflecting continued iImprovement in productivity

UK (including Iceland)

Qur largest operation, and the one where the Brammer
development strategy 1s most advanced, achieved organic
SPWD growth of 16 8%, and increased operating profit
by 44 6% to £9 4 millon, including sales of £26 5 milion and
an cperating profit contnbution of £0 9 milion from Buck

& Hickman The growth rate accelerated throughout the year

Key Account sales grew by 22 4% in the year, and now
represent 63% of turnover Several new contracts were
won with customers such as EDF Energy, Tata Steel, BAE
Systems and many others Our value proposition continues
to be attractive to customers and we have further honed
our skills in delivening cost savings and adding value for
our customers In 2011 we recorded 3,682 indwvidual cost
savings for 1,325 customers, with a combined saving

of more than £20 million




THANKS TO BRAMMER’S COMPREHENSIVE
LIST OF OEM SUPPLIERS, OUR ENGINEERS
CAN REMAIN WITH THEIR PREFERRED
BRANDS, THEREFORE WORKING WITH
SPECIFIED PRODUCTS THEY KNOW

AND TRUST.

Graham Lewis TATA Steel




CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REVIEW

We opened 20 new full-time Insites and increased sales
through these Insites and part-tme Insites (those locations
where we have several regular clinics with the customer’s
staff each week) by 24 5% S extsting full-time Insites
closed giving a net increase of 14 We opened a new branch
n Fort Willam and plan to open more i the future Brammer
Iceland, established in Reylgavik n Decernber 2010, has
performed well, wath two significant Key Accounts won

and several other significant contract wins expected in the
current year in the Power Generation, Metals, and Food

and Dnnk sectors

Finally, our cross-seling iniatives continued to be successful
with sales growth of 19 3% in our Fluid Power range and
28 9% in our Tools and General Maintenance range

Germany

SPWD grew by 16 1%, with the growth rate declining

In quarter four (6 9%} due to tougher comparators and some
slowing in the Onginal Equipment Manufacturing (*OEM™)
segment of the market Operating profit improved by 44 4%
Our investment in Key Accounts paid off with an increase

in sales in this segment of 23 8%, representing 25 9%

of iotal sales We won new contracts with Kolbenschmudt
Pierburg, Stora Enso, AGC Glass, Deutsche Rockwoal,
Harsco and many others No contracts were lost

We accelerated the development of our value propositon
and provided €11 & million of savings to our Key Account
customers

Our continued investment In Fluid Power generated
healthy sales growth of 27 5%, whilst our new investment
In Tools and General Maintenance Products resulted

in growth of 69 3% We established 16 new Insites with
total Insite sales growing 38 0% Our focus on the market
segments of Food and Drink, Utities, and Construction
and Aggregates resulted in several new contract wins

and increased market share, 136 custorner events were
held across Germany addressing more than 1,600 MRO
specialists from those segments, raising the awareness
of Brammer as a solution prowider

France

SPWD increased by 14 2%, with an exit rate of 12 1%

in the fourth quarter Operating profit increased by 42 9%
Key Account sales increased 18 1% and, including the
Automotive segment, now represent 49% of turnover
We delivered a total of 612 signed off cost saving projects
to our customers, representing €4 8 milion of savings
New contracts were won with Exide, Georgia-Pacific,
Rackwooal, Albea, Bndgestone, Essilor and many others
We opened nine new Insites bnnging the total to 31,

with revenue growth of 16 0% The recently launched new
product initiative of Tools and General Maintenance and
Personal Protection Equipment produced sales growth

of 32 7% Fiuid Power also continued to grow, with sales
up 25 6%, and now represents 15 4% of total sales

We continued to focus our marketing activity on Food
and Drink and Utities, with 56 customer events attracting
1,450 existing and potential customers

Spain

SPWD increased by 12 3%, though the exit rate of 7 6%

in the fourth quarter was lower due to tougher comparators
and some slowdown in the OEM segment of our market
Operating profit increased by 17 8% Qur Key Account
revenues increased by 28 5% (representing 31 2% of sales},
and we won new contracts with Harsco, Johnson Controls,
Georga-Pacific, Pannco, Delphy and many others

We provided over €1 4 million of cost savings to our Key
Account customers Seven new Insites were established,
bnnging the total to 22, with Insite sales increasing by 46 3%
Our marketing focus was on Food and Dnnk (up 13 3%},
Automotive (up 16 4%), Metals {up 87%) and Chemicals

Figure six = External revenue by geography in constant currency terms

gg:a £190.5m +35%
2 £1155m +16%
2mt e 114%
£, EoT— mR +13%
oy e — W +10%
2011 £56 8m +21%
o Bl +12%
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{up 42%) Forty-three customer symposiums attracted 240
customers Good progress was made in Product Range
BExtension, with sales of the Tocls and General Maintenance
range up 33 2%, and Flud Power up 46 1%

Benelux

SPWD in the Benelux countnes grew by 12 8%, with an exit
rate of 15 5% n the fourth quarter, whilst operating profit
increased by 4 0% Key Account growth in Holland was
39 9% and in Belgwm 10 8% We won new contracts
with Rockwool, Bosch Transmission Technology, Monier,
Georgia-Pacific, Nexans, Toyota, Hanson and many others
In Holtand our recent emphasis on Mechanical Power
Transmission produced sales growth of 27 6% whilst

Flud Power grew by 28 0% Woe opened one new Insite

in Belgum, increasing sales through Insites by 22 7%,

and a new Insite in Holland with sates growth of 23 4%
Qur focus on Feod and Drink gave nise to 46% growth

in Holland, though sales grew by just 3% in Belgium due
to some significant one-off orders last year The Food and
Dnink segment now represents 11 5% of Benelux sales

Eastern Europe

In our Eastern European businesses {compnsing Poland,
Hungary, the Czech Republic and Slovakia), total SPWD
grew by 21 0%, whilst operating profit increased by 56 5%
In Poland, SPWD increased by 24 1% Key Accounts once
again grew significantly, by 42%, and new contracts were
won with Delphi, Exide and Rockwool In the Czech Republic
and Slovakia, SPWD increased by 12 9% Key Accounts
increased by 7 §%, manly due to one very large order
from an Automotive customer in 2010 Excluding this, Key
Account sales grew by 17 2% We also opened our first
two Insites dunng the year In Hungary, the SPWD growth
was 44 1%, and new contracts were won with Kraft Foad,
Dammler and Univer We opened our first Insite n Hungary
during the year

Other segments

In respect of the other segments, Austna, Ireland and ttaly,
SPWD grew by 13 2%, whilst operating profit remained
constant at £0 2 miltlon In Austna SPWD were up 19 5%,
in ltaly, SPWD were up 13 2% and in lreland SPWD were
up Just 0 3%

Strategy
Qur strategy remains unchanged under the headings
of Growth, Capabulities, Synerges and Costs

Growth

Qverall organic SPWD revenue growth was 15 9%,
significantly better than the overall market It 15 evident that
our strategles of attacking market segments with focused
marketing matenal and specialist sales people, growth
through Key Accounts, the development of Insites, and
growth through cross-selling and Product Range Extension
ara contributing to significant market share gains in most
tarrtones

We continued to focus on a market segmentation approach,
increasng our knowledge of customers’ processes and
selling to ther specific needs In particular

» Food and Dnink, a strong focus area for many of our
businesses and a key strategic segment for Brammer,
grew by £8 5 million or 14 7%, to £66 2 milhon

> Pulp and Paper grew by 6 5% overall to £22 7 milion

> Utiites grew by 14 7% to £18 9 millon

» Continued recovery in Automotive and market share
gans resulted in sales growth of 31 7% to £54 4 mullon

> Metals grew by 30 6% to £66 2 million

Figure seven = Operating profit by geography before amartisation and exceptional items in constant currency terms

2011 T £94m

£9 4m +45%

2om — —
11 7.6m
foig LT —— em +44%

2011 £4 0m

2010 e £2 o +43%
2011 £3 3m g
2011 T £2 8m +18%
bl Benetux | £2.6m

2010 S £ 5m +4%
2011 £3 6m e/
2010 N £2 3m +57%
2011 [ Cther £0 2m

2010 £0 2m
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REVIEW

Kay Account SPWD grew by 23 9%, close to our target

of 26%, and Key Accounts now represent 40 2% of total
sales Twelve new European contracts were won, each
wath a mintmum contract period of three years, and ultmate
potential annual revenues in excess of £60 0 milion

We continued to focus our business on more defensive
segments and increased our sales to the Food and Brink
segment by 17 5%, FMCG by 29 1%, and Chemical by

7 6% We also saw good recovery and market share gans
In the moere cyclical sectors of Automotive (uUp 36 5%),
Construction (up 13 5%), and Metals (up 35 7%) Qur value
proposition proved increasingly attractive to customers and
we provided 4,800 separate cost savings to our customers
worth over €41 8 million

We opened 64 new Insrtes, 31 full ttme and 33 part time,
with overall turnover growth of 27 0% to £93 6 milhon

16 Insites were closed due to customer factory closures
or reduced demand, gving rise to a net addition of 48
Insites n the year and a total of 270 Insites at the year end

Extending the product offering to reflect the full Brammer
range in every terntory continued and whilst beanng sales
grew by 11 8%, non beanng sales {(excluding Buck &
Hickman) rose 17 7%, suggesting significant market share
gains driven by growth of 28 7% in Tools and Maintenance
to £37 5 million and 24 0% growth in Flud Power to £91 4
mithon Qur cross-selling activities continued to be significant
In assisting base business growth

AMCOR MANUFACTURES FOR A BROAD
RANGE OF INDUSTRIAL APPLICATIONS,
SO WE ANTICIPATED HAVING PROBLEMS
SELECTING A PAN-EUROPEAN MRO
SUPPLIER - AND BRAMMER TICKS ALL

THE RIGHT BOXES.

Oliver Wilhelm Amcor
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REVIEW

Overall organic sales growth in 2011 at constant currency
was 15 6%, which reflects 23 9% SPWD growth in Key
Accounts [representing 40 4% of organic sales) and 11 1%
growth in the base business (59 6% of organic sales)
Base business growth in Fluid Power was 18 5%, Tools
and General Mantenance grew by 21 6%, and Fasteners
and Standard Parts by 16 1%

Acquisitions

We acquired Buck & Hickman on 30 September Trading

in the final quarter exceeded our expectations Trus business
has been a key suppler of Tocls and General Maintenance
products to UK industry for more than 180 years, and bnngs
us great experience and critical mass in a market which

we now believe to be arcund €25 billon Whilst there are
many synergies avalable in integrating Brammer UK and
Buck & Hickman, particularly in the areas of property costs,
product range and purchase pncing, we are particularly
excited by the opportunity to use the skillset avalable

to us in Buck & Hickman to cross-selt to existing customers
In continental Eurocpe

Capabilities

The focus of our people and organisational capability
continues to be on supporting our growth To that end,
our pan-European marketing team are continuing to deploy
our new Market Segmentation matenal across Europe,
combined with training on how to use the sector specific
matenal and a continuous audit of the branch network

We have also developed and launched a new sales trasming
programme considering best practice, our industry sector
approach and Brammer's value proposition

Our sales team i1s continuing to develop the Brammer Insite
Operations Manual, localised into Enghsh, French, German
and Spanish During 2011 we introduced an Insite training
programme designed to raise awareness of the prerequisite
methods and processes to identify, target and set up a new
Insite A European Insite Manager was apponted dunng
the year to manage the growth of Insite services across

all 16 countries




IN 2009, AFTER SEVERAL MONTHS OF
NEGOTIATION, WE SELECTED BRAMMER:
A DISTRIBUTOR THAT HITS THE SWEET
SPOT FOR QUALITY SERVICE AT A FAIR
PRICE - WHICH GOES WELL BEYOND JUST
DELIVERING SPARE PARTS.

Michel Chagneau SKF St Cyr

13 | Brammer ple | Annua! Report 2011




CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REVIEW

In order to increase the focus on our extended product
range and strengthen our cross seling inbatives, we have
recruted a number of European Product Managers who
are responsible for developing and growing our business
in Fluid Power, Power Transmussion and Tools and General
Mantenance products

We have developed a new website with e-commerce
functionality, aiming to increase customer conversions via

an enhanced user journey and easy to find call-to-action
opportunuties The new site features more interactive content
inciuding “Quick Tips wideo chips” and we will be adding
new clips and other content regularly throughout 2012

Our e-commerce soluticn 1s already live in Poland, Spain,
France and Netherdands, and will be launched in the
remaining countres durng 2012 and 2013

Huge opportunities exist from energy saving in manufactunng
or process-driven organisations, a conservative estimate
suggests that over €13 billion 1s wasted across Europe

by inefficient energy consumption in the production process
Qur key partner suppliers are very supportive and last

year we completed our research project with the German
Technical Fraunhofer Institute Using our research findings
and methodology, we have developed a Brammer Energy
Savings Proposttion identifying how we can help maximise
energy savings at our customers’ plants We have also
appointed Energy Saving Champions in each country

to deliver the best-practice approach to energy savings
and to create local acton plans to promote and deliver our
Energy Savings programme to customers

in February 2011 we conducted our most extensive ever
customer sausfaction survey, Involving 45-minute telephone
interviews with 250 customers across Europe, and an online
questionnaire sent to a random sample of 10,000 of our
100,000 customers This research gave us unprecedented
insight nto our custormers, helping us to appreciate their

Figure eight - Organic sales per working day growth
by geography in constant currency terms

2011 2010
UK 16.8% 80%
Germany 16 1% 13 6%
France 14 2% 111%
Span 123% 9 5%
Benelux 12.8% 10 7%
Eastern Europe 21.0% 17 6%
Other 13.2% 19 9%
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current and future needs in detail, and asstst us with our
strategic and operational planning

Dunng the year Brammer's Distributed Learning prograrnme
(“e-learning”) was updated with new product traming
modules and enhanced functionality to provide a better
learning expenence N nine languages This tramng 15 a

key element of Brammer's employee induction prograrmme,
and for cntical, custormer-facing roles we are achieving
100% take-up of the two major foundation programmes
Going forward, we will continue to work with our suppliers
to ensure our employees receive the best possible product
traning

From analysts of the 2011 internal employee survey, we have
developed regional and functional action plans to mantan
and enhance the excellent inks between our strategy and
our personnel

The Brammer European Council of employee representatives
meets annually in June This forum faciitates communication
between the Works Councils and Employee Forums

from each country In the group, ensunng that the concerns
and i1ssues raised by our people can be listened to and
responded to

Synergies

Qur work on developing systems to allow us to view and
manage all of our nventory across Europe and hence to
improve inventory efficiency continued to produce pleasing
results Cur Master Data Management (‘“MDM”) application
now contains over five milion part numbers and over
eight million technical features The increasing volume and
completeness of the data held iIn MDM has supported

a 5 3% increase in the volume of product traded nternally
using our Brammer Inline platform Brammer Inline now
provides visiility of stock across ten European countries,
and fully integrated electronic trading between Brammer




country businesses Qur focus has been on reducing order
processing times and costs, and this concept has been
progressively extended to all internal warehouses as well
as supplers’ stocks We have used MDM and Inline to form
the basis for our first pan-European webshop which has
already been rolled out in Spain, Poland and France, and
will be completed duning 2012 This capability will allow

us to ncrease our online presence and develop new revenue
streams in the online environment

The MOMASSE demand ferecasting and planning toal
continued to be Implemented successfully across Brammer,
alfowing each country to optimise stock levels and deliver
higher levels of stock avalability for a lower investment

In inventory Good progress was made in developing
pan-European mventory plans for certain product groups

Inventory turns were mantaned at S 0 (based on quarter
four sales) despite pressure for increased stockholding
ansing from the acquisition of Buck & Hickman business,
and the focus on product range extension and cross-selling
opporturnities

Costs

We continued to work on increasing our spend with a smaller

number of suppliers, and improving the level of marketing
support, prcing, and cooperation in the field received from
those supplers Organic gross margin ‘mproved by 0 5%
year on year to 30 6%

We continued to focus on efficient use of our Sales Distnbution

and Admuinistrative expense (SDA} SDA at constant currency
grew by 14 2% against a comparative sales growth of

15 6% As aresult we enoyed significant operating leverage,

despiie the fact that a large part of the additional SDA
nvestment was to drive additional growth in Key Accounts,
cross-selling and Insite development

The future

QOur European footprint and our specialisation in the field

of Beanngs, Mechanical Power Transmission, Fluid Power
and Tools and General Maintenance products, 1s a strong
platform upon which to achieve further gains in market share
in our fragmented market place We are now finding that
many of our customers are seeking to buy additional
products from us, or accelerate contract implementation,
to achieve the cost savings available to them as part of ther
contract wath Brammer — and we have significantly increased
the rate at which we are able to delwer those savings

We have now enjoyed 31 consecutive months of sequential
growth since the low point n June 2009 Qur Key Account
business remains strong, cross-selling nitiatives to both
Key Accounts and the base business are procesding

well and we expect to achieve healthy double digit growth
overall in 2012 Moreover, we will continue to lead the
consohdation of the European market in Beanngs,
Mechanical Power Transmission, Fluid Power, and Tools
and General Maintenance products As a result, we are
increasingly confident that our strategy will continue

to give us growth substantially greater than the market

OUR STRATEGY WILL

GIVE US GROWTH
SUBSTANTIALLY GREATER
THAN THE MARKET.

lan Fraser Chief executive
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Overview

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Internatronal Financial Reporting Standards {IFRS) as
adopted by the European Union (EU)

Revenue

Revenue increased by 22 0%, of which continental Europe
accounted for 11 5% of the increase and UK the remamning
10 5% Revenue in continental Europe increased by 16 5%
and in the UK by 34 6% At constant exchange rates,
revenue increased by 21 3% This equates to an increase
In organic sales per working day of 15 9%, with growth
of 15 2% in continental Europe and 16 8% In the UK

The contnibution to revenue from the acquisition of the
UK based Buck & Hickman business on 30 September
2011 was £26 5 milion

Gross profit
The gross profit for the year was £173 3 milion (2010 £141 1
mithon) Gross margins were mantained at around 30%

Operating profit

Operating profit (before amortisation and exceptional tems)
increased by £8 8 million to £31 8 milion in 2011 from

£23 ¢ million in 2010 Return on sales increased to 5 6%
{2010 4 9%)

Profit before tax

The profit before tax from continuing operations for the
year was £24 5 million {2010 £19 3 milllon) Profit before
tax, amortisation and exceptional items but afier finance
expense was £29 0 million (2010 £20 6 milon)

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share increased by 3 8p from 13 Op
tc 16 8p in 2011 Earnings per share, before amortisation
and exceptional items, increased by 42 4% from 13 9p

n 2010 to 19 8pin 2011

Return on operating capital employed

The return on operating capital employed, based on operating
profit before amortisation and exceptional items, was 32 3%
{2010 31 0%) for the total group, reflecting the effect of

the acquisition during the year Organic return on operating
capital employed increased from 31 0% to 38 1% principally
reflecting the mprovement in underlying operating profit
through ncreased trading Total return on operating captal

Figure nine -~ Trading dunng the year

employed, which is lower, reflects the short three month
post acquisition contribution to underlying operating profit
from Buck & Hickman

Goodwnll

Goodwall In the balance sheet stands at £88 5 milhon at the
end of the year (2010 £74 8 milion), a net increase of £14 7
milkon In 2011, goodwill Increased by £8 1 milion In respect
of the acquisition of the Buck & Hickman business, and

by £8 8 milion reflecting the accrual for earn-out payments
relating to prior years’ acquisitions, there was a £2 2 milion
decrease due to exchange movements on gocdwill hetd

in foreign currencies tmparment reviews have been
performed In accordance with IAS 36 and no impairment
has been identfied

Trading during the year

Profit from operations before exceptional items, amaortisation,
interest and tax ("underlying ocperating profit”) increased

by 38 3% 1o £31 8 million (2010 £23 0 milion), of which
£15 4 million was delivered in the first half and £16 4 million
in the second half (see figure nine below)

Both the first hatf and the second half enjoyed continued
growth compared to the prior year For the first half, revenue
increased by £45 2 milion and underlying operating profit by
£4 4 milion For the second half, organic revenue increased
by £31 4 millien resulting In an increase in underlying
operating profit of £3 5 millon, as shghtly lower growth rates
were expenenced against more challenging comparators

Exchange rates had a small favourable impact on the year's
results contributing less than 1 0% to the growth in both
revenue and underlying operating profit

Exceptional items

The group completed the acquisition of the Buck & Hickman
business on 30 September 2011 for a consideration

of £26 9 milhlon Acquisition costs of £0 5 milion incurred,
together with £0 8 million of branch co-location costs and
a £0 4 milklon charge for write-down of stock, being related
costs incurred up to 31 December 2011 in the first phases
of integrating the business with that of Brammaer UK,
have been recognised as exceptional costs in the income
statement In addiion a further charge of £1 5 million,

the majonty of which relates to restructunng actions taken
in the wider group as first steps 1N realising operational

Second half Second half
First half Organic Acquisthion Full year
£m fm £m £m
2011
Revenue 275.2 269.8 265 571.5
Undertying operating profit* 15.4 15.5 0.8 31.8
2010
Revenue 2300 2384 - 468 4
Underying operating profit * 110 120 - 230

*Bewng profit from operations before exceptional itemns,
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amortisation, interest and tax




bansfits from the acquisiion, has also been included in the
total pre-tax operating exceptional charge of £3 2 million
There were no exceptional items in 2010

Interest

The net interest charge for the year was £2 8 millon (2010
£2 4 millron) which included a discount unwind charge

on deferred consideration of £0 1 mulhion {2010 £0 2 mithon)
Excluding the discount unwind charge the effective interest
rate on average net borrowings was 4 5% (2010 4 3%),
reflecting the higher margins payable on the new primary
faciity from July 2011 EBITDA before exceptional items
covers interest by 11 3 times (2010 10 1 tmes)

Tax

The overall tax charge for the year of £6 2 milron {2010

£5 5 million) consisted of the current year charge Current
year tax represents an effective tax rate of 25 4% which

1s lower than the expected rate of 26 5% pnmanly as a result
of a credit ansing from a release of tax contingent habiities
of £0 8 milhon, offset by adjustments arising from the
differences in tax rates across Europe of £0 1 mullion,
further recogrition of tax losses in the year of £0 3 million
and other permanent differences of £0 1 million

Cash flow

Net debt decreased by £1 4 milion from £36 7 mulion

to £35 3 milion At the year end, net debt/EBITDA stood
at101tmes {2010 14 1 times)

Net cash inflow from operating actwvities of £28 2 million
increased by £2 1 million from £26 1 mithon in 2010, which
15 after £0 7 millon outflow (2010 £1 4 millon) associated
with exceptional items in the current year and provision
utihisaton in 2011 of exceptional items from pricr years
This inflow enabled the payment of £1 8 million of deferred

Figure ten — Cash flow

consideration, £4 1 millon taxation payments, and £13 6
milhon for dnadends, interest and pension obligations
Net capital expenditure increased substantially from

£3 3 milion to £5 8 milion due to increased investment
in software development

Average net borrowings in 2011 were £54 5 milkon compared
to £52 8 milion in 2010, onty shghtly above last year
because the acquisition of Buck & Hickman for £26 9 million
was largely funded through a share placing, generating net
proceeds of £24 8 milton

Pensions

The net pension [tability relating to the defined benefit
pension schemes increased by £1 0 milion to £16 8 milion
(2010 £15 8 mithon} The principal factors contnbuting

to this increase were a £3 9 millon actuanal loss on scheme
assets offset by £3 4 millien of employer contnbutions

The main financial assumptions used were a discount rate
of 4 8% (2010 5 5%), a 3 0% (2010 3 6%) rate of increase
for pensions In payment and a 2 4% (2010 3 1%) rate of
increase for pensions in deferment The main demographic
assumptions used are broadly unchanged The charge
recogrised in the income statement decreased by £0 5
million to £0 1 million (2030 £0 6 millon} reflecting an
increase In the expected return on scheme assets following
the significant iIncrease In scheme assets in the prior year

Financing and covenants

In July 2011 the company entered into a five year revolving
multicurrency credrt finance faciity which provided for
borrowings of €100 0 milion, replacing the previous facility
which was due to expire In February 2012 This facility
can be drawn until it expires on 30 June 2016 In addition
to the revolving credit facility, the company also has £21 5

2011 2010

£m £m

Cash inflow from operating actvities 28.2 261
Cash inflow from operating activities before exceptional iterns 28.9 275
Cash outfiow from exceptional iterms {0.7) {14)
Cast inflow from operating actvities 28.2 261
Net capital expenditure {purchases net of disposals) {58) {33}
Operational cash generation 224 228
Acquisitions (iIncluding net debt acquired) (26 9) -
Defared consideration and earn out {18) {7 9)
Tax 41) 27
Interest, dvidends, pension obligations and other (13.6) (108)
Net proceeds from placing 248 -
Purchase of own shares (0 1) -
Net proceeds from 15sue of shares 01 01
Decrease in net debt 0.8 15
{Opening net debt {36.7) (399
Exchange 0.6 17
Closing net debt* (35 3) (36 7)

“Fotal borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

milion of other available financing faciities Tha amount
of finance avalable under this revohng credit facility as
at 31 December 2011 was €100 0 millon (£83 9 milkon)

The new revolving credit facdity requires, among other
matters, comphance waith three financtal covenant ratios
These requirements are {1) consolidated total net borrowings
shall not exceed 3 0 times consohdated EBITDA, (2)
conschidated net worth shall be not less than £50 0 miflion,
{3) the ratio of consolidated EBITDA to consolidated net
interest payable shall not be less than 4 5 1, in additon,

the guarantor subsidianes must account for more than 75%
of the group’s total gross assets, turnover and pre-tax profit
EBITDA 1s 2 measure of hquidity and 15 defined in the finance
facihty The company has not breached these covenants
throughout the penod to 31 December 2011, and current
forecasts indicate significant headroom for all covenants

n the next twetve months

As at 31 December 2011 the company had £46 4 milion
of borrowings drawn under the revolving credit facility

On 2 September 2011 the group announced a placing

of 10,535,000 new ordinary shares at 240p per share with
nstitutonal investors, representing approximately 9 9%
of the total 1ssued share capital Demand for the placing
exceeded the offering by a factor of two The proceeds
of this placing were used to fund the purchase of the
Buck & Hickman business which was completed on

30 September 2011

Denvative instruments and risk management

The company has imited dealings in denvative instruments
Derwvatives used in hedging actmties are considered nsk
management tools and are not used for trading purposes
The company uses denvative nstruments to manage
exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates
The company does not enter into speculative currency
transactions

The company uses foresign currency forward exchange
contracts to minmise currency exposure from expected
future cash flows These contracts have not been
designated as hedging instruments

Group comparues account in local currency and mostly
trade within their domestic market in therr local currency
Investments in overseas compantes are hedged with debt
in the same currency thus minimising exchange nsk

on investments

The group 1s not subject 10 matenal exposure from fixed
pnce contracts and has a track record of maintaining gross
margm irespective of sales volumes thereby successfully
pushing back market pricing pressure to its supplers

Princtpal risks and uncertainties

The management of the business and the execution of the
strategy are subject to a number of nsks and uncertainties
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Operational nsks are assessed by Brammer subsidianes
These are reviewed with appropnate mitigation considered
by Brammer management The Board reviews these
assessments on a regular basis

A formal group-wide review of strategic nsks 1s performed
by the Board Appropnate processes and controls are also
put in place to monitor and mitigate these risks

The principal nsks affecting the group are as follows

Slowdown of industnal activity

The group's actvities are almost entirety within the UK and
the Euro-zone which are geographical markets currentty
subject to economic uncertainty A continued detencration
n current economic condtions may lead to a dechne

In demand within the industnal base of these markets with
an associated decline i dernand in the mamntenance and
orignal equipment markets which Brammer supplies The
group has a well spread market and geographic presence
and has concentrated growth activities in defensive sectors
such as food and dnnk, utlities and fast mowving consumer
goods The group has also focused growth activibes

in larger Key Account customers who have a wider global
presence and are therefore hikely to prove more resilient
dunng any economic downturns in Europe and surrounding
areas Econormic conditions vary throughout the Euro-zone
and accordingly a slowdown wili have a different level of
impact on each country The sales and purchasing activity
for each business unit 1s largely confined to its own
geographical area which means each business can react
to vanations n demand without encountering 1ssues
associated with cross border sales and purchase
management Also, in the extreme case of a breakup

of the Euro, currency 1ssues would be minimised because
purchases and sales would be largely in the same currency
The group has also demenstrated the capability to reduce
costs and to align the cost base in response to market
conditions

Withdrawal of a major suppher

Brammer 1s dependent on its key suppliers which it
represents in a mutti-brand environment to Brarmmmer's
existing customer base The relationship with strategic
suppliers 1s mutually dependant and enhanced by our
partnership approach to Key Accounts Brammer

15 continuing to secure additronal support for its efforts
to increase market share and 1s confident any withdrawal
could be sourced from another supplier

Loss of major customers

A core part of the growth strategy for the group is a focus
on winning and mantaining those significant customers

it views as Key Accounts The loss of significant numbers
of Key Accounts would have an adverse effect on turnover
growth and an impact on other strategic focus areas

of cross-selling opportunities and Insite development

As a distnbutor in a fragmented market Brammer denves
great benefits frorm its first class reputation as an industry




leader in its service offening to Key Accounts, which could
be potentially damaged with sigreficant loss of major
customers However, Brammer does not have dependency
on any single customer Key Account customers are
carefully moritored by the senior management team, who
also document the acknowledged cost savings achieved
Further growth in Key Accounts in the current year suggests
the template offering 1s proving attractive to a profit
conscious customer base

Customers relocating to lower cost countries
Brammer continues Its strategy to grow Its business
successfully by expanding in a fragmented market
Brammer's Eastern European operations all reported
growth throughout 2011 We will continue to review
suitable opportunities in this region as they anse

Loss of infrastructure/systems

As with most large organisations that depend on Information
Technology (fT) for their day-to-day operations, there

are disaster recovery plans in place for the major countries
where Brammer operates In these terntones, there are
overnight back up systems in place which can be expected
to mitigate the worst effects of such disruption Integration
teams continually work to develop group-wide solutions

o business cntical processes which provide improved
resiience aganst falure In the event that 1ssues occur

n our operations For Brammer, a quoted company which
1S a distributor of product, these key processes are i the
area of stock and order management, sales and delivery
management and transactional record keeping, including
financial bocks and records

Adverse euro exchange rates

Brammer reports its results in sterling however the group
trades significantly in euros The current econemic conditions
create uncertainty over the exchange rate between sterling
and the euro Whist there 1s a natural hedge between
buying and selling for the majonty of our business the
ultmate profitabiity I1s expressed at the year's average
exchange rate

Financial and capital nsks

The inherent interest rate nsks associated with the group's
net debt are discussed in the financial nsk management
section of the annual report Following the successful nghts
1ssus in 2009 the group reduced its leve! of external debt

Paul Thwaite Finance director
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Because the acquisition of Buck & Hickman was {inanced
pnmarnty through a share placing, the level of net debt has
not increased matenally With the renegotated facility now

in place unbl 2016, Brammer has sufficient avalable resources
to meet its foreseeable requirements The group has no
fixed rate borrowings of greater than six months nor does

it have any fixed rate interest rate swaps

The closed defined benefit scheme in the UK continues to
be subject to varous financial nsks, principally based around
the value of the current deficit in the scheme The company
may be required to make exceptionat addibonal contrbutions
outside the scope of s current funding plan by The Penstons
Regulator Dunng 2010 the group agreed a deficit funding
plan with the trustees of the scheme which prowvides far

the group to make annual payments of £2 8 million, indexed
for inflation, in the years 2011 to 2023 inclusive

Expected benefits from acquisititons may not be realised
Part of the Brammer strategy 1s growth through selectve
acquisitens Acgussitons mvolve a nurmnber of nsks related
to the performance of the acquired business and challenges
ansing from integration With the significant acquisttion

of Buck & Hickman in the year these nsks and potential
challenges are clearly present in the current year Potential
acquisitions are carefully researched prior to any purchase
and closely monitored by Brammer’s management
subsequent to acquisiton Brammer has a track record

of successfully iIntegrating acquired businesses with

an established integration plan and an expenenced
management team

Loss of key employees

The group regularly reviews its succession plan arrangements
to ensure that key managers are recognised and developed
The group remains committed to a number of Incentive
schemes linked to the group’s results, which have been
designed to retain key managers Indusiry benchmarking
and the use of external assessments and adwvisors form

part of the recruitment process for key managers to ensure
high calibre recruits to key roles

The board's nominatons commitiee raviews the structure,
size, dwversity and composition of the board and adwises

on succession planning matters This committee also retains
external search and selection consultants as appropnate




DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

David Dunn*<

Non-executive chairman

Joined the Brammer board in Novermnber 2001 as charman
and 1s alse charrman of the nominations committee and

a member of the remuneration committee He stepped
down as a member of the audit committee during the year
He s a chartered accountant and in 2002 retred as charrman
of Scapa Group plc, where he had also served since

1987 as finance director and chief executve He has held
non-executive director positions on a number of UK listed
company boards in recent years Dawvid Dunn 1s now subject
to annual election and has decided not to offer himself

for re-election at the 2012 AGM Accordingly, Dawd Dunn
will be stepping down following the AGM

lan Fraser®

Chief executive

Appointed to the board in 1998 He has an Oxford MA and
a Harvard MBA He held appointments in sales, marketing
and finance with Exxon Corporation both in the UK and
USA At Raychem Corporation he held senior roles in sales,
marketing, manufactunng and general management

He became managing director of Rellance Secunty Services
Ltd in 1991 and was appointed therr group managing
director in 1993 He became a non-executive director

of Acal plc with effect from 1 January 2010
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Tarry Garthwaite ¥ *<

Seror independent non-executive director

Appointed to the board in June 2004 He 1s charman

of the audit committee On quabfying as a chartered
accountant he worked for Price Waterhouse in London

He held a number of senior finance positions within Foseco
plc ncluding director of corporate finance, pnor to spending
eleven years as group finance director at Senior plc

He i1s a non-executive drector of Rerushaw plc and
Wilmington Group plc

Paul Thwaite

Finance director

Jained Brammer in February 2002 and apponted to the
board in May 2002 After graduating with a degree In
Biochemistry, he took an MBA at the Manchester Business
Scheol and then gualified as an accountant He worked
for ICl and BBA 1n a vanety of international posts before
Jjoning Siebe where he held a number of positions including
managing director of Eliwell and group controller After the
merger between Siebe and BTR, he became chief finance
officer of Invensys Controls Division based i USA

Dawid Dunn
lan Fraser

Terry Garthwarte !
Paul Thwaite




Bill Whiteley * <

Independent non-executive director

Appomted to the board in July 2008 having retired as
chief executive of Rotork plc He 1s chairman of Hill and
Srmith Holdings ple, and also Spirax Sarco Engineenng ple
and I1s a non-executive director of Renishaw plc He took
over as charrman of the remuneration committee with effect
from 1 March 2010 following Paul Forman's depariure
Due to the pending retirement of Dawid Dunn, Bill Whiteley
will take over as charman of the company following the
2012 AGM

Charles lrving-Swift ¥%4%

independent non-executive director

Appointed to the board in March 2010 He joined Armstrong
World Industries Inc in July 2010 as chief executive of
European Floonng operations He has previously held senior
positions in TT Electronics plc, Dana Corporation and

T&N plc and has had a long association with the automotive
manufacturing industnes on a world-wide basis He has
also previously served as a non-executive director of Victrex
plc and was charrman of therr audit commiitee
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Duncan Magrath

Independent non-executive director

Appomnted te the board in February 2012 with effect from
March 2012 He joined Balfour Beatty plc in 2006 where
he now holds the position of Chief Financial Officer, having
previously been Deputy Finance Director Duncan qualified
as a chartered accountant with Pnice Waterhouse He then
subsequently joined Exel plc where he held numerous
posittons dunng his 13 year tenure, culminating in his
appointment as Director of Investor Relations and Financial
Strategy Duncan has a wide range of financial and corporate
expenence and also holds an Engineenng degree from
Cambridge University

Chrnis Short

Company secretary

Appointed group company secretary In January 2005
Qualfied in 1985 as a chartered accountant with KPMG

%* Remuneration committee
* Audit committee
< Nominations cornmittee

Bul Whitetey
Charles Irnving-Swift

Dunecan Magrath
Chrs Short




THE EXECUTIVE TEAM

The Brammer exacutive team 13 subdvided into three elements

» the corporate team s responstble for the operational
leadership of the group,

> the team of country managing directors I1s responsible for
the management of the country based bustnesses, and

> the team of functional directors 1s responsible for the
leadership of specific group-wide functions
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CORPORATE TEAM

lan Fraser

Chief executive

Paul Thwarte

Finance director

Chnis Short

Corporate development director
John Veale

Consultant
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CQUNTRY MANAGING DIRECTQRS

lan Ritchue

UK

Julien Monteiro

France

Enc Dykstra

Netherlands

Jochen Diehm

Germany

Neil Rogers

Regional managing director

FUNCTIONAL DIRECTORS RIGHT

Nigel Trend

Business integration

Ralf Hellwig

Key Accounts

Carl Fnedrnch Wayand
Purchasing

Jakob Alki

Group growth

Phulippe Hervieux
European managing director
Tools and General Maintenance

LEFT
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Brammer plc
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Manchester M23 SNE

Registered in England and Wales
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Bankers

HSBC Bank plc

8 Canada Square
London Et14 SHG
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Manchester M2 1YB

KBC Bank NV
111 Old Broad Street
London EC2N 1BR

Registrars

Equinit

Aspect House

Spencer Road

Lancing

West Sussex BN99 6DA

Independent auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants &
Statutory Auditors

101 Barbiroli Square

Lower Mosley Street
Manchester M2 3PW

Financial advisers
Investec Bank plc
2 Gresham Straet
London EC2V 7QP

Stockbrokers
Investec Bank plc

2 Gresham Street
London EC2V 7QP

Peel Hunt Ltd
Moor House

120 London Wall
London EC2Y 5ET

24 | Brammer plc | Annual Report 2011

Austria

Brammer Osterreich Industne
Senice GmbH

+49 721 7806 503

Belgium
Brarmmmer NV*
Rudi Ramaekers +32 3821 0414

Czech Republic
Brammer Czech as*
Ladislav Bunan +420 277 003 465

France
Brammer France SAS
Jullen Monterro +33 3 88 40 40 88

Germany
Brammer GmbH
Jochen Dighm +49 721 7906 503

Hungary
Brammer Magyarorszag Kft
Tarnas Lantos +36 53 500 040

Iceland
Brammer Island ehf
Mick Wallwork +354 470 7961

Ireland
Brammer Ireland Ltd
Chns Davies +353 1 830 5455

Raly
Brammer ltaha Srl*
Mauro Andreani +39 73 57 61 760

Luxembourg
Brammer SA*
Rud Ramaekers +32 3821 0414

The Netherlands
Brammer Nederland BV*
Nico Schon +31 23 5 164164

Norway
Brammer Norge AS
Mick Wallwork +354 470 7961

Poland

FIN SA

t/a FIN Brammer (519%)*

Stamislaw Nowak +48 17 227 0000

Masterpol Sp zoo
Marek Czernik +48 61 868 5911

Slovakia
Brammer Slovakia sro
Ladislav Bunan +420 277 003 465

Spain

Brammer lbena, SA
Jesus Martinez Planas
+34 94 457 84 00

United Kingdom
Brammer UK Limited
lan Ritchie +44 {0)161 853 8600

*Shares owned directly by Brammer plc

All companies hsted above are
incorporated in the country under
which they are listed Except as
shown above, all companies are
owned through intermediate holding
companies, prnncpally Brammer
Industrial Services Limited Further
subsidianes have not been shown
because they are dormant or not
matena!l Their particulars wil be
Included in the next annual return

All companies are accounted for
as wholly owned subsidianes as
the group has effective ownership
of those companies




DIRECTORS' REPORT

The directors present therr audited consolidated annual report for the year ended 31 December 2011

Principal activities of the group
Brammer plc 1s the holding company for, and also prowides management services to, the group Its principal operating subsidianes, all
of which are wholly owned except where stated, are shown on page 24 together with detals of ther locations

As at 31 December 2011, the pnincipal actmty of the group (including that of its principal operating subsidianes as shown on page 24)
1s the prowvision of value added business to business senvices, through being a leading pan-European added value distnbutor of industnal
mantenance, repar and overhaul preducts and related inventory management, procurement and logistics senaces

Financial results and dividend

The charrman’s statement, the chief executive’s review and the financial review all report on the group's actvities during the year and
Itkely future developments The principal risks and uncertainties affecting the business are set out In the financial review The financial
kay performance mdicators of the business, which are considered to be sales per working day, revenue per head, gross margin, return
on sales, return on operating capital ermployed, earnings per share and interest cover, are reviewed in the chief executive’s review and
the financial review Non-financial key performance indicators affecting the business, such as employee and environmental performance
indicators, are set out In the employee and corporate social responsibility section of the directors’ report

The directors recommend a final dvidend of § 7p per ordinary share for the year ended 31 December 2011 {2010 4 5p), which,
together wath the interm dmidend of 2 7p {2010 2 Op per ordinary share, brings the total dvidend paid and propased to 8 4p (2010
€ 6p) per ordinary share for the year Subject to the approval of shareholders at the annual general meeting, the final dvidend will be
pard on 3 July 2012 to all shareholders on the register at close of business on 8 Jung 2012

Directors
Detalls of each of the directors who served throughout the year and up to the date of signing the financial statements are shown on
pages 20 and 21 Al directors are subject to retirement by rotation under the company's articles of association

The directors retinng by rotation are Bill Whiteley and Bawvid Dunn Being eligible, Bill Whiteley offers himself for re-election Dawid Dunn
15 now subject to annual election as he has served as a director for more than 8 years David Dunn does not wish to offer himself for
re-election and 1s stepping down from all of his duties with the company following the AGM

Each non-executive director 1s appointed for fixed terms of three years David Dunn was initially appointed in November 2001, Terry
Garthwarte was initally appomted in June 2004, Bill Whiteley was appointed in July 2008, and Charles Inang-Swift was appotnted in
March 2010

In Fekruary 2012, Duncan Magrath was appointed as a non-executive director with effect from 1 March 2012 Duncan Magrath retires
as he was appointad after the last annual general meeting and offers himself for election Subject to this appointment by the sharsholders
at the next annual general meeting in 2012, hus appoitment 1s for three years from 1 March 2012

Detalls of directors’ attendance at board and committee meetings and a statement on board evaluation is set cut In the corporate
governance report

Further details of the directors’ service contracts are set out In the remuneration report

Directors' and officers’ hability insurance and indemnities

The company purchases liability insurance cover for directors and officers of the company and tts substdianes which gives appropnate
cover for any legal action brought against them A review of this cover last took place in December 2008 The company has also provided
an indemmity for its directors to the extent permitied by the law in respect of liabiliies incurred as a result of therr office The indemmity
would not provide any coverage to the extent that a director 1s proved to have acted fraudulently or dishonestly Prospectus Liability
coverage was put in place for directors and officers of the company at the tme of the 2009 nghts issue Cover 1s in force untl October
2015 The directors also have the benefit of the Indemnity provision contained in the company's articles of association which i1s a qualfying
indamnity provision within the meaning of the Companies (Audit, Investigations and Community Enterpnse} Act 2004 This indemnity
proviston was n force dunng the year and at the date of approval of these financial statements

Directors’ interests
The beneficial iInterests of the directors and therr immediate families in the shares of the company are set out in the remuneration report

Substantiat shareholdings
As at 14 February 2012, the company had notification that the following were interested in 3% or more of the company’s issued share
capital

BlackRock 11 23% Legal & General Investment Managerment 711%
AXA Investment Managers 1061% Fidelity Investments 4 44%
JP Morgan Asset Management 794% Old Mutual Asset Managers 371%
Maedie Asset Management 7 75%
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Charrtable and pohtical donations in the United Kingdom
No chantable donations were made dunng the year (2010 £ni} No pohtical donations were made (2010 £nil)

Payment to suppliers
The company's policy 15 normally to pay suppliers according to agreed terms of business These terms are agreed wath suppliers upon
entenng into contracts and the company’s policy 15 to adhere to the payment terms provtding the supplier meets its obligations

Purchase of own shares

Dunng the year the company purchased 27,558 of its own ordinary shares of 20p each, representing 0 02% of the 1ssued ordinary
share capital of the company as at 31 December 201 1, through the Brammer plc Employee Share Ownership Trust (“the Trust”™) for an
aggregate consideration of £75,316

The Trust currently holds a total of 208,121 shares (2010 277,634 shares) in the company in order to meet part of the company's
liabibties under the Brammer plc Performance Share Plan and Share Matching Plan The Trust deed contains a dmdend waner provision
in respect of these shares Any voting or other similar decisions relating to those shares would be taken by the Trustees, who may take
account of any recommendations of the company

The 1ssued share capital of the company 1s shown In note 19 to the financial statements on page 73 and consists of ordinary shares
of 20p each All of the 1ssued ordinary shares rank pan passu

In addition to the nghts conterred by law, the nghts and cbligations attaching to the company's ordinary shares are set out in the company's
articles of associatron, a copy of which can be obtaned by wnting to the company secretary At the last annual general meeting of the
company, held on 17 May 2011, the company was authonsed by shareholders (AGM) to purchase in the market up to 10,628,558
ordinary shares of 20p each, representing 10% of the 1ssued ordinary share capital of the company as at 1 April 2011 Although this
authonty was not utiised by the company durning the last financial year, approval will be sought from shareholders at the forthcoming
AGM to renew this standard authonty for a further year It 1s the company's intention that, should any ordinary shares be bought back,
they will be cancelled or retained in treasury pending a subsequent sale, cancellation or transfer The company does not currently hold
any shares in freasury The ccmpany will only purchase its own shares if the board believes that to do so would be in shareholders’
best interests and will Increase earnings per share

Internim report

Current regulations permit the company not to send copies of its intenm results to shareholders Accordingly the 2011 intenm results
published on 5 August 2011 were not sent to shareholders Furthermore the 2012 intenm results and subsequent intenm results will
nct be sent to shareholders The intenm results and other information about Brammer are avalable on the company's website at
www brammer biz

Electronic and website communication with shareholders
The company's articles of association permit electronic and website communication wath shareholders following the enactment of the
Companies Act 2006

The company has implemented electronic and website communication with its shareholders Shareholders who consented to website
communication will be notified in wnting when documents and communications have been published by the company so that they
can view them on the company’s website |t 15 intended that the Annual Report 2011 will be subject to the electronic and website
communication regme

Financial nsk management
The group’s financial nsk management objectives and policies and exposure to market nsk, (foreign exchange nsk and hedging actvities
together with cash flow and interest rate nsk) credit nsk and hquidity nsk are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements on page 59

Employees
The group values the commitment of its employees and recegnises the importance of good working relationships and communication

The group 18 committed to open and regular communications with employees about business developments and issues of general
interest and concern to them, both on a formal and informal basis The performance of the group 18 communicated regularly to all
staff Copies of the annual report together with details of preliminary and intenm announcements of the group's results are available to
them Translations of the executive statements are available to all the group's employees

A formal human resources policy framework continues to be followed throughout the group The framework includes a process of appraisal
and development to ensure companies get the best from their people, emphasis has been placed on career pathways with ndmidual
training and development programmes Motivational events are organised dunng the year The group operates internationally and
therefore its employment practices are vaned 1o meet local conditions and requirements These are established on the basis of the
best practice for each indmdual country New and existing staff at all levels are trained to become familiar wath products, markets, systems,
service standards and management skills in order to better satisfy customer needs and to enhance their own career prospecis
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The Brammer European Council was established over 10 years ago with each company In the group selecting a representatve  The
council meets once in each year The purpose of the Brammer European Counci 1s to encourage freedom of association amongst
Brammer staff representatives from its operations in Europe

Both employment policy and practice in the group are based on non-discrimination and equal opporturities The company remans
supportive of the employment and advancement of disabled people Applications for employment by disabled persons are always fully
considered, bearing in mind the respective aptitudes and abilites of the applicants concerned In the event that members of staff become
disabled, every effort 1s made to ensure that their employment with the company continues and the apprepriate training 1s arranged

The group will be carrying out the eighth Brammer Employee survey (which 1s conducted electronically) n sarly 2012
In addition to the resutts of the Brammer Employee survey, the group regularty moneors sales per employee and training costs per employee
to assess the efficiency of its employees through traning in order to ensure the quality of its overall service delivery

Employee Performance Indicators

2011 2010
£000 £000
Sales per employee 221.00 19500
Training costs per employee 0.20 011

Corporate social responsibility

The environment

Brammer recognises that it 15 part of a wider community of employees, shareholders, customers, suppliers and other stakeholders
and recogruses that group companies have a responsibibty 1¢ act in a way that respects the environment

It1s the policy of Brammer, 50 far as 1s reasonably practical, to protect and conserve the local and wider environment from any adverse
mpacts caused by operations It is the policy of Brammer across all its operations to

> meet all relevant legislative requirements on environment 1ssues,

> seek to conserve energy and natural resources by minimising waste, recycling where possible and maximising the use of renewable
resources,

» consider the life cycle envircnmental effects of nvestment in premises and equipment, and
> ensure all contractors follow our practices while working on site and respond promptly and efficiently to adverse occurrences

The group’s aim 1s 1o encourage more recycling and reduce energy costs The UK 1s leading the way in this regard The group has
extended this policy to other countnes Group Initiatives include the following

Working environment
The group continues with the transition to flat screen computer monitors with employses encouraged to leave all computers on standby
mode If they are away from the computer

At weekends, all servers, faxes and printers are shut down and all computers are turned off Better control of temperature and regulation
of the hours of use of ol at National Distnbution Centres {*NDCs") to reduce consumption now takes place The promotion of electronic
mail and telephone rather than post 1s encouraged

Energy saving lamps are used wherever possible and steps are taken to ensure that all ights are turned off when they are not in use

Environmental performance indicators

The group, which does not have manufactunng actvities, takes its environmental responsibilites very sencusly The man impact on the
environment is the group’s logistics  The group therefore monitors carefully its packaging and distribution costs from both an efficiency
and environmental point of view The following key performance indicators are applcable

2011 2010
Packaging costs as % of costs of goods sold 0.23% 023%
Distnbuiion costs as a % of sales {representing delivery costs to customer) 1.07% 117%

Transport
Delvenes are in the main carned out overnight so that vehicles do not get held up in traffic, thus reducing therr emissions Vehicles with
diesel particle filters are preferred and cars with low fuel consumption (fleet scheme) are utlised

Employees are encouraged to optimise thesr use of car pooling, use of public transport and limit the amount of ar fights Dnvers are
asked to conserve their speed as this 1s more energy efficient
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Recychng and waste reduction
Recycling 1s implemented where possible In relation to paper, glass and residual waste Recyclng s encouraged within NDCs by
reusing old packaging

Electronic purchasing 1s utitsed to minmise paper usage Printing 1s carned out through central printers n order to reduce paper
cansumption A number of projects have been implemented to reutilise boxes for all iInternal transport and to improve the recycling
rates at both NDCs and branches

Supplers are asked to use reusable pallets rather than disposable ones  The use of more environmentally fnendly packaging 1s encouraged
as well as packaging more products in the same pack, where possible, in order to save matenal Employses are encouraged to separate
waste

Accreditation and conformarice with European legislation
Brammer 1s working to ensure that all our businesses across the group achieve an envircnmental accreditation such as ISO 14001 —
2004 Brammer 1s committed to reducing its carbon footpnnt through reducing energy consumption and proactive waste management

Specific country inttratives are as follows

In the UK, the NDC employees continue to receive environmental training and awareness, which along with other ervironmental
Improvernents has brought a 45 2% reduction in the amount of waste sent to landfill since 2007, alse a 28 52% increase in the velumes
of cardboard and 800 85% paper sent for re-cycling since 2007 Waste sent to landfill averaged 1 98 tonnes per month i1 2041 down
from 7 68 tonnes per month in 2005 Cardboard recycled was up from 0 81 tonnes per month in 2005 to an average of 4 79 tonnas
per month in 2011 Where possible Brammer UK continues to minimise CO2 ermissions with improved GPS delivery routes introduced
to reduce fuel costs Brammer UK continues to adhere to the ISO 140012004 accreditation across the entire branch netwark, gearbox
centres, workshops, NDC and Head Office

Brammer UK are committed to

> Increasing energy efficiency,

> Promoting energy awareness amongst employees and customers, ensuring that all staif are aware of the Brammer energy policy
available on the company intranet,

> Implementing energy awarenass and savings throughout all our premises and equipment where it 1s cost effective to do so,
> Monitonng and reporting energy performance in an appropriate way,

> Ensuning that dunng refurbishment of any Brammer premises cansideration 1s given to environmental impacts, and

» Complyng with applicable legislation concerning the impacts of Brammer’s energy usage

In France, preparatory work for ISO 14001 certification has begun This accreditation process will take place In several stages which
will extend aver a tme frame of approximatety 7 years

Brammer France also decided to adopt the United Natons Global Compact in June 2010 in the area of environmental compliance
For 2011, the following actions were undertaken

» CO2 emissions of the company car fleet were reduced,

> Management of waste was improved, and

> “Eco-fnendly” comphance intiatives established

Selective sorting of waste has been established within the NDC and the head office at Nozay

Brammer France has reduced paper invoicing for two of its major customers which extends to over 50,000 invoices a year Further
investment has been made in a folding machine to fold mail, allowing up to eight Invoices N a single envelope This has reduced
postage and stationery costs

In Germany the second survelflance audit JAW DIN EN ISO 14001 for the NDC and Dortmund was passed with no documented
non-conformities A re-audit will be conducted in May 2012 The enwronmental management team 0 Dortmund meets at least four
times a year and internal audits are also planned Dunng the year, the vehicles for technical field staff and Inste managers were reviewed
The new fieet helps to reduce CO2 emissions of the group In Germany

Emrssion level Brammer Services car 127g/km
Average emission level of the business vehicle fleet Germany 150g/km

For Dortmund and 13 other sites, electnerty supphies are procured from a green energy supplier The power mix s 95% from hydro-electric
sources and 5% from wind power senvices
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Health and safety

The group stnves to provide and mantamn a safe enwironment for all employees, customers and wisitors to its premises and to comply
with relevant health and safety legistation In addition the group aims to minimise the nsk of work based accidents by ensunng systems
are in place to address health and safety matters The group encourages the involvement of employees and aims for continual
imprevement in health and safety maiters through a fermal structure with a reporting and review process Compliance with health and
safety policies and legistation 1s monrtored on a country by country basis The goal of the group 15 to achieve best practice in allits
operations Progress on implementation of country health and safety plans is closely monitored

The group’s health and safety policy statement, which 1s published on our website, focuses on establishing a suitable environment,
providing proper traning and communication with employees

Reports on health and safety performance are made to meetings of the board on a quarterly basis A format of health and safety
reporting 15 In place so that the board can moritor more carefully injury stabistics and trends across the group, especially where there
are locally notifiable incidents

A major investment programme In our NDCs over the past few years has given us the opportunity to introduce vehicle movemeant
practices both on branch forecourts and indoors This has significantly improved the workptace transport flows involved, separating
workplace vehicle moverments from people movements and significantly reducing the opportunity for accidents

Brammer’s use of vehicles and the composition of its fleet are continually under review to ensure that the most appropnate vehicles
are used for delivery from branches Delivenes from the NDCs to branches are normally carned out by an external logistics company

Standardisation of Fork Lift Truck (“FLT"} procedures including external training continues to be applied across the group

Health and safety in spectfic countries

Brammer UK continues to work to the OHSAS18001 2007 accreditation across the entire branch network, gearbox centres, warkshops,
NDC and head office ensuring that all employees carry out their functions in a safe and effectve manner The investment in automation
at the NDC in relation to the prcking and despatch processes continues to bring about further reductions i the amount of manual
handiing

Other accreditations (which have elements of H&S within the audits and activities) mclude

» Fluid Power Hose Assemblies — BFPA certification accreditation,

> Approved SAFE contractor — A leading health and safety pre-qualfication assessment scheme, dedicated to promoting higher standards
of competence and comphance through the prowvision of relevant industry specific and talored health and safety assessments for
all professions and sectors,

» Achilles — UVDB Venfy (utiities Industry} Quahlty, Health, Safety and Environmental Assessment Certification and assessment for
contracts of high operational sk, the Utlity second stage pre-qualfication scheme UVDB Venfy applies UVDB Verify shows the
company's ability to demonstrate comphance with health, safety, environmental and quality requirements,

> Achiles — Butlding Confidence (Construction Industry) A Quality, Health, Safety and Environmental Assessment providing an effective
pre-qualification and accreditation services for the UK construction industry,

> Achilles — Link-up (Rail Industry} i1s the ral ndustry supplier qualification scheme, providing a single common registration, qualification
and audit process for suppliers that 1s shared by the UK rail mdustry in Quality, Health, Safety and Environmental Assessment

> Achilles = FPAL {Oil and Gas Industry) FPAL Accreditation 1s the direct route to business in the Ol & Gas Industry, which aims to
find the perfect suppler for every buyer FPAL works to identify, qualify, evaluate and monitor suppliers on behalf of its Purchasing
members In Quahty, Health, Safety and Environmental activities,

> Sedex — Supplier Ethical Data Exchange — 1s a membership organisation for businesses commitied to continuous improvernent of
the ethical performance of ther supply chains,

> CIPS - Chartered Institute of Purchasing and Supply 1s an established international standard of excellence in procurement policies
and procedures The Purchasing Accreditation assesses the company’s Sustanability, Corporate Social Responsibility, Quality,
Health & Safety and Financial Stability,

> Qualty Management Systemn ~ ISO 9001 accreditation, and
> Envirenmental Management - 1ISO 14001 accreditation

A dnver online assessment programme which was introduced and implemented dunng 2007 has continued throughout 2011 The
am 15 to reduce the number of road accidents involving employees whilst drmng company vehicles All new medium sized delivery
vans ordered for the UK fleet are supplied with a 62mph speed restnctor to improve the fuel efficiency of the vehicles and to prevent
dnving at excess speed

In Spain, an external expert company ensures compliance with current health and safety legislabon Brammer Spamn, as part of ts acoident
prevention programme, 1s implamenting actions to improve awareness of all its employees leading to the prevention of accidents and
work related linesses Routine medical examinations of employees are carned out every year nm accordance with Spanish health &
safety legislabion in order to monitor the health of employees The same applies to new starters
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Dunng 2010, wdeoconferences were held with some branches as part of a plan to train them on the use of the health and safety manuals,
the means of escape n case of emergency, the use of fire extinguishers and a basic accident preventicn course Videoconferences
with the remainder of the Spanish branches took place dunng 2011

In early 2010, 12 employees n the Head Office in Bilbac were trained in CPR {cardicpulmonary resuscitation) and on how to act in
case of emergency or evacuation

Improvements and alternative methods regarding manual handling operations were carried out during 2011 to prevent accidents and
provide further traming

All the FLT davers in Spamn are externally trained and tested 1n the use of such vehicles They will also have to attend a refresher course
on a regular basis All new starters in the NDCs or warehouses that use FLTs have 1o pass a FLT test

in Spamn, anti-spill tanks and anti-spill emergency kits have been installed to cope with safety requirements for the warehousing of
chemicals and to act in case of emergency High capacity outdoor safety cupboards have also been installed to comply with safety
requrrements and to increase the capacity to store flammable products

Security at the Head Office in Bilbao has been improved by the introduction of an electronic swipe card system

In France, the health and safety commiltee meets quarterty and continuously works on improving safety This commuttee has made a
maor contrbution to reducing the number of accidents in the past few years Road traffic accident prevention s stidl a major imtiative
Improvements in manual handlng training and fire prevention measures continued dunng the year

First aid traiming now takes place at the larger branches on a regular basis Manuat handiing training in the area of lifting 1s now targeted
at more senior employees in the NDC

A safety manager for Brammer Germany 1s nominated to support all employees across the country on matters of employee safety
They conduct safety audits, lead safety council meetings, llaise with Government bodies and Liability insurers and investigate any incidents
In both Dortmund and Stuttgart formal safety councils are established to discuss safety 1ssues of the North and South German areas
on a quarterly basis The safety council 1s composed of one member of senior management, the safety manager, safety specialists,
occupational health physician and two members of the labour council

Risk assessments are carmed out in accordance wath German law and practice A central action plan 1s maintaned to address any
1ssues highighted dunng the annual review process

All hazardous substances are stored in a purpose built storags area in the NDC in Dortmund This storage area 1s under special control
of the safety manager and 1s inspected internally on a quarterty basis, and annually by government assessors No issues were reported
or raised during the year

A nsk analysis 1s carned out by occupationat health physicians and as a result an individual skin protection plan for cleaning, safety and
care of the skin has been established, communicated to employees and published in the operation areas Skin protection 1 part of the
annual health care service

Noise measurements at the Dortmund and Stuttgart locations showed compliance at Stuttgart, and for Dortmund a noise reduction
program was initiated to seek to further address issues over excess noise In the short term, personal protective equipment has to be
used All affected employees are fully trained to prevent any 1ssues surrounding noise related injunes

Each site has a fire prevention and protection plan  Internal fire inspections are conducted on a regular basis and fully documented
Unannounced wisits by local authonties are also carned out and any issues rarssed immediately addressed

First aiders for all sites are in place and traned n accordance with all relevant regulations

Internal health and safety traiming 1s undertaken throughout the organisation on an annual basis In adciton, specific tramng 1s implemented
for new employees, new processes or substances, or as otherwise required by German law All training is fully documented in accordance
with best practice

Employment of disabled persons

Itis the policy of the group to give full and fair consideration to applications for employment receved from disabled persons, having regard
to ther particular aptitudes and abdities, and wherever possible to continue the employment of, and to arrange appropnate training for,
employees who have become disabled persons dunng the penod of therr employment The group prowides the same opportunities for
traming, career development and promotion for disabled as for other employees

Corporate governance

The company's statement on corporate governance 1s included in the corporate governance report on pages 34 to 38 of these financial
statements
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Takeover directive
The company has only one class of ordinary shares and these shares have equal voting rights The nature of indnadual directors’
holdings are disclosed on page 45

As part of the resclutions approved ai the 2011 annual general meeting of shareholders, sharehclders’ authonty was given to the
company’s directors for the allotment of up to 35,428,529 ordinary shares of 20p each if the authonty 1s not utiised in connection with
a nghts issue, representing 33 3% of the 1ssued share capital of the company as at the date of the 2011 annual general meeting

Duning the year, the directors did not exercise the authenittes given to them (to allot shares) save in relation to the options exercised
under the Executive Share Option Schemes Allotments of 56,393 shares were made In relation to employees who exercised options
during the year pursuant to the Executive Share Option Schemes As al 31 Decernber 2011, the drectors have the power to allot up
to 70,851,062 ordinary shares of 20p each representing 66 6% of the issued share capital as at the date of the 2011 annual general
meeting In connection with a nghts 1ssue, subject to a reduction of any amount of shares 1ssued In accordance with the preceding
paragraph

There are no significant agreements to which the company 1s a party which take effect, alter or terminate in the event of change of
control of the company except that the revolving credit facility agreement dated 11 July 2011 1n respect of the €100 million revolving
credit facility) {* the group faciity”) contains mandatory pre-payment provisions on a change of control The group faciity contans a
prohibition on a merger of the company with another entity wathout the priar consent of the relevant banks

As stated in the remuneraticn report on page 45, the current executive directors of the company are entitled to certan payments
their employment 1s terminated or they are given notice by the company (save in circumstances giving nse to summary dismissal or
retirement) writhin one year of a change of control of the company

Certain of the company’s share incentive schemes contain provisions that permit awards or options to vest or become exercisable on
a change of control In accordance with the rules of the schemes

Transfer of shares

The board may refuse to register a transfer of a certificated share which 1s not fully paid or where a persen with at least a 0 25% mnterest
in a class of shares has been served with a disclosure notice and has faled to provide the company with information concerning
interests in those shares The board may also refuse to register a transfer of a certficated share 1f it1s in respect of more than one class
of share or i1s in favour of more than four joint holders

Transfers of uncertificated shares must be carried out using CREST and the board can refuse to register a transfer of an uncertificated
share tn accordance with the regulations governing the operation of CREST

There are no other imitations on the holding of ordinary shares in the company and the company Is not aware of any agreements between
shareholders that may result in resinctions on the transfer of shares

Vanation of rights
Rights attached to any class of shares may be vaned with the wntten consent of the holders of at least three quarters in nominal value
of the issued shares of that class or by a special resolution passed at a separate general meeting of the shareholders

The company by ordinary resolubon may determine that any shares are allotted with special nghts, privileges or restrictions

Gomng concern

As highlighted in the financral review, duning 2011 the group met its day to day working capital requirernentis principally through a
€120 0 mihon banking faciity which was replaced dunng the year with a new €100 O million faciity with HSBC, Yorkshire Bank and
KBC Bank This new facility 1s fully commutted for five years, untl June 2016 The current economic conditions create uncertainty
particularly over () the tevel of demand for the group’s products, (b} the exchange rate between stering and Euro, and (c) the rate of
interest paid on floating rate loans The group's forecasts and projections, taking account of sensitvity analyses of changes in trading
performance and exchange rate movements, show that the group i1s well placed to operate within the level of ts current faciity for the
foreseeable future

Therelfore after making these enquines, the drectors have a reasonable expectation that the company and the group have adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis
In prepanng the annual report and accounts

Independent auditors

So far as the directors are aware, there 1s no relevant audit information of which the auditors are unaware Each director has taken all
the steps that he cught to have taken as a director in order to make himself aware of any relevant audit information and te establish
that the company's auditors are aware of that information
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Re-appointment
Resclutions to re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as mdependent auditor to the company and to authonse the directors to
determine their remuneration will be proposed at the annual general meeating

Annual general meeting
The annual general mesting of the company 1s to be held at 13 00 on 17 May 2012 at 43-45 Broad Street, Teddington, Middlesex
TW11 8027

The notice of meeting appears in the document accompanying this report and accounts Five resolutions will be proposed as items of
special business at the meeting and explanations of these resolutions are given in the enclosed circular

By order of the board
Chnis Short a (4\43 —~
Company Secretary .
14 February 2012
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The board 1s accountable to the company's sharehelders for good corporate governance Its policy 1s to manage the affars of the
company in accordance with the principles of the UK Comorate Governance Code (formerly known as the Combined Code) referred
to in the Listing Rules of the UK Listing Authonty A copy of this Code i1s publicly avalable from www frc org

For the year under review, the company has comglied with the UK Corporate Governance Code {which came into effect for accounting
periods begnning after June 2010} (“the Code”) in all respects

The following parts of this report describe the board’s approach to corporate governance and how the principles of the Code are appled

Part A Directors

Board balance and independence

The board currently compnses a non-executive chairman, two executive directors and three non-executive directors, who are equally
responsible for the proper stewardship and leadership of the company The directors holding office at the date of this report and their
biographical details are given on pages 20 and 21

Al of the non-executve directors are ndependent of the company's executve managerent and free from any business or other relationship
that could matenally interfere wath the exercise of their independent judgement They each meet the independence criteria set out in
the Code The terms and conditions of appointment of the non-exacutive directors are avalable for nspection at the registered office
of the company The letters of appointment set out their expected time commitment to the role Other significant commitments of the
non-executive directors are disclosed to the board

The chairman of the company dunng the year, Dawvid Dunn, at the time of his appointment did meset and continued to meet the
independence critena set out In the Code Upon appoaintment as chairman, Bill Whiteley will mest the independence critena set out in
the Code

Performance evaluation of indmdual directors regularty takes place to ensure that an indvidual’s performance continues to be effective
and commitment to the role 1s demonstrated Such evaluation took place in 2011

Terry Garthwaite 1s the senior independent nan-executive director He 1s avallable to shareholders if they have concerns which contact
through the chairman, chief executive or finance director have faled to resolve or for which such contact 1s inappropriate

All drectors are suppled, in a tmely manner, with all relevant documentation and financial information to assist tham in the discharge
of therr duties This includes information on the compary's operational and financial performance The board regutarly reviews the
management and financial performance of the company, as well as long term strategic planning and risk assessment Regular reports
are given to the board on matters such as pensions, health and safety and hitigation The management executive team met with the
board three times durning the year

Chairman and chief executive

The positions of charman and chief executive are held by separate indwviduals and the board has clearly defined therr responsibilities
The chairman is primanly responsible for the effective working of the board, ensunng that each drector, particularly the non-executive
drreclors, 1s able to make an effective contribution The chief executive has responsibiity for all operational matters which includes the
implementation of the group strategy and policies approved by the board

Apprassals and evaluation

Dunng the year, the chairman held a meeting with the non-executive directors, without the executive directors being present In addition,
led by the senior independent director, the non-executive directors met i the absence of the charman to appraise the charman's
performance

Attendance by individual directors at meetings of the board and its committees
The attendance of directors at the board and principal board committee meetings dunng the year are detalled in the chart below

Man Board Main Board (Telephone) Audit Committee Ramuneration Committee  Nom nation Comimittes

8 Meetings & Meetings 4 Mectngs 6 Meetings 1 Meetng
Dawd Dunn 8 5 4 6 1
lan Fraser 8 5 na n/a 1
Terry Garthwaite 8 5 4 6 1
Paul Thwarte 8 5 n/a n/a n/a
Bill Whiteley 8 5 4 6 1
Charles Irving-Swift 6 5 3 4 1

Appontment and resignation of directors
On appointment, new directors receve a full, formal and talored inguction Major shareholders are offered the opportunity to meet
newly appointed non-executive directors
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Directors have the nght to ensure that any concerns they have, which cannot be resolved about the running of the company or a proposed
acton, are recorded in the board muinutes Upon resignation a non-executive director shall be asked to prowide a written statement to
the chairman, for circulation to the board, if they have such concerns

Adwvice for directors

A procedure has been adopted for the directors to obtain independent professional advice, In appropnate circumstances, at the company’s
expense Committees are prowided with sufficient resources to undertake therr duties An internal governance policy provides that
directors have unrestricted access to the adwice and services of the company secretary

Delegation and workung through committees

The board has a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved to it for approval This schedule 1s reviewed perodically The board's
main focus 1S on strategic and policy rssues and reviewing objectives and performance The board operates in such a way to ensure that
all decisions are made by the most appropnate people »n a timely manner that will not unnecessanly delay progress The board has
formally delegated specific responsibilities to board commitiees, including the audit committee, remuneration commitiee and nommnations
committee {see pages 20 and 21) The board will also appoint committees to approve specific processes as deemed necessary

The directors and management teams of each group company are responsible for those business entities They are tasked with the
delivery of targets approved by the board on budgets, strategy and policy

These polcies and procedures collectively enable the board to make informed decisions on a range of key 1ssues including thoss
relating to strategy and nsk management

Board evaluation

The board undertook a process of self-evaluation of its own performance dunng the year A questionnaire was devised and approved
by the board Directors submutted ther completed questionnaires to the charman who reviewed the responses with the ndmdual
drrectors and the board as a whole The exercise was viewed positively by the board and will be undertaken agan dunng the course
of the current financial year

Retirement by rotation

Each of the directors 15 subject to election by shareholders at the first annual general meeting after therr appointment Thereafter all of
the drrectors are subject to retirement by rotation at intervals of no more than three years Bill Whiteley and Dawd Dunn will retire by
rotatron at the next annual general meeting In accordance with the Code, David Dunn 1s now subject to annual election as he has
served as a drector for more than 9 years Biographical detalls of these directors are set out on pages 20 and 21 The directors are
aware of the retrement and independent faciitation of the board provisions of the Code that apply to FTSE 350 listed comparues and
remain fully committed to complying with all such prowisions as and when thay become applicable

Nominations committee

The nominations commuttee and the board seek to mantan an approprate batance between the executive and non-executive directors
Dunng the year, the nominations commitiee was chaired by Dawid Dunn and consists of all the non-executive directors and the chief
executive The chaiman did not char the committee when it dealt with the appointment of a successor to the charrmanship It meets
penodically as required, but at least once a year Bill Whiteley wll take over as charman of the nominations committee when Dawd
Dunn steps down after the AGM

The terms of reference of the committee were reviewed durng the year and are avalable on the company's website at www brammer biz

The commuttee reviews the structure, size, diversity and composition of the board and makes recommendations concerning the
re-appointment of any non-executive director at the conclusion of ther specified term of office and in the dentification and normination
of new drectors  The commitiee retans external search and selection consultants as appropnate The comrmitiee also advises the
board on succession planning for executive board appointments although the board ttseff 1s responsible for succession generally

Bill whiteley who 1s oifenng himself for re-election at the 2012 annual general meeting, has been subject to more formal evaluation
The nominations committee has concluded that he continues to contnbute effectively and demonstrates his commitment to the
respectve board and committee roles that he holds

The committee evaluates the balance of skills, knowledge and expenence on the board and is responsible for board appointments
Following an evaluation, it prepares, In conjunction with the board, a detailed job description of the role with a candidate profile and
the capabilities required for a particular appontment In drafting this, consideration would be given to the existing expenence, knowledge
and background of board members as well as the strategic and business objectives of the group It determines the scope of the role
of a new drector, the skills and time commitment required and is actively nvolved in the recruitment process Short isted candidates
would then be invited to interview wath members of the committee and, if recommended by the commities, would be invited to meet
the entire board before any decision 15 taken relating to the appomntment
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Audit committee
The audit committee consisted dunng the year of all the non-executive directors  Dawid Dunn stepped down dunng the year followang
changes to the 2010 Code

The board 1s satisfied that Terry Garthwairte, who charrs the committeg, has recent and relevant financial expenence

The executive directors and the external auditor may attend at the invitation of the committee However, the commuittee has the nght
to request Invitees to withdraw from the meeting to enable discussions to take place In ther absence

The main role and responsibilities of the audit commuttee are set out in wiitten terms of reference These terms of reference are available
on the company’s website at www brammer biz

The committee has prnmary responsibiity for making recommendations to the board on the appointment, reappoiniment and removal
of the external auditor which the board puts to shareholders for approval in general meetings It keeps under review the scope and results
of the audit, and its cost effectiveness and the independence and objectivity of the auditor The committee keeps the nature and extent
of non-audit services under review by regularly revewing the balance of audit to non-audit fees The committee 1s aware of the need
to safeguard audrtor objectivity and independence and this 1ssue 1s discussed by the commuittee and penodically with the audit partner
at PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

The committee reviews annual and intenm financial statements before submission to the board and reviews the scope and effectiveness
of the group’s internal controf functions The commitiee will penodically review the scope, remit and effectiveness of the internal audit
function

The commitiee reviews the policy by which employees of the company may, in confidencs, raise matters of concern, including possible
mpropneties in financial reporting or other matters

The committee monrtors the integnty of the group’s financial statements and announcements refating to financial performance and
reviews the significant financial reporting judgements contained In them

Remuneration committee

The remuneration committee 1s chared by Bill Whiteley and consists of all the non-executive drectors Members of the commitiee
have no personal financial interest in the company other than as shareholders and the fees pad to them as non-executive directors
They are not involved In the day-to-day running of the company

lan Fraser, by nvitation and for matters not relating to hvmself, may attend mestings and is consulied by the committee on proposals
relating to the remuneration of the executive directors and appropnate senior executives He does not participate in deliberations and
decisions where they have a direct personal interest

Further details are set out in the remuneration report on page 39

Part B Directors’ remuneration

Detalls of directors’ remuneration are set out In the remuneration report The report details the company's comphance with the Code’s
regurrements with regard to remuneration matters The terms of reference of the remuneration committee are available on the company's
website at www brammer biz

Part C Relations with shareholders

The board 1s accountable to shareholders for the company's continued success The company accordingly places great ernphasis on
maintaning good communications with shareholders The charman, chief executive and finance director meet regularty with major
shareholders to discuss the group’s performance, strategic Issues and shareholder investment cbjectives Reports of these meetings,
and any sharehalder communications during the year, ara reported to the board

if requested, the non-executive directors are avatable to attend meetings with major shareholders The board regularly receives copies
of analysts’ and brokers’ brnefings

The annual report together with the Brammer website are a substantial means of communication with all shareholders dunng the year
The intenm report together with intenm management statements are announced to the Stock Exchange and also published on the
Brammer website

The notice of the annual general meeting accormpanies this report and accounts The notice 1s dispatched to shareholders, together
with explanatory notes or a circular on items of special business, at least 21 working days before the meeting It is the company’s
practice to propose separate resolutions on each substantially separate issue

The board welcomes quastions from shareholders who have an apportunity to raise issues exther informally or formally before or at the
annual general meeting The chairmen of the audit, remuneration and nominations committees will normally be avallable at the mesting
to answer those questions relating to the work of these committees The charrman generally makes a statement on current trading
at the meeting The company counts all proxy votes and the chairman will inform shareholders of the level of proxies lodged on each
resolution The votes for and against each resolution, together with the number of abstentions will be given followng the show of hands
for that resolutron
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Part D Accountability and audst
The respective responsibilities of the directors and auditors in connection with the financial statements are explained in the statement
of directors’ responsibiliies and the auditors’ report

Independence of auditors

The audit committee oversees the relationship with the external auditors including (but not itmited to) approving their remuneration,
assessing annually therr ndependence and objectmity, taking into account relevant professional and regulatory requirements and the
relatienship with the auditors as a whole, including the proviston of any non-audit services

The drectors ensure the iIndependence of the auditors by requesting annual confirmation of mdependence which includes the disclosure
of all non-audi fees The group policy wath regard to the proviston of audit and non-audit services by the externatl auditors s based on
the pnnciples that they should only undertake non-audit services where they are the most appropnate and cost-effective prowider of the
service, and where the provision of non-audit service does not imparr, or 1s not percerved to Imparr, the external auditors’ Independence
and cbjectivity

The present auditors, PricewaterhouseCoocpers LLF, were apponted in 2001 A review took place in 2006 leading to the continued
appantment of the present auditors The previous lead audit partner, Nicholas Boden, stepped down at the conclusion of the year ended
31 December 2010 audit and has been succeeded by Martin Heath in ine with partner rotation policy pursuant to the requirements of
APB Ethical Standards

The committee regularly reviews the analysis of all services provided by the external auditors The policy 1s rewewed annually by the
committee and approved by the board

Details of the amounts paid to the external auditors for audit and non-audit services In 2011 are set out In note 3 to the accounts on
page 64

Internal control

Internal contrels are designed to manage rather than elminate nsk of falure to achieve business objectives and can prowvide only reasonable
and not absolute assurance against matenal misstatement or loss The board 1s responsible for the group's system of internal control
and for reviewing its effectiveness The board works closely with local management and has established procedures in place to moritor
the operations and financial reporting processes across the group See the ‘Operational structure, review and compliance’ section
below for further details

The board through the audit committee, conducts annually a review of the effectiveness of the group's system of internal controls
covenng all matenal controls including financial, operational, nsk management and compliance Management reviews monthly control
reports and will iIdentify any 1ssues to the board

In addtion, the directors at least annually conduct a review of the effectiveness of the group's process for identifying, evaluating and
managing the significant nsks faced by the company, this has operated throughout the year and up to the date of signing these financial
statements The board reviews the results of the process, which 1s in ine with the Turnbull (2005) guidance

Operational structure, review and compliance
Together with board reviews, there are regular review meetings to address operating performance, plans, nsks and controls between
the corporate tearn and the country managing directors and finance directors

The corporate team takes responsibility for finance, [T, the development of pan-European suppler relationships and the development
of pan-European Key Account activity, which complements the work done within each of the subsidiaries The continuing impartance
to the business of European supplier agreements and customer contracts has made the role of this team all the more relevant Each
business already has an established enterpnse resource planning ("ERP") system, the overall strategy i1s to enhance the communication
between these systems as part of a process of continuous improverment of the management and control of the inventory and the sales
order process As part of the development and improvemnent of the group's reporting system, a financial reporting and consolidation
package 1s continually updated to improve the quality and speed of financial reporting

Brammer has had a finance manual i place for many years, it 1s a corporate manual with a wide range of contents, reflecting the evolution
in corporate governance from financial internat control to all aspects of internal ¢control and 1s continually updated

In addition to the group finance director, the group has serior financial managers at its head office The board regularly considers the
effectiveness of the internal audit department, some substidianies have therr own internal audit function and there 15 a group internal
audt officer

The businesses have instituted internal monthly self-assessment processes at subsidiary leve, talored to ther respective operations,
these assessments are subrmitted for rewew Monthly financial results of each subsidiary are reviewed at group level, the monthly review
includes meetings where performance and action plans are presented 1o the Brammer chief executve, finance director and controllers
This culminates in reports that cover operational, financial and control reviews being submitted to the board
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These control processes are under ongoing review o ensure adequacy for the purpose and efficient working in furtherance of their
objectives

Work of the audit commitiee
The pnncipal work carned out by the audit committee during the peniod included the following

> Monitoring the financial reporting process throughout the year Recenang reports from the internal audit department and reviewing
its plans during the year, a review of the internal audit work for the penod to November 2011 was considered at the December
2011 meeting The internal audit plan for 2011 was considered and approved at the January 2011 meeting,

> Accounting policies and standards — during the year the commuittee reviewed the applicaton of any new accounting pohces or
standards which would be applicable to the group’s 2011 annual report The commnuttee s updated regularty on actual and pending
changes to the accounting standards,

> Internal controls and risk management — in February and August 2011, the committee considered reports on the operation of, and
Issues ansng from the group's internal control procedures, together with observations from the external auditors It also monitored
at its February 2011 and December 2011 meetings, the effectiveness of the group's nsk management process, which considers
the key risks, both financial and non-financial, facing the group and the effectiveness of the group's controls to manage and reduce
the impact of those nsks,

> In December 201 1, the board reviewed the committee's terms of reference and non-audit services policy, terms of reference for
the committee were amended to bring them into ine with the 2010 Code,

> External auditors’ work and relatonship - the committee assessed the external auditors' independence and objectmty throughout
the year, the audit report for 2010 was reviewed and discussed with the externa auditors at the February 2011 meetng prior to
them 1ssuing an ungualfied audit report, a similar process has taken place in relation to the 2011 audit repert. ther intenm report
was considered at the August 2011 meeting together with therr strategy for the 2011 audit,

> “Senous concerns” policy — the committes continues to operate the “senous concerns” palicy, under which employses may
confidence notify the company of any concerns, inter alia, involving financial reporting A copy of the company's senous concerns
policy 1s avattable on the company's website, and

> “Bnbery Act 2010” - the committee recenved a presentation from the external auditors at the January 2011 meeting An anti-corruption/
bribery palicy has been developed and implemented An ongaing training programme 1s being rolled out acress the group

Risk management

The subsidiaries are required to carry out penodic nsk assessments of ther business and submit them to the head office Taking
account of nsks identified dunng these reviews and nisk assessment processes such as the meetings descnbed above, this 1s distilled
into an operational “Turnbull nsk assessment” that 1s designed to summarise the key operational nsks, how those rnsks are evolving
and how they are being mitigated The nsk assessment 1S presented to the board on a regutar basis

As part of the process that Brammer has in place to review the effectiveness of the internal control system, there are procedures
designed to capture and evaluate falings and weaknesses In the case of those failings and weaknesses categorised by the board as
“significant”, procedures exist to ensure that necessary action is taken to remedy such falings

A separate exercise IS carred out as part of an ongong review by the board that focuses on corporate nsks These are the strategic
group level nsks over and above the operational nsks which have been reviewed and considered by the Brammer management This was
revewed by the board in 2011 and adopted A nsk management policy has been formulated along with a board level nsk assessment
register

Brammer's insurance continues to be managed and co-ordinated centrally with the assistance of insurance brokers This gives the
group full wsibility of both clams hisiory and the insurance industry's perception of the group's overall nisk via the respective insurance
premums Brammer examines the size and trend of these premiums and the extent to which it can mitigate the nsks and reduce the
overall nsk burden in the business by considenng the appropnate level of insurance deductible and the potential benefit of seff-insurance
I Some areas

Part E: Takeover directive
Share capital structures are included in the directors’ report on page 32

Approved by the board of directors on 14 February 2012 and signed on its behalf by
David Dunn L
Charman

4 M '
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Role of the remuneration committee
The commuttee, on behalf of the board, deterrmines and approves the remuneration policy for the group and all elements of the remuneration
arrangements for executive directors  Details of the membership of the commuttee can be found on page 36

On the board's behalf, the commuitee approves the general recruitment terms, remuneration benefits, employment conditions and
severance terms for senior executives and determines the specific recruitment terms, remuneration benefits, employment conditions,
pension nghts, compensation payments and severance terms for the executive directors It also approves the rules and associated
gudelines for the granting of equity based incentives under the Brammer share plans, which currently are the Performance Share Plan
and the Share Matching Plan

The remuneration committee has its own terms of reference, which are approved by the committee and the board These were reviewed
and updated in 2011 to ensure compliance with the June 2010 version of the Code They are displayed on the company's website

The chairman of the company and the charrman of the remuneration committee are avalable to shareholders to discuss remuneration
policy

In its deliberations, the committee gives fult consideration to the principles of good governance as set out In the Code

Summary of components of executive remuneration

Component Objective Details

Salary > Support recruitment and > Salanes are reviewed in December and any changes are effective
retention from the followang 1 January

Pension and > Provide competitive pension » The CEO and CFO receive cash allowances in ieu of pension

Benefits and benelit provision contributions

> The CEQ s also a member of the company Cefined Benefits scheme

» The CFQ recewves contributions to a self invested personal pension

» Other benefits include private healthcare, health insurance, hfe
assurance, contnbution to home telephones and a car aflowance

Annual Bonus > Incentwvise sustainable » Opportunity of up to 100% of salary for executive directors
short-term performance > Based on achvevement of quantified financial targets (80% on profit
before tax and 20% on debt management)
Share Matching > Prowdes alignment with > Executive directors can invest up to 25% of salary into shares,
Plan shareholders In return for @ maximum match of 1 1
» Reinforces the delivery » Matching shares vest 50% on 3-year EPS growth and 50% on relative
of profit growth and returns TSR vs the FTSE SmallCap xIT
to shareholders > Full vesting requires Brammer to achieve EPS growth of RPI + 25%
and deliver top quartile TSR
Performance > Annual awards of nil-cost options of up to 100% of salary
Share Plan » Shares vest 75% on 3-year EPS growth and 25% on relative TSR vs
the FTSE SmaliCap xIT

> Full vesting requires Brammer to achieve EPS growth of RPI + 25%
and deliver top quartle TSR

Share ownership > Encourages execulive > Executive directors are expected to builld and maintain a sharehotding
guidelines ownership of at least 100% of salary, within five years of appomntment
General policy

The committee and the board recogruse that in order to attract, retan and motivate talented senior executives it 1s necessary to operate
a competitive pay and benefits structure The committee aims to reward executves fairty and responsibly for therr contribution to the
company’s performance, but avoids paying more than necessary to achieve this objective The company's executive remuneration
pohcy 15 regularty reviewed so as to ensure it takes due account of market/best practice, as well as the particular circumstances and
challenges faced by the company

In setting all elements of remuneration, the committee 1s guided both by published surveys and by specific studies commissioned from
tme to time by the committee from independent specialist consuftants It takes professional adwice from wathin and outside the company
Dunng 2011, the committee has taken adwvice from Kepler Associates on market and best practice with regard to certain senior executve
pay and share incentive arrangements The committee acknowledges that quantum of remuneration for senior exgcutives is an 1ssue
of concern for shareholders and that market data, when obtaned and utihsed, should be considered In the context of performance,
affordability and pay for the other employees Adwvice s taken from Eversheds LLP on certain aspects of directors’ contracts where
appropriate
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The committee also receves and considers general information on pay and employment conditions en a country by country basis
around the group, especially when determuining annual salary ncreases

Performance related pay

The committee and the board seek to iink a significant proportion of the remuneration package to ndndual specific performance and
to the financial performance of the group The policy of the commuttee 1s to align directors Interests with those of shareholders and to
give these executives keen incentives to perform at the highest levels, whilst neither encouraging mappropriate operational nsk-taking
nor raising environmental, social or governance nsks

Performance related elements of the remuneration package are the annual bonus scheme and the equity-based awards made under
the Performance Share Plan and Share Matching Plan  Further detatls of these incentives are set out below

Proportion of executive director pay package value delivered through each pay component

Vanable components \ .
Stretch performance

Vanable compc::nems
Target performance
b 1
0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

@ Salary X Pension [l Cash bornus SMP PSP

Share ownership gutdelines

Formal share ownership guidelines are In place for executive directors In addition to the share retention faciity in the Performance
Share Plan described below Under the guidelines, executive directors are expected to builld and mamtan a shareholding worth at
teast 100% of therr salary within five years from appaintmant The current executive directors both satisfy this guidehine

Name Number of shares owned Value as % salary Guideline met?
lan Fraser 1,365,876 952% Yes
Paul Thwaite 951,619 1017% Yes

Base salary 1s that which 15 eflective 31 December 2011 The value of shareholdings 1s based on the closing pnce of a Brammer share
on 31 December 2011

Total shareholder return graph

Set out below are two graphs showing the company’s total shareholder return (“TSR”) over the last five years and over the last three
years The company's TSR is compared to the TSR of the FTSE All Share Support Services Sector Index and FTSE Small Cap Index
{excluding Investment Trusts) The committee has selected these groups given that Brammer 1s a member of both of them, and in the
case of the FTSE Small Cap Index, it1s the group aganst which its TSR performance 1s currently compared under the Share Matching
Plan and Parformance Share Plan The graph of shareholder return over the last three years has been included, as it reflects the three
year performance penod of the Performance Share Plan and Share Matching Plan

Total shareholder returns over five years Total shareholder returns over three years
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The FTSE Mid-Cap data has been included for llustrative purposes only Whilst it 1s proposed to be used as the performance comparator
going forward and will be directly relevant for future PSP awards, it 1s included here purely for histoncal compartson
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Remuneration of executive directors
The compenents of the remuneration packages for the executive directors are set out below

Basic salary

The committee seeks to pay salanes which take account of ndwvidual performance and are similar 1o those paid in comparable companies
The committes uses compansons with caution to avord INncreasing remuneration levels without a corresponding improvement in
performance Basic salary is reviewed at 31 December each year The committee approved a 2011 base salary of £345,000 in relation
to lan Fraser and £225,000 n refation to Paul Thwaite The committee decided to increase the base salanes for these executives
for 2011 given that the company had returned to pre-recession growth and profitability in 2010 In addiben, the significant personal
contributions of both executive directors in achieving such an improvement were an important factor in deciding these increases
In 2012, there will be a basic salary increase for lan Fraser and Paul Thwaite of ¢ 4 8% to base salanes of £362,000 and £236,000
respectively These salary increases are in [ne with average increases across the plc and are marginally below UK RP[

Name 2011 salary 2012 salary
lan Fraser £345,000 £362,000
Paul Thwaite £225,000 £236,000

Annual bonus
The committee sets bonus targets to create annual ncentives for executive directors to perform at the highest leve! and to help further
align therr interests with those of shareholders Bonuses are not pensionable

On the achievernent of quantified financial targets, executive directors can earn awards of up to 100% of salary For 2011 the remuneration
committee set performance targets based on achieving stretching profits and cash generation Up to 80% of salary could be payable
for achieving the profits target and (provided a threshold profit hurdle has been achieved) 20% for achieving the cash generation target

As set out In the table on page 46, bonuses of £307,050 and £200,250, were earned by Messrs Fraser and Thwaite respectively in
2011 as the targets set out below were achieved at a rate of 89% of maximum

The remuneration committee has considered bonus principles for 2012 Given the current economic climate and the uncertainties over
the trading environment in Europe, it has been decided that the 2012 bonus metrics will again be based on profit and cash flow targets
For 2012, as in 2011, the targets will be split profit 80%, cash flow 20% as shown in the table below

Debt management/
working capital

Prefit before tax Improverment Maximum bonus of
Name % of salary % of salary % of salary
lan Fraser 80% 20% 100%
Paul Thwaite 80% 20% 100%

lan Fraser and Paul Thwarte earned bonuses of £307,050 and £200,250 respectively for 2011 {2010 £320,000 and £158,250 earned
respectively) as the following targets were achieved

Earnings The Remuneration Committee set profit before tax on ordinary actvties before amortisation of acquired intangibles (*PAI")
of £27 millon as the target for 2011 for which full bonus ts payable PAIl for 201115 £29 millon Accordingly, this part of the bonus
target was fully achieved The cash generation element of the bonus was 9% as cash targets were achieved or exceeded In 7 of the
12 months dunng the year

Executive share option schemes

The Perfermance Share Plan and Share Matching Plan are now the primary arrangements through which share-based incentives are
offered to executive directors and other senicr executives However, in the past, the company also made grants to executive duectors
and senior executives under an HMRC approved executive share option scheme which was approved by shareholders in 1997 as well
as under an unapproved exacutive share option scheme which was approved by shareholders in 1995 Options may no longer be
granted under the two executive share option schemes as, according to the rules of both schemes, no options may be granted later
than 10 years after the schemes were first approved by the shareholders All options have now lapsed in relation to the executive
directors as shown on page 44

Performance Share Plan

The Brammer plc Performance Share Plan (“the Plan”) together with the Share Matching Plan described below 1s the primary fong-term
incentive for key seror Brammer executives Under the Plan, nif cost options may be awarded with a value at grant of up to 100% of
basic salary These shares vest, at no cost to the exacutive, upon the achievement of stretching performance targets (together wath
contnued employment) The targests are set by the committee having taken external adwice on market and best practice
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For awards made up to and including 2008, participants recewve the full number of shares over which the award was onginally granted
only if the company's normalised earnings per share (“EPS") over the three financial vears following grant has increased by 40% 1n excess
of RPI EPS has to ncrease by at least 15% in excess of RPI {for the participants to recenve any shares {at which pomt 25% of an award
vests), straight-hne vesting occurs between these two points  To the extent that shares vest, directors and executives are expectad to
retain at least 50% of the net number of shares for three years

For PSP awards made during 2009, 2010 and 2011, the Plan operated as follows

> Up to 75% of salary was based on EPS growth over the three financial years following grant This required a minimum growth of
10% 1n excess of RPI for the participants to receive any shares (at which point 25% vests} For full vesting, the required growth s
25% growth in excess of RPI This revised range of targets reflacted broker forecasts for growth at the ume, and

» Up to 25% of salary was based on relative total shareholder return (“TSR") performance This required a TSR ranking equal to
median for the participants to receve any shares (at which point 25% vests) The comparator group aganst which TSR 1s measured
1s the FTSE Small Cap {exciuding Investment Trusts)

For outstanding awards under the Performance Share Plan and Share Matching Plan the Remuneration Committes is proposing to
re-designate awards made over conditional shares as nil cost options, and extend the exercise pened from 6 months 10 7 years, in
Iine with common market practice for nil cost options This amendment will allow participants to defer exercise of their awards, which
the Commuitee believes will encourage therm to retan a greater ablgnment wath the share pnce for longer

The exsting Performance Share Plan was adopted on 30 Apnl 2002 and expires in Apnl 2012 The Committee has therefore undertaken
a review of remuneration arrangements, and 1s seeking approval for a revised Performance Share Plan at the AGM Please refer to the
AGM notice for details of the proposals

In summary, the proposal is as follows

» To re-balance the weighting of EPS TSR in the PSP from 75 25 to 50 S0,
> To increase the maximum PSP opportunity inked to TSR from 25% to 75% of salary (same as for EPS),
» To benchmark Brammer's TSR against the FTSE Mid Cap (rather than the Small Cap),

> To toughen the TSR requirement for full vesting from upper quartile to upper decile, and

> To toughen the EPS requirement for full vesting from RPI +25% to RPI +50%

The PSP awards will continue to reward 3-year TSR relative to a FTSE general ndex, and 3-year growth in EPS above RPI Currently,
the balance 1s 75% EPS and 25% TSR For 2012 the proposal 1s to put equal weight on TSR and EPS, by increasing the opportunity
Inked to TSR The maximum grant size under the PSP will thersfore be 150% of salary Actual award sizes each year will be determined
with reference to the competitiveness of the overall package

In summary, the vesting schedules that will apply to the 2012 awards under the Performance Share Plan are as follows

A for 50% of shares under the Performance Share Plan

EPS Growth of Brammer over three years Vesting percentage of relevant proportien

Less than RPl + 10%

RPI + 10%

Between RPI + 10% and RPi + 25%
Between RPl + 25% and RPI + 50%
RFI + 50% ar more

0%

16 7%

Between 16 7% and 66 7% on a straight-line basis
Between 66 7% and 100% on a straight-line basis
100%

B for 50% of shares under the Performance Share Plan

TSR ranking of Brammer against the FTSE Mid Cap
(excluding Investment Trustis)

Below median ranking

Medan ranking

Between median and upper quartile ranking

Between upper quartile and upper decile ranking

Upper decile ranking {top 10%)

Vesting percentage of relevant proportion

0%

16 7%

Between 16 7% and 66 7% on a straight-line basis
Between 66 7% and 100% on a straight-lne basis
100%

It 1s proposed that Brammer's TSR be benchmarked against the FTSE Mid Cap (rather than the Small Cap) to reflect the company's
improving FTSE rank Additionally, for any of the TSR element to vest, the Remuneration Committee must be satisfied that the recorded
TSR 15 a genuine reflection of Brammer's underlying financial performance over the performance penod

The Commuittee 1s satisfied that the resuling total remuneration, based on far value assumptions, and including salary changes for
2012 will posttion the executive director package at around medtan market levels If the PSP were granted at maximum
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Share Matching Plan

In 2005 the company established the Brammer Share Matching Plan (the “SMP"), to operate alongside the Performance Share Plan
In the remuneration committee’s view, the SMP produces a strong alignment between the interests of executives and sharenolders as
it hnks part of the executive’s rewards to his or her retention of Brammer shares

Matching awards (granted in the form of nillnominal cost awards) are only granted provided that shares beneficially owned by the employee
are first nvested In the SMP (“Investment Shares” Investment Shares worth up o 25% of the employee’s basic salary can be lodged
In the SMP each year, with matching awards then baing granted on a maximum matching award ratio of 1 1 (wath this ratio applying
to the pre-tax number of shares that are lodged in the SMP) Investment Shares for these purposes can be any existing shares desmed
beneficially owned by the empleyee and lodged in the SMP at the time that the matching award 1s granted

The vesting of a matching award depends upon the Investment Shares continuing to be held in the SMP, the satisfaction of the
performance conditions {see below) and the executive's continued employment

If a paricipant sells therr Investment Shares at any ime dunng the three year performance period, this will reduce (on a pro-rata basis)
the number of shares compnsed in a matching award

Vesting of one half of each matching award will be determined by the company’s normalised EPS growth over the three year performance
period (companng, as 1$ the case with Performance Share Plan awards, the company’s EPS in the financial year prior to grant with its
EPS in the third year following grant, with the same targets applied as are employed in the Performance Share Plan) Vesting of the
other half of each award 1s determined by the company's performance in terms of its TSR relative to a peer group of companies over
a three year period

The vesting schedules that apply to the 2009, 2010 and 2011 awards under the Performance Share Plan and Share Matching Plan
are as follows

A for 75% of the shares under the Performance Share Plan and 50% of the matching shares under the Share Matching Plan

EPS growth of Brammer over three years Vesting percentage of relevant proportion

Less than RPI + 10% 0%

RPI+ 10% 25%

Between RPI + 10% and RPl +25% Between 25% and 100% on a straight-line basis
RPI + 25% or more 100%

B for 25% of the shares under the Performance Share Plan and 50% of the matching shares under the Share Matching Plan

TSR ranking of Brammer against the FTSE Small Cap

{excluding Investment Trusts) Vesting percentage of 50% of relevant proportion
Below median ranking 0%
Median ranking 25%
Between median and upper quartile ranking Between 25% and 100% on a straight-line basis
Upper quartile (top 25%!) ranking 100%

There 1s no opportunity to retest performance if the performance conditions are not satisfied over the three year performance penod
under either Plan

In determiming whether performance targets have been met, independent venfication 1s sought where appropnate

The performance conditions that apply to awards under both the SMP and PSP have been chosen to encourage executives to deliver
(i) superior TSR performance against an appropnrate group of peer companes and {i1) Improving earnings per share

As discussed in last year's remuneration report, certain adjustments were made for the 2008 and 2009 PSP and SMP awards with regards
to the nghts issue in 2009 These adjustments were agreed wath shareholders The adjusted EPS threshold target for assessing whether
the 2009 awards under the Performance Share and Share Matching plans have vested 1s 36 1p Actual adjusted EPS for 2011 1s
38 4p taking into account the reduction in profit before tax on ordinary actmvities before amortisation of acquired Intangibles for 2011
by the interest expense saved following the reduction of net debt as a consequence of the 2009 nghts 1ssue The effects of the acquisthon
of Buck & Hickman have been nng fenced and excluded from all relevant calculations for the purposes of the EPS This one-off adjustment
was considered appropnate by the commuttee due to the timing of the acquisiion

Shares awarded in March and November 2009 under the EPS element of the Performance Share Plan which are due to vest in March
and Novermnber 2012 respectively will vest in full as the maximum EPS performance critenon has been achieved Vesting of 50% of the
awards under the Share Matching Plan granted in March 2009 which are due to vest in March 2012 will aso vest in full as the above
maxmurn EPS performance cntenon has been achieved

In addition, the 25% of shares under the Performance Share Plan which are inked to TSR performance will also vest in full as the maximum
TSR performance crtenon has been achieved In addition, the 50% of the awards under the Share Matching Plan, which relate to
company TSR performance, will also vest in full as the maximum performance cntenon has been achieved
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Audited nformation
The remainder of the remuneration report 1s audited information with the exception of the section entitled “service contracts” and
“drectors’ interests”

Director’s options
Neither Mr Fraser nor Mr Thwaite hold any options over shares

Performance Share Plan

Market pnce on Value granted

award grant 31 Dec 2010 Granted Vested Lapsed 31 Dec 2011 £ 000s Vesting date
lan Fraser 250p 96,000 — {96,000) - Sprng 2011
lan Fraser 73 25p 436,860 - 436,860 Spring 2012
lan Fraser 115p 278,260 - 278,260 Spring 2013
lan Fraser 268p - 128,737 128,737 345 Spring 2014
Paul Thwate 250p 63,300 - {63,300) - Spring 2011
Paul Thwaste 73 25p 288,054 - 288,054 Spring 2012
Paul Thwaite 115p 183,478 - 183,478 Spring 2013
Paul Thwaite 268p - 83,955 83,955 225 Spnng 2014

Shares awarded in March and September 2008 under the Performance Share Plan which were due to vest in March and September
2011 respectively lapsed as the minmum EPS performance criteria were not achieved

Share Matching Plan

Market pnce on

award grant 31 Dec 2010 Granted Vested Lapsed 31 Dec 2011 VaueGranted Value Vested Vestng Date
lan Fraser 250p 75,506 - 19,858 55,648 - 54  Spring 2011
lan Fraser 7325p 257,699 - 257,699 Spring 2012
lan Fraser 1286 5p 126,073 - 126,073 Spring 2013
lan Fraser 275p - 63.948 63,948 178 Spnng 2014
Paul Thwaite 250p 49,786 - 13,093 36,693 - 35 Spnng 2011
Paul Thwaite 7325p 169,922 - 169,922 Spring 2012
Paul Thwaite 129 5p 83,129 - 83,129 Spring 2013
Paul Thwaite 275p - 41,703 41,703 114 Spring 2014

The middle market price of an erdinary share at the close of business on 19 March 2011 when the relevant shares were released was
273 3p Following advice received from Hewitt New Bridge Street in relation to the fulfiiment of performance cntena, 26 3% of the
matching awards granted in 2008 vested in 2011 The balance of the awarded shares therefore lapsed Vesting of 50% of the awards
under the Share Matching Plan granted in March 2008 which were due to vest in March 2011 lapsed as the above minimum EPS
performance critena was not achieved

The performance conditions apphyng to Performance Share Plan and Share Matching Plan awards are set out above

Dilution limits

Until 2009, the company has satisfied vestings of awards under both Plans from market purchased shares sourced from the Brammer
plc Employee Share Ownership Trust (“the Trust™) For calculating the dilution imits above, such awards have not been deducted unti
such tme as the awards are satisfied The vesting of the 2008 awards under the Share Matching Plan in 2011 was satisfied from a
combination of market purchase shares sourced from the Trust and allotment of new shares The vesting of the 2009 awards under
the SMP in 2012 will be satisfied by 1ssuing and allotting new ordinary shares in the company

In lne with ABI Guidelines, the followang Iimits apply to the number of shares which may be issued under the company’s share plans

> The number of Issued, 1ssuable and treasury shares that may be allocated under all employee plans adopted by the company 15
restncted to 10% of the 1ssued ordinary share capital of the company over any ten year penod As at 14 February 2012, there was
headroom of 5,001,850 shares (e 4 28 % of share capital) after deducting outstanding awards and options (excluding lapsed
awards and options)

» In addition, the number of 13sued, issuable and treasury shares that may be allocated under the “discretionary” executive share
plans adopted by the company (the PSP and SMP) shall be restricted to 5% of the 1ssued share capital of the company in the ten
year penod commencing from the 2005 annual general meeting when the Share Matching Plan was adopted As at 14 February
2012, there was a total number of outstanding awards of 5,910,880 shares (i e 5 05% of share capital) For any awards which vest
aver the 5% hmit, the awards will be satisfied by purchasing shares on the open market
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Dilution himits

Executive plans (5% hmr)

All plans (10% limut)

0% 20% 40% 60% BO% 100%
B Used Headroom

Other benefits
Other benefits prowided to the executive directors include private healthcare benefits, permanent health insurance (to secure Income
n the event of Il health or disability), Iife assurance, contributon to home telephones and a car allowance as set out on page 46

Service contracts
Each of the executive directors has a service contract with the company

Contract date Notce penod
lan Fraser 1 July 1998 Roling 1 year
Paul Thwaite 24 January 2002 Rolling 1 year

When considering these contracts, the committee has due regard to the provisions of the Code It 1s the commuttee’s intention that
any future executive directors will be subject to similar one year notice perods

If a contract is to be terminated, the committee will determine such mitigation as it considers farr and reasonable in each circumstance
and the compensation that may be paid It will take into account the best practice provisions of the Code and it will take legal advice
on the company's hability to pay compensation and the appropnate amount

In this regard, the service contracts for lan Fraser and Paul Thwaite contain a iquidated damages clause In the event of a change of
control of the company, save in arcumstances where therr employment is terminated by reason of retrement or where summary disrmissal
1s warranted, the company 1s obliged to pay to the director a sum representing basic salary, pension benefit, car allowance and bonus
(based on the average bonus payments made over the previous three years) for a penod of one year These arrangements were put
In place In 2003 Going forward, hquidated damage prowisions on change of control shall be restricted to basic salary, pension benefit
and car allowance only, in relation tc new executive appointments Chins Short, the Company Secretary, has a similar iquidated damages
clause in his service contract which was granted in 2003 where the compensation 1s based on six meonths' basic salary, benefits and
accrued bonus

Directors’ interests
The beneficial nterests of the diectors and therr immediate {amilies in the shares of the company, according to the register of directors’

interasts are set out below

Ordinary Shares of 20p  Ordinary Shares of 20p
31 Decembar 2011 31 December 2010

Shares Shares
Dawd Ounn 60,000 60,000
Terry Garthwaite 10,000 10,000
lan Fraser 1,365,876 1,348,839
Paul Thwarte 951,619 923,974
Bill Whiteley 45,000 34,300
Charles Ining-Swift 7,000 5,000

Notes

1 There were no changes in the above mentioned Interests between 1 January 2012 and 14 February 2012

2 No director was matenally interested in any contract of significance with the company dunng the year

3 Dunng 2011, the huighest mid-market price of the company’s shares was 331 88p and the lowest was 219 00p The year-end
pnce was 240 50p

Remuneration of non-executive directors

The charman and the other non-executive directors are paid fees for thewr services These fees are related to the time spent on the
company’s business and are set at levels similar to those of comparable companies The charman and other non-executive directors
da not participate in bonus, share incentive or pension schemes

The fees of the non-executive directors, other than the chairman, are determined by the board (excluding the non-executive directors)
on the recommendation of the charman and the chief executive The remuneration of the chairman (s deterrmined by the board on the
recommendation of the other non-executive directors In both cases the recommendations are supported by independent adwice
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Consideration 1s given to the tme commitment and responsibiities of the roles Fees are normally reviewed every two years with the
last review carned out by the board in December 2010 The board agreed that for 2011 the standard fee for non-executive directors
be increased to £37,000 from £35,000 with further fees being paid for additional duties, namely £5,000 for a committee charman and
£3,000 to the senior ndependent director The board also approved that the remuneration of the chairman be increased from £104,000
to £110,000 for 2011 All these rewvised fee levels are in line with current market practice

The company’s practice I1s to appoint non-executive directors under letters of engagement rather than under service contracts These
letters of engagement set out terms of appointment, usually three years, and it i1s anticipated that the penod will be extended for a second
term of three years with the agreement of the board and the non-executive director, although re-appointment 1s not automatic In
certain circumstances non-executive directors may be inwited to serve for further terms if therr continued appointment 1s considered to
ba in the interests of the company

Dawid Dunn was initially appointed in November 2001 Terry Garthwaite was initially appointed on 1 June 2004 for a term of three years
Bidl Whiteley was appointed on 1 July 2008 for a term of three years Charles Irnving-Swaft was apponted with effect from 1 March 2010
for a term of three years

These appontments may be terminated on three months' notice by either party

Directors’ remuneration and emoluments
The remuneration and taxable benefits n kind of the directors in the year ended 31 December 2011 are set out below

Benafits Payments in
{exchucing penson leu of pension
Fees/salary Bonus & share options)  contnbutions (2) 2031 total 2010 total
£ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £000 £'000 £000
Non-executives
David Dunn (Chairrman) 111 - - - 111 104
Terry Garthwaite 45 - - - 45 41
Bill Whiteley 42 - - - 42 37
Charles lnving-Swift 37 - - - a7 28
Executives
lan Fraser 345 307 20 110 782 763
Paul Thwaite 225 200 14 38 a77 418
805 507 34 148 1,494 1.392
Notes

1 The highest paid drrector in the year ended 31 December 2011 was lan Fraser

2 Full detalls of payments made in lieu of pension contributions are set out in the directors’ pension entitlements section below

3 In addiion lan Fraser and Paul Thwaite will be able to acquire shares in Brammer plc to the value of £619,766 and £408,660
respectively in accordance with the Brammer plc Share Matching Plan The Share Matching Plan relates to matching awards
granted in March 2009 vesting n March 2012 Vesting of matching awards 1s determined by the cntena as set out on pages 41 to
43 of the remuneration repert Vesting of 50% of the matching awards refating to the EPS target has been achieved in full Vesting
of the 50% of the awards relating to TSR has been achieved in full Brammer's TSR 1n 2011 resulted in 100% of the total award
of the TSR element of the award vesting in March 2012 Accordingly, 100% of the matched awards shall vest The company has
recewved advice from Kepler Associates in this determination The value of the shares has been estimated using the middle market
share pnce at 31 December 2011 namely 240 50p

4 In addition lan Fraser and Paul Thwaite will be able to acquire shares in Brammer plc to the value of £1,500,648 and £692,770
respectively In accordance with the Brammer ple Performance Share Plan The Performance Share Plan relates to awards granted in
March 2009 vesting in March 2012 Vesting of awards 1s determined by the cnterta as set out on pages 41 to 43 of the Remuneration
Report Vesting of 75% of the Performance Share Plan awards relating to the EPS target have been achweved in full Vesting of the
other 25% of the award relating to TSR has been achieved in full Brammer's TSR in 2011 resulted in 100% of the total award of
the TSR element of the award vesting n March 2012 Accordingly, 100% of the awards shall vest The company has recewved
adhwice from Kepler Associates in the determinatton The value of the shares has been estimated using the middle market share
prce at 31 December 2011 namely 240 50p

5 lan Fraser was appointed as a non-executive director of Acal plc with effect from 1 January 2010 Dunng the penod from 1 January
2011 to 31 December 2011, lan Fraser retained fees pad to hirmn in performance of his external commitments at Acal plc of £30,000

48 | Brammer plc | Annual Report 2011




REMUNERATION REPORT

Directors’ pension entittements

lan Fraser 1s a member of the Brammer Services Retirement Benefit Scheme This ts a defined benefits scheme which 1s funded and
approved by HMRC The information below sets out the disclosures under the UK Listing Rules and the Large and Medium-sized
Companies and Groups {Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 for him

Drrector s Accumulated total Increase n Increase

contnbuhions to accrued pension Increase in accrued pension Transfer value of  Transfer value of transfer value

pension scheme at 31 Decemnber  accrued penson dunng theyear  accrued pension  accrued pension (less drector s

Age at dunng the year 2011 (2010) dunng the year (net of nflation) at 31 Dec 2011 at 31 Dec 2010 contributions}
31 December 2011 £pa £ pa £ pa £ pa 1) £ Iy
56 - 10,700 (10,200} 500 - 324,000 278,800 45,200

Notes

1 The accumulated total accrued pension as at 31 Decermnber 2010 has been adjusted for inflation in armving at the increase in the
accrued pension at 31 December 2011

2 Thetransfer values have been calculated on the basis agreed by the Trustees of the Scheme that was In force at the date of calculation
having regard to legisiative requirements The transfer value basis was last revised in January 2011

3 Allfigures have been rounded to the nearest £100 His pension 18 reviewed annually on 1 January in ine with the Scheme Rules

4 At1 January 2011 lan Fraser's pension increased to £10,710 per annum Due to the level of price inflation aver the penod September
2010 to September 2011 there will be an increase to lan Fraser’s pension as at 1 January 2012 of 5%

5 lan Fraser's dependants are entrtled to benefits on his death of 2/3 of the pension before commutation, increased from date of
retirement to date of death in ine with Scheme pension increases

6 The pension Increases in payment at the rate of the annual increase in Retail Pnce Inflation up to a maximum of 5% pa and subjact
to a mnimum of zero

Other pension entitlements
The company made a contrbution to Paul Thwaite's SIPP (self nvested personal pension) dunng the year of £15,007 (2010 £15,840)
No contrnbutions were made to lan Fraser's SIPP during the year (2010 nil)

Dependants of both directors are eligible for payments of a lump sum n the event of death n service

Cash allowances in lieu of pension contributions macde to lan Fraser dunng the year were £110,400 (2010 £102,400) Cash allowances
In leu of pension contributions made to Pau! Thwarte during the year were £38,208 (2010 £33,728)

For the avoidance of doubt, the defined benefits drawn by lan Fraser set out above relate to service completed up to 28 February
2006 and are entirely distinct and separate from his SIPP and cther pension arrangements

Approved by the board of directors on 14 February 2012 and signed on its behalf by
Bill Whiteley
Charman of the remuneration committee
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Statement of directors’ responsibiliies in respect of the annual report,

the directors’ remuneration report and the financial statements

The directars are responsible for prepanng the annual report, the directors' remuneration report and the financial statements in accordance
with applicable law and regufations

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year Under that law the directors have elected
to prepare the group financial statements in accordance wath International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the
European Union, and the pareni company financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice {United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law) Under company law the directors must not approve the financial
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and far view of the state of affars of the group and the company and of the
profit or loss of the company and group for that perod In prepanng these financial statements, the directors are required to

> select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,
> make jJudgements and accounting estimates that are reasonabie and prudent,

> state whether IFRSs as adoptad by the European Union and applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to
any matenal departures disclosed and explained in the group and parent company financial statements respectively, and

> prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless 1t 1s inappropnate to presume that the cormpany will continug in
business

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the company's transactions
and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financta! position of the company and the group and enable them to ensure that
the financial statements and the directors’ remuneration report comply with the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the group financial
statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and the group and
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detectron of fraud and other irregulanties

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integnity of the company's website Legislaton in the United Kingdom governing
the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ frorm legislation in other junsdictions

Each of the directars whose names and functions are listed on pages 20 and 21 confirm that, to the best of therr knowledge

> the group financial staterments, which have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Unton, give a
true and farr view of the assets, llabilities, financial position and profit of the group and

> the directors' report, the charman’s statement, the chief executive’s operational review and the financiat director’s review contained
In pages 2 to 33 include a far review of the developrnent and performance of the bustness and the pesition of the group, together
with a descnption of the pnincipal nsks and uncertantes that it faces

By order of the Board
Chris Short David Dunn

Company Secretary Chairrnan
14 February 2012
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF BRAMMER PLC

We have audited the group financial statements of Brammer plc for the year ended 31 December 2011 which compnse the consolidated
ncome statement, the consoldated statement of comprehensive ncome, the consolidated balance sheet, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity, the consolidated cash flow statement, the accounting policies, and the related notes The financial reporting
framework that has been applied in ther preparation 15 applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as
adopted by the European Union

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As explaned more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the group
financial statements and for being satisfied that they gve a true and farr view Qur responsibility 1s to audit and express an opinion on the
group financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Audiing (UK and Ireland} Those standards
require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors Thrs report, including the cpinions, has been
prepared for and only for the company's members as a body In accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Cormpanies Act 2006 and
for no other purpose We do not, In gnvang these opinions, accept or assume responstbility for any other purpose or to any other person
to whom this report 1s shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in wnting

Scope of the audit of the financial staterments

An audit Invelves obtaning evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financtal statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance
that the financial statemenits are free from matenal misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error This Includes an assessment of
whether the accounting policies are appropnate to the group’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately
disclosed, the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors, and the overall presentation of the financial
statements |n addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual report to identify matenal Inconsistencies
with the audited financial staternents If we becorme aware of any apparent matenal misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the
implicatiens for our report

Opinion on financial statements
In our opireon the group financial statements

> gve a true and far view of the state of the group's affairs as at 31 December 2011 and of its profit and cash flows for the year then ended,
> have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, and
> have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the AS Regulation

Opinton on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinicn

» the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the group financial statements are prepared 1s consistent
with the group financial statements, and

> the information given in the Corporate Governance Statement set out on pages 37 and 38 with respact to internal control and nsk
management systems and about share capital structures 1S consistent with the financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our optreon

> certan disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or

> we have not receved all the information and explanations we reguire for our audit, or
> acorporate governance statement has not been prepared by the parent company

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review

» the directors’ statement in relation to going concern,

> the part of the Corporate Governance Statement relating to the company’s compliance wath the nine prowistons of the UK Corporate
Governance Code specified for our review, and

> certan elements of the report to shareholders by the Board on directors’ remuneration

Other matter
We have reported separately on the parent company financial statements of Brammer pic for the year ended 31 December 2011 and
cpthe information in the directors’ remuneration report that 1s descnbed as having been audited

Ll ‘*U&
Martin Heath {Seror Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhousaeCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Manchester
14 February 2012
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 December 2011

Year to Year to
31 Decamber 31 December
2011 2010
Notes £m £m
Revenue 1 571.5 468 4
Cost of sales {398.2) (327 3)
Gross profit 173.3 1411
Distribution costs {144.7) 18 1)
Amortisation of acquired intangibles (1.3) (13
Total sales distnbution and admirustrative costs (146.0) (119 4)
Operating profit 1 27.3 217
Operating profit before amortisation and exceptional items 318 230
Amortisation of acquired intangibles (1.3) (+3)
Exceptional items 4 3.2} -
Operating profit 4 27.3 217
Finance expense 2 {2.9) (2 5)
Finance income 2 0.1 01
Profit before tax 24.5 193
Profit before tax before amortisation and exceptional tems 29.0 206
Amortisation of acquired intangibles (1.3) (13)
Exceptional items 4 (3.2} -
Profit before tax 24.5 193
Taxation 5 {6.2) 55)
Profit for the year attrbutable to eguity shareholders 18.3 138
All activities relate to continuing operations
Earnings per share — total 7
Basic 16.8p 130p
Diluted 16.4p 13 0p
Earnings per share - pre amortisation and exceptional items 7
Basic 19.8p 139
Diluted 19.3p 13 9p

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2011

Year to Year to

31 December 31 December

2011 2010

£m £m

Profit for the year 18.3 138
Other comprehensive income

Net exchange differences on translating foreign operations (3.1) 10

Actuanal {losses)/gains on pension schemes {4.2) 52

Other comprehensive (expense)/income for the year, net of tax {7.3) 42

Total comprehensive income for the year 11.0 180

Items in the statement above are disclosed net of tax The income tax relating to each component of other comprehensive Nncome 1s

disclosed in note 5

The notes on pages 54 to 82 form part of these accounts
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

At 31 December 2011

31 December 31 December
Notes 2011 2010
£m £m
Assets
Non-current assets
Goodwill 8 89.5 748
Acquired intangible assets B 38 53
Other intangible assets 8 80 49
Property, plant and equipment - 138 110
Deferred tax assets 18 70 64
1221 102 4
Current assets
Inventones 10 90.9 713
Trade and cther recevables 1 114.8 814
Cash and cash equivalents 12 15.9 217
221.6 174 4
Liabilities
Current habilities
Financial habilites — borrowings 14 {3 4) (3 8)
Trade and cther payables 13 (128 9) 24 3)
Provisions 16 {13) 07)
Beferred consideration 17 {10 8) 80
Current tax labilities {5.0} 27
(149 4) {109 5)
Net current assets 72.2 649
Non-current habilities
Financial labilites - borrowings 14 (47.8) (54 6)
Deferred tax habiities 18 (8.5) Q7
Provisions 16 - 02
Deferred conaideration 17 (3.6) -
Retirement benefit obligations 27 {16.8) (158)
{76 7) (80 3)
Net assets 117 6 870
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital i 234 213
Share premium 18 2 181
Translation reserve 13 44
Retained earnings 74.7 432
Total equity 117.6 870

The notes on pages 54 to 82 form part of these accounts

The accounts were approved by the board on 14 February 2012 and were signed on s behalf by

Dawvid Dun
Chairman

Brammer plc
Registered number 00162825
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT CF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year endad 31 Decamber 2011

Share Shara Treasury Translation Retained
Capital Premwum Shares Reserve Eamings Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Balance at 1 January 2010 212 181 02) 54 304 749
Profit for the year - - - - 138 138
Other comprehensive ncome - - - {10 52 42
Total comprehensive Income - - - {1t 0 190 18 0
Transactions with owners
Shares tssued durng the year 01 - - - - o}
Didends - - - - B0 60
Total transactions with owners 01 - - - 690 (59)
Moverment in year o1 — - (10) 130 121
At 31 December 2010 213 181 02) 44 43 4 B70
Profit for the year - - - - 183 183
Other comprehensive income - - - B1) 42 (7 3)
Total comprehenswe iIncome - - - 31N 141 110
Transactions with owners
Shares 1ssued durnng the year - 01 - - - Q1
Shares 1ssued in repect of the placing” 21 - - - 227 248
Purchase of own shares - - 01} - - o1
Transfer on vesting of own shares - - 01 — o —
Value of employee services - - - - 20 20
Tax credit on share performance plans - - - - 07 07
Dividends - - - - {79 (79
Total transactions with owners 21 01 - - 17 4 196
Movement in year 21 01 - 31 315 306
At 31 December 2011 23.4 182 (0.2) 1.3 74.9 117.6

*Ordinarily, the excess of the net proceeds over the nominal value of the share capital 1ssued would be credited to a non-distnbutable
share premium account However, the placing of shares completed in September 2011 was effected through a structure which resulted
In the excess of the net proceeds over the norminal value of the share capital beng recognised within retained earnings under section

612 of the Companies Act 2006

The notes on pages 54 to B2 form part of these accounts
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 December 2011

Yeaar to Year 1o
31 Decermnber 31 Decamber
2011 2040
Notes fm £m
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 22 28.2 261
interest receved 0.1 -
Interest pad {2.5) 22)
Tax paid {4.1) 27)
Funding of penston schemes less income statement charge (3.3) 26)
Net cash generated from operating activities 184 186
Cash generated from operating actvities before exceptonal tems 191 200
Cash outflow from exceptional items (07) (1 4)
Net cash generated from operaling actvities 184 186
Cash flows from investing actmwities
Acquisiton of businesses (net of cash acquired) {26 9) -
Deferred consideration paid on pnor acquisitions (1.8} (7 6)
Earn-out paid on prior penod acguisitions - 03}
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 05 02
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (30) (19
Additions to other intangible assets (33 (1 6}
Net cash used in investing activities (34.5) (11 2)
Cash flows from financing activities
Net proceeds from 1ssue of ordinary share capital 01 01
Net proceeds from placing 248 -
Repayment of ipans under old financing facility (56 1) -
Net drawdown/{repayment) of other loans 506 (11 4)
Net frepayment)/issue of finance leases {o01) 01
Divdends paid to shareholders {7 9) B 0)
Purchase of own shares (o 1) -
Net cash generated/{absorbed) from financing activities 113 (17 2)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (4 8) ©8
Exchange loss on cash and cash equivalents {0 6) {0 8)
Net cash at beginning of year 21.0 314
Net cash at end of year 15.6 210
Cash and cash equivalents 15.9 217
Overdrafts {0.3) 07
Net cash at end of year 156 210

The notes on pages 54 to 82 form part of these accounts
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

General information
Brammer plc 1s a company incorporated and domiciled in the UK, and hsted on the London Stock Exchange The address of the registered
office 1s disclosed on page 24

The prnincipal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below These policies
have been consistently apphed to all the years presented, unless othermse stated

Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted
by the Eurcpean Union (IFRSs as adcpted by the EU), IFRIC interpretations and the Comparnies Act 2006 applicable to companies
reporting under IFRS The financial staternents have been prepared under the histoncal cost convention A summary of the more important
group accounting policies 1s set out below, together with an explanation of where changes have been made to previous policies on
the adoption of new accounting standards in the year

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain key accounting estimates and assumptions
It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the group’s accounting policies The areas invoing
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where the assumptons and estimates are significant to the consoldated financia!
statements are detalled in the financial nsk managerment section Although these estimaies are based on management’s best knowledge
of the amount, events or actions, actual results ultmately may differ from those estmates

New standards, amendments to standards or interpretations
The following new standards, amendments to standards or interpretatons are mandatory for the first tme for the financial year beginning
1 January 2011 They are not relevant or do not have a matenal effect on the group’s financial statements and are as follows

Applicable for financial

Standard or intsrpretation Content years beginning on or after
Amendment |AS 24* Related party disclosures 1 January 2011
IFRIC 14, |1AS 19* Prepayments of a mimmum funding requirement 1 January 2011
IFRIC 19* Extinguishing financial habilities with equity investments 1 July 2010

IAS 327 Classification of nghts 1ssues 1 February 2010
Annual improvements to IFRSs Vanous 1 January 2011

{issued 2010)*

Standards, amendments and interpretations that are not yet effective are as follows
Applicable for financial

Standard or interpretatien Content yaars beginning on or after
IFRS g* Financial instruments Classification and measurement 1 January 2013
Amendment |AS 127 Income Taxes 1 January 2012
IFRS 10 Consolidated financial statements 1 January 2013
IFRS 11* Joint arangements 1 January 2013
IFRS 12* Disclosures of Interests n Other Entities 1 January 2013
IFRS 13* Far Value Measurement 1 January 2013
IAS 19R (revised 2011) Employee benefits 1 January 2013

“These standards are not expected to be relevant to the group

IAS 19R — Emnployee benefits — 15 bkely to have a significant impact on future financial staternents when it 1s adopted Under IAS 19R
the interest cost on the defined benefit obhigation, and the expected rate of return on plan assets, will be replaced with a net interest
charge that is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined llabiity With effect from 1 January 2013 this 1s kely to result
in a ligher charge being recogrised n the mcome statement Management 15 currently assessing the impact of the new requirements
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Group accounting

Subsihanes

Subsidianes are those entiies in which the group has an interest of more than one half of the voting nghts or othermse has power io
govern the financial and operating polcies The existence and effect of potential voting nghts that are presently exercisable or presently
convertible are considered when assessing whether the group controls another entity

Subsidiaries are consohdated from the date on which the group has the abifity to exercise control, and are no longer consolidated from
the date that control ceases The purchase methed of accounting 1s used to account for the acguisihon of subsidianes Inter-company
transactions, balances and unreahsed gains on transactions between group companies are ehminated Unrealsed losses are also
ehminated but considered an impairment of the asset transferred Where necessary, the accounting policies of subsidianes have been
changed in order to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the group

Identfiable assets acquired and labilities and contingent lrabibties assumed in a businegss combination are measured imihially at their far
values at the acquisition date The excess of the cost of acquisiion over the fair value of the group's share of the identifiable net assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each entity in the group are measured using the currency of the pnmary economic environment
in which the entity operates (“the functional currency” The consolidated financial statements are presented in sterling, which is the
functional and presentation currency of the parent

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions
Foreign exchange gains and losses resultng from the settlement of such transacticns and from the translation at year-end exchange
rates of monetary assets and habilities dencminated in feresgn currencies are recognised in the ncame statement, except when deferred
In equity as qualifying net investment hedges

Group companies
Income statements, balance sheets and cash flows of foreign entities are translated into the group’s presentation currency as follows

(a) assets and habilities for each balance sheet are translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet,
{b) income and expenses for each iIncome statement are translated at average exchange rates for the penod, and
(c) all resulting exchange diferences are recegnised as a separate component of equity

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities, and of borrowings designated
as hedges of such investments are taken to a translation reserve wathin shareholders’ equity The exemption under IFRS 1, allowing
these exchange differences to be reset to zero on adoption of IFRS has been utiised When a foreign entty 18 sold, these exchange
differences are recogrused In the income statement as part of the gain or {oss on sale

Goodwill and fair value adjustments ansing on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and lablities of the foreign entity
and translated at the closing rate

Property, plant and equipment
All property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciatton Cost includes the onginal purchase price of the asset
and the costs attnbutable to bnnging the asset to its workung condition for its intended use Finance costs are not Included

Depreciation 1s calculated on the straxght-ine method to wnte off the cost of each asset to ther residual values over therr estimated
useful Iives as follows

Land and buildings

Freehold buldings Indrdually estmated subject to a maximum of 50 years
Leasehold properties The term of the lease subject to a maximum of 50 years
Egquipment 3-10 years

Land 1s not depreciated

Where the carmying amount of an asset 1s greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it i1s wntten down immediately to its recoverable
amount

Gamns and losses on disposals are determined by companng proceeds wath carrying amount and are included in operating profit

Repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement dunng the financial penod in which they are incurred The cost of major
renovations 1s included in the carmang amount of the asset when it 1s probable that future economic benefits in excess of the onginally
assessed standard of performance of the existing asset will low to the group Major renovations are depreciated over the remaming
useiful ife of the related asset
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Intangible assets

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the farr value of the group's share of the net assets of the acquired
subsidiary at the date of acquisition Goodwill on acquisttton of substdianes occumng on or after 1 January 1998 is included in intangible
assets Goodwill on acquisitions that occurred prior to 1 January 1998 has been charged in fullf to retained earnings in shareholders’
equity, such goodwill has not been retrospectively capitalised

Prior to 1 January 2004, {the date of transition to IFRS) goodwill was amortised over its estmated useful ife, such amortisation ceasing
on 31 December 2003 Goodwill ts subject to impairment review, both annually and when there are indicators that the carrying value
may not be recoverable A wnite down 1s made If the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing The allocation 1s made tc those cash-generating
uniis or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business cormbimation N which the goodwill arose, identified
according io operating segment

Acquired intanaibles

Acquired intangibles pnncipally compnse customer relationships recognised as separately identifiable assets on acquisitions They are
carried at far value at the date of acquisition less accumulated amortisation or any impairment loss Customer relationships are
considered to have estimated useful lives of between 5 and 10 years and amortised accordingly

Software development

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred Costs that are directly
associated with identifiable software systems operated by the group and will generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond
one year, are recognised as intangible assets They are carrnied at cost less accumulated amortisation or any smparment loss Direct
costs include staff costs of the software development team and an appropnate portion of direct overheads

Expenditure which enhances or extends the performance of identifiable software systems beyond therr onginal specifications 1s recognised
as a caprtal mprovement and added to the onginal cost of the software Computer software development costs recognised as assets
are amortised using the straight-line method over therr useful Iives, not exceeding a pericd of 7 years

Impairment of long life assets

Property, plant and equipment and other non-current assets, including goodwill and intangible assets are reviewed on an annual basis
to determine whether events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset 1s estimated as either the higher of the asset's net seling pnce or value
in use, the resultant Imparment (the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount) 1s recognised
as a charge in the consolidated income statement

The value In use 1s calculated as the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to result from the use of assets and ther
eventual disposal proceeds In order to calculate the present value of estimated future cash flows the group uses a discount rate based
on the group's estmated weighted average cost of capital, together with any nsk premium determined appropnate Estimated future
cash flows used in the mpaiment calculation represent mangement's best view of the ikely future market conditions and current decisions
on the use of each asset or asset group

For the purpose of assessing imparment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels at which there are separately identifiable cash flows

Finance and operating leases where the group is the lessee

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the group 1s subject to substantially all the nsks and rewards of ownership, are classified
as finance leases Finance leases are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the lower of the farr value of the leased asset or the
present value of the minimum lease payments Each lease payment 1s allocated between the hability and finance charges so as to
achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding The corresponding rental obiigations, net of finance charges, are ncluded
n other payables The property, plant and equipment acguired under finance leases 1s depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of
the asset or the lease term

Leases where a significant portion of the nsks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases
Payments made under operating leases (net of any ncentives receved from the lessor) are charged to the income statement on a
straight-line basis over the penocd of the lease Incentives received are recorded as deferred iIncome and spread over the term of the
lease on a straight ine basis

Where reference 1s made in the annual report and consoldated financial statements to finance leases, this includes hire purchase
agreements

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, determined on a weighted average cost formula, or net realisable value Cost of inventory
represents matenal and a proportion of procurement overheads Prowvisions are made for slow mowving and obsolete tems Net reabsable
value is the estmated selling pnce In the ordinary course of business, less selling expenses
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Trade receivables

Trade recevables are carned at onginal invoice amount less prowision made for mparment of these recevables A prowvision for mpairment
of trade recevables Is established when there 1s objective evidence that the group will not be able to collect all amounts due according
1o the onginal terms of recevables The amount of the prowision 1s the difference between the canying amount and the best estimate
of the amount recoverable

Trade payables
Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are stated at therr nominal value

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are carmed in the balance sheet at cost For the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents compnse
cash i hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly iquid investments wath onginal matunties of three months or
less, and bank overdrafts Bank overdrafts are ncluded within borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet

Deferred consideration

The amounts recogrised for deferred consideration are the directors’ best estirnates of the actual amounts which will be payable Deferred
consideraton 1s discounted at an appropnate nsk-free rate Deferred consideration relates to acquisitions made pnor to the apphcation
date of IFRS 3 (revised) ‘Business combinations' and therefore changes in estimates are reflected in the valuation of goodwill

Employee benefits

Defined Contnbution schemes

A defined contribution plan 1s a pension plan under which the group pays fixed contnbutions inio a separate entity (a fund) and will
have no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contrnibutions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees
benefits relating to employee service in the current and pnor periods Contributions are charged to the income statement in the year
1n which they anse

Defined Benefit schemes
A defined benefit plan 1s a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit to be provided, usually as a function of one or more
factors such as age, years of service or compensation

The operating and financing costs of such plans are recognised separately in the ncome statement, service costs are spread systematically
over the lives of employees and financing costs are recognised in the penods in which they anse Finance costs are ncluded in distnbution
costs

The liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans 1s the present value of the defined benefit obligation
at the balance sheet date less the farr value of plan assets The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries
using the projected unit credit method The present value of the defined benefit obligation 1s determined by the estimated future cash
autflows using interest rates of government secunties, which have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related lliability

Actuanial gains and losses ansing from experience adjustments and changes in actuanal assumptions are charged or credited to equity
In the statement of comprehensive INcome

Curtalment gains in respect of discontinued operations are recognised In the Income statement in the year of disposal

Termination Benefits

Termination benefits are payable whenever an employee’s employment 1s terminated before the norrnal retirement date or whenever
an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits The group recognises termination benefits when it s
demonstrably committed to either terminate the employment of current employees according to a detaled formal plan wathout possibility
of withdrawal or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy Benefits faling due
maore than 12 months after balance sheet date are discounted to present value

Profit shanng and bonus plans
Liabilities for profit sharing and bonus plans are expected to be settled within 12 months and are measured at the amounts expected
1o be pad when they are settled

Share-based payments

The farr values of employee share option and share performance plans are calculated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
model In accordance with IFRS 2, ‘Share-based Payments' the resulting cost 1s charged to the income statement over the vesting
penad of the options and plans The total amount to be expensed over the vesting penod 1s determined by reference to the far value
of the options granted, excluding the impact of any non-market vesting condittons The charge in relation to employee share options
and share performance plans with market vesting conditions 18 calculated using scenano modeling and s the expected outcome of
meeting the performance cntena Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are
expected to vest At each balance sheet date, the value of the charge 1s adjusted to reflect expected and actual levels of options
vesting for changes in non market vesting cntena
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Treasury shares
The cost of the purchase of own shares 1s taken directly to reserves and is included in the profit and loss reserve

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised as the proceeds recewed, net of transaction costs incurred The transachon costs incurred are amortised
over the expected Iife of the faciity Borrowings are classified as current labities unless the group has an unconditional right to defer
seftlement of the llability for at least 12 moenths after the balance sheet date

Current and deferred income tax

Current tax

The current ncome tax charge 1s calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date
In the countrnies where the group's subsidianes and associates operate and generate taxable ncome

Deferred tax

Deferred Income tax I1s prowvided in full, using the balance sheet liability method, on temporary differences ansing between the tax bases
of assets and habilities and therr carrying amounts in the financial statements Current or substantively enacted tax rates are used In
the determination of deferred iIncome tax

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it 1s probable that future taxable profit will be avallable against which the temporary
differences can be utiised

No deferred tax asset or lability 15 recogrised in respect of temporary differences assocrated with Investments in subsidianies, branches,
associates and joint ventures, where the group 1s able to control the timing of reversal of the temporary differences and it 1s probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future

Provisions

Prowvisions for restructunng costs and legal claims are recognised when the group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of past events, 1t 1s probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the abligation, and a reliable estimate of the
amount can be made Restructunng provisions include lease termination penalties and employee termination payments Where the
group expects a provisicn to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the rembursement is recognised as a separate
asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain

Provisions are measured at the best estmate of the amount to be spent and are discounted where matenal

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity Incremental costs directly attnbutable to the 1ssue of new shares or options are shown in equity
as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds

Revenue recognition

Revenue compnses the invoiced value for the sale of goods and services net of value-added tax, customer rebates and discounts, and
after elminating sales within the group Revenue from the sale of goods 1s recognised when significant risks and rewards of ownership
of the goods are transferred to the buyer, which i1s usually on despatch

Dividends

The final dividend 1s recogrised 1n the group's financial statements In the penod n which 1t 1s approved by the group’s shareholders
The intenm dividend 1s recognised when paid

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker
The chief operating decision-maker, who i1s responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments,
has been identified as the Beard

Corporate costs are allocated to segments on the basis of external turnover
Exceptional tems
1AS 1 — 'Presentation of financial statements’ requires material tems of income and expense to be disclosed separately Exceptional

items are items which, 1IN management’s jJudgement, need to be disclosed by virtue of their size or Incidence 1 order for the user to
obtan a proper understanding of the group’s financial performance

58 | Brarnmer plc | Annual Report 2011




FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

1 Financial nsk factors

The group’s activities expose it to a vanety of financial nsks market nsk (including foreign exchange price nsk and cash flow and
interest rate nsk), credit nsk, hquidity nsk The group's overall nsk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the group’s financial performance Risk management 1s camed out by a
central treasury department (group treasury) under policies approved by the board of drectors Group treasury identfies, evaluates
and hedges financial nsks in close co-operation with the group’s operating units The board provides written pnnciples for overall
nsk managernent, as well as wntten policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange nsk, interest-rate nsk, credit nsk, use
of non-dernvative financial instruments, and investing excess hquidity

(@) Market nsk

{t) Foreign exchange nisk and hedging activities

The group operates internationally and 1s exposed to foreign exchange risk ansing from currency exposures, pnimarily with respect to
the Euro and Sterling Forexgn exchange nisk arses primanly from recognised assets and habilities and also net investrments i foreign
operations The group has significant investments in foreign operations, whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency translation
nsk Currericy exposure ansing from the net assets of the group's foreign operations 1s managed pnmarily through hedging borrowings
denominated In fareign currencies against the net assets of foreign operations denominated In the same currencies The group documents
these hedging relationshups at inception and assesses, both at iInception and on an on-going basis, whether they are highly effective
Where the hedges are highly effective, gains or losses on the borrowings are recogrised in equity The gains or losses relating to the
neffective portion are recognised mmediately in the income statement

In 2011 the group did not apply hedge accounting for hedges of exposures ansing from recognised assets and labiities in foreign currency
Foreign operations operate pnmarly in local currency or have minimal net exposure to foreign currencies The impact on revenue and
operating profit of Sterling weakening aganst the Eurc 1s reflected in the segmental analysis {note 1) which shows the results at the
2011 actual average exchange rate (€1 152 £1) and at the 2011 ‘management rate’ (€1 20 £1)

{n) Cash flow and interest rate risk

The group's iIncome and operating cash flows are substantially iIndependent of changes in market interest rates  The group's interest
rate nsk anses from long-term borrowangs  Borrowings issued at vanable rates expose the group to cash flow interest rate nsk Borrowings
issued at fixed rates expose the group to far value interest rate nsk The group has no fixed rate borrowings of greater than six months
nor does It have any fixed rate interest rate swaps The group minimises interest costs using cash pooling and tight management of
working capital

The group seeks to mimmise cash deposits held at banks, surplus cash I1s used to repay external debt The group manage liquidity
with a combination of short term cash forecasts that lock three months forward on a roling basis and identify short term cash surpluses
and requirements Long term cash requirements are identified with a five year financial planning model that uses scenarno based
planning to assess the mpact of the group’s strategic plans on profitabiity and hguidity The Euro yield curve at 31 Decernber 2011
implied an increase N base rate of 1 2% over the course of 2012 An increase of 1 2% applied to the borrowing under the central
facility would result in an increase of approximately £0 5 million In the group's interest expense

(b) Credit nsk
The group has ne significant concentrations of credit nsk It has policies in place to ensure that sales of products are made to customers
with an approprate credit history

(e} Liqurdity nsk
Prudent hquidity nsk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding through an adequate amount of
committed credit facihities Group {reasury aims to maintain flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit ines available

Management mornitors rolling forecasts of the group's iquidity position on the basis of expacted and projected cash flow
Contractual obhgations
The iable below analyses the matunty profile of the group’s financial labilities based on the remaining penod from the balance sheet

date to the contractual matunty date Shori-term creditors, including trade creditors and accruals, are excluded from the analysis as
they are considered to form part of the group's day-to-day operating cycle

At 31 December 2011

Less than 1 year 2-5 years More than 5 years Total

£m £m £m £m

Long term debt obligations (note 14) 30 476 - 50.6
Finance lease oblgations {note 15) 01 02 - 0.3
31 47 8 - 50.9
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At 31 December 2010

Less than 1 year 2-5 years More than 5 years Total

£m m £m Em

Long term debt obligations (note 14) 30 543 - 573
Finance lease obligations {note 15) 02 02 - 04
32 545 - 577

Long term debt obligations compnse the pnncipal amount of borrowangs where the borrowings are drawn down against a facility which
15 avalable for more than one year Under the facility each drawing is a separate utilisation and mterest 1s payable at the matunty of
each utlisation No uthisation 1s made for a penod greater than six months Deferred tax, deferred consideration, and post employment
benefit labilities are not included in the table above Dunng 2010 the group agreed a deficit funding plan with the trustees of the Brammer
Services Limited Retirement Benefit Scheme, which provides for the group to make payments of £2 8 million, indexed for inflation, in
the years 2011 to 2023 inclusive

2 Capital nsk management

The group's objectves when managing capital are to safeguard ris ability to continue as a going concern In order to provide returns
for shareholders and to maintain an cptimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital The group considers the geanng and capital
structure of the business penodically and adjusts as appropnate The placing of 10,535,000 new ordinary shares, representing
approximately 9 9% of the total 1ssued share capital, on 7 September 2011 was made in order to fund the acquisition of the Buck &
Hickman business

The group monitors capital on the basis of headroom against its committed borrowing facilities, compliance with the covenants imposed
by the commuitted borrowing facilities, and the group's ability to raise further equity capital The group was in full compliance wath all ts
financial covenants throughout each of the penods presented In July 2011 the group signed new banking faciities for a five year term
which prevides up to €100 million (£83 9 millon} of debt finance This faciity replaced the previous one which was due to expire n
February 2012 At 31 December 2011 the committed facility 1s €100 milhion (2010 €120 O rmillion)

The group’s headroom aganst its committed facility was as follows
2011 2010

£m £m
Commutted group facility 83.9 1028
Current utiisation 46.4 514
Headroom {note 15} 37.5 514

Under the terms of the facility the group I1s permitted to enter nto up to £21 5 milhon of additional net borrowings outside this tacility

3 Key accounting estimates, judgements and assumptions

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical expenence and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are belleved to be reasonable under the circumstances The group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future The resulting accounting estimates will, by definiion, seldom equal the related actual results The estimates and assumptions
that have a significant risk of causing a matenal adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year are discussed below

(a) estmated impaiment of goodwill

The group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any imparrment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated on page 56
The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on valug-in-use calculations These calculations
require the use of estimates (Note 8)

{b} ncome tax provisions

The group 1s subject to income taxes in numerous junsdictions  Significant judgement ts required in determining the worldwide prowvision
for ncome taxes There are many transactions and calculations for which the ulimate tax determination 1s uncertain dunng the ordinary
course of business The group recognises liabiities for anticipated tax audit Issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will
be due Where the final tax outcome of these matters 1s different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax prowvisions in the penod in which such determinaton 1s made

(c) determination of deferred consideration payable

The level of deferred consideration recognised in respect of acquisitions 1s subject to continual evaluation by the directors Any subsequent
revision to the amounts recognised will have no impact on the group's results as those adjustments will be reflected In the carmying
value of goodwill [Note 17}

{d) retirement benefit obhgations

The present value of the pension obligattons depends on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a number
of assumptions The assumptions used In determining the net expense for pensions INclude the discount rates Any changes in these
assumptions will impact the carrying amount of retrement benefit obligations Note 27 detalls the actuanal assumptions used in
determining the carmying amount at 31 December 2011
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1 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS

The Board has been identified as the chief operating decision-maker The Board reviews the group's nternal reporting as the basis for
assessing performance and allocating resources Management has determined the operating segments based on these reports The
group Is pnmarly controlled on a country by country basis, in Ine with the legal structure, and accordingly the operating segments are
unchanged from those previously reported

The group’s internal reporting Is pnmanty based on performance reports run at ‘management’ exchange rates - exchange rates which
are set at the beginning of each year For 2011 the management rate used was €1 20 £

Accordingly the segment information below 1s shown at the ‘management’ exchange rates with the exchange effect being a reconciting
term between the segment resutts and the totals repeorted in the financial statements at actual exchange rates The management rate
applies to ncome statement, balance sheet and cash flows

The Board assesses the performance of the operating segments based on therr underlying operating profit, which comprises profit
before interest and taxation, excluding amortsation of acquired intangibles and non-recurnng or exceptional tems such as restructunng
costs and mpairments when the impairment is the result of an isolated, non-recurnng event

Segment assets include property, plant and equipment, other intangible assets, inventones, and trade and other recewvables All inter-
segmental trading 15 on an arms-length basis

Year ended 31 December 2011 - Continuing operations

Qther

Castern aperating
UK Gemany France Span Benalux Europa segments Total
£m £m £m £m £m em £€m £m
Revenue
Total revenue 1934 1187 855 438 509 569 180 567.2
Inter company sales 29 32 {10) 09 {17} 01 03 (10.1)
Sales to external customers 1905 1155 B4 5 429 492 56 8 177 557.1
Exchange effect 14.4
Total sales to external customers 571.5
Underlying operating profit 94 78 40 33 26 386 02 30.9
Exchange effect 0.9
Total underlying operating profit 3t8
Amortisation of acquired intangibles 1.3
Exceptional operating items (3.2)
Total operating profit 27.3
Finance expense (2.9}
Finance ncome 0.1
Profit before tax 24.5
Tax {6.2)
Profit for the year 18.3
Segment assets 932 278 311 153 223 285 a7 226.9
Exchange effect 0.6
227.5
Goodwill 895
Acquired intangibles 3.8
Cash 15.9
Deferred tax 7.0
Total assets 343.7
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1 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS

Other
Eastern operating
UK Germany France Span Benelux Eurcpe segments Total
m £m £m £m fm £m Jag)] £m
Other segment items
Capital expenditure
- intangble assets Q1 a1 Q2 at a3 - 25 33
— property, plant and eqguipment 10 [0 02 04 04 06 01 2.9
Exchange effect 0.1
Total capital expenditure 6.3
Amortisation/depreciation
—intangible assets 1) 0 1) - {01} {0 1) - 12) (1.6)
- property, plant and equipment 09 02 03) 0 3) (04} [(0X)] 03 (2.8)
Exchange effect -
Total amortisation and depreciation (4.4)
Year ended 31 December 2010 — Continuing operations
Other
Eastern operating
UK Germany France Span Benelux Europe segments Total
£m £Em £m £m £m £m £m £m
Revenue
Total revenue 1440 1022 751 390 451 473 16 4 469 1
Inter company sales {25 29 (12) {0 9) {16) {0 3) {0 8) (10 Q)
Sales to external customers 1415 993 739 381 435 470 158 459 1
Exchange effect 93
Total sales to external customers 468 4
Underlying cperating profit 65 54 28 28 25 23 02 225
Exchange effect 05
Total underlying operating profit 230
Amorbisation of acquired intangibles (13)
Total operating profit 217
Finance expense (2 5)
Finance income 01
Profit before tax 193
Tax 5 9)
Profit for the year 138
Segment assets 438 24 6 270 165 214 236 79 164 8
Exchange effect 38
168 6
Goodwill 748
Acquired intangibles 53
Cash 217
Deferred tax 64
Total assets 276 8
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1 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS

Cther

Eastern operating

UK Germany France Spain Bengux Europe segments Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m em
Other segment items
Capital expenditure
- ntangible assets - a1 - - o1 - 13 15
- property, plant and equipment 02 02 06 Q1 01 04 03 19
Exchange eflect 01
Total capital expenditure 35
Amortisation/depreciation
- intangible assets - - 01) - o1 - {09) (1 1}
- property, plant and equipment {11) ©2 03 {0 4) {0 4) (0 4) 0 3) (3 1}
Exchange efiect {0 1}
Total arnortisation and depreciation 4 3

The table below detalls the ‘management rate’ used and the actual exchange rates used for the pnmary exchange rate of Stering to

Euro for the year and the comparative year

2011 2010
Management rate €1.20 €120
Actual average rate €1.152 €1 165
Year end rate €1.192 €1 167
An analysis of goodwill by operating segment is included in note 8
2 FINANCE EXPENSE AND INCOME
2011 2010
£m £m
Finance expense
Bark overdrafts and short term borrowings 0.5 06
Loans 2.1 186
Finance leases 0.2 Q1
Deferred consideration — unwinding of discount 0.1 Q2
2.9 25
Finance income
Bank and other short term deposits {0 1) Q1)
28 24
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3 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

2011 2010
£m £m

The following items have been included in arrving at profit before taxation
Staff costs {see note 24) 104.1 862
Cost of Inventones recognised as an expense and included in cost of sales (see note 10) 396.3 3244
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
— Owned assets 2.7 30
-~ Under finance leases 0.1 a2z
Amortisation of software development {included in distribution costs) 1.6 11
Amortisation of acquired Intangibles [shown separately on the faca of the Incoma statement) 13 13
Operating leases on property, plant and equipment 10.6 95
Reparrs and maintenance expenditure on property, plant and equipment 0.9 07
Trade receivables imparment 0.5 05
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 0.3) -
Net exchange gans 0.4 01
Auditor remuneration
Services provided by the company’s auditors and associates
Fees payable for audit of parent company and consolidated financial statements 0.1 01
Fees payable for other services
Auditing of accounts of associates of the company pursuant to legislation

(including that of countries and terntones outside Great Britan 0.3 02
Tax serices - 01
Qther services 0.1 -

4 EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

Followng the acquisiton of the Buck & Hickman business on 30 September 2011 the following related charges have been incurred

and are considered to be exceptional items

> a programme has been announced of co-locating branches in those areas in the UK where Buck & Hickman and Brammer UK
each have a branch in close proximity to one another In some locations both businesses will relocate to one new branch in order
to operate efiiciently Accordingly, a provision has been established for these branch co-location costs The pnncipal elements of
these charges will be costs incurred in the early termination of existing leases together with the costs of refurbishing existing and

new premises,

> the profile and levels of stockholding in Brammer's tools & general maintenance product portfolio has been reviewed to identify
brands and product lines no longer considered core 1o the combined business's future trading strategy with these stocks being

wntten down to therr estimated net realisable value, and

> areorgarisation of certain senior sales management roles to focus on extending the group's sales of tocls & general mantenance

products across Europe This includes the cost of setthing employment contracts and other related social benefit charges

Acguisiion costs of £0 5 million were mcurred which are also included as an exceptional cost

2011
£m

Included in operating profit
Branch co-location costs o8
Acquisition costs 0.5
Stock written down 0.4
Headcount and other related costs 1.5
Total exceptional items 3.2

There were no excepiional itams in 2010
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5 TAXATION
2011 2010
£m £m
Current tax
Current year {6.5) 43
Pnor year (0.8) 06)
7.3) 49
Deferred tax (note 18)
Current year 0.3 (09
Prior year 0.8 03
11 {0 6}
Taxation (62} {5 5
Tax on items taken to equity
Deferred tax on share-based payments 06 -
Current tax on pension schemes' movements o8 01
Deferred tax on pension schemes’ movements 0.1 21)
Current tax relief on share awards vesting 0.1 -
Deferred tax on exchange movements posted to reserves - o1
Factors affecting the tax charge for the period
The effective tax rate for the perod of 25 42% s lower than the standard rate of corporation tax in the United Kingdom
The differences are explained below
2011 2010
£m £m
Profit on ordinary activities before tax 24.5 193
Profit on ordinary actvities multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax
In the UK of 26 5% (2010 28 0%) (6.5) {54
Effects of
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 04 (0 6)
Reduction in contingent tax hablities o8 08
Different tax rates on overseas earnings 01) -
Adjustments In respect of previous penods 01 03)
Impact of change In tax rate [t} -
Total taxation {6.2) {5 5)
Overall effective tax rate for the year 25.4% 28 4%

The June 2010 budget staterment announced a reduction in the standard rate of UK corporation tax from 28% to 24% phased in over
four years at 1% per annum from Apnl 2011 In the March 2011 budget an additional 1% reducton was announced so that the standard
rate of UK corporaticn tax became 26% from April 2011, reducing at 1% per annum to a rate of 23% 10 2014

The change in the corporation tax rate from 26% to 25% wath effect from 1 Apnl 2012 was enacted in the Finance Act 2011 and as a
result UK deferred tax balances have been re-measured to the enacted rate of 25% A delerred tax charge of £0 1 milion has been

recognised in the perod in respect of this
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6 DIVIDENDS

2011 2010
£m £m
Final 2010 paid July 2011 4 50p {Final 2009 3 60p) per 20p share 4.8 38
Intenm 2011 paid November 2011 2 70p (Intenm 2010 2 10p) per 20p share 3.1 22
7.9 60

In addition the directors are proposing a final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 Decemnber 2011 of 5 7p per share that
will absorb an estimated £6 7 million of shareholders” funds It wilt be paid on 3 July 2012 to shareholders on the register of members
on 8 June 2012

7 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share 15 calculated by dividing the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number
of ordinary shares outstanding dunng the year, excluding those held in the ermployee share trust which are treated as cancelled

For difuted earnings per share, the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue I1s adjusted to assume conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares The only class of potentially dilutive ordinary shares are the company’s ordinary shares contingently issuable
under the group’s long term incentive plan

Recenciliations of the earnings and weighted average number of shares used in the calculations are set out below

2011
Earnings Earnings per share Earmngs per share
£m

Basic Diluted
Weighted average number of shares in 1ssue ("000) 109,019 111,759
Total
Profit for the financial year 18.3 16.8p 16 4p
Amortisation of acquired intangibles 1.3
Exceptional items 32
Tax on exceptional items (09)
Tax on amortsation of acquired intangibles (03)
Earnings before amortisation of acquired intangibles and exceptional iterns 216 19 8p 18 3p

The weighted average number of shares in the year reflects the mpact of shares 1ssued as a result of the placing on 7 September
2011 (10,535,000 ordinary shares 1ssued)

2010
Earnings Earnings per share Earnings per share
£m Basic Diluted
Weighted average number of shares i 1ssue {'000) 106,290 106,290
Total
Profit for the financial year 138 13 0p i30p
Amortisation of acquired intangbles 13
Tax on amortisation of acquired intangibles ©3)
Earnings before amertisation of acquired intangibles 148 13 9p 13 9p
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8 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill Acquired Intangibies Other - Softwara development
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
fm £m £m fm £m Em
Cost
At 1 January 748 766 9.8 ag 13.4 121
Exchange adjustrments {2.2) 2 1) (0.5) 0 1} 0.2) 0 3)
Additions 8.8 03 - — 33 16
Acquisitions 8.1 - - - 1.5 -
Disposals - - - - (0.1) -
At 31 December 895 748 9.3 a8 17.9 13 4
Impairment and amortisation
At 1 January - - 4.5 33 8.5 75
Exchange adjustments - - (03) {01} (0.2) 01
Charge for the year - - 13 13 1.6 11
Acquisitions - - - - 0.1 -
Disposals - - - - {0.1) -
At 31 December - - 5.5 45 9.9 85
Net book value
At 31 December 89.5 748 38 53 8.0 49

Additions to goodwill reflect the accrual of earn-out habilities, of £8 8 mullion, relating to the performance of acquisitions made in 2007
and 2008, following recovery from the recession in 2009, a second year of strong performance, and the proximity of the end of the
qualfying penods for earn-cut

Acquisitions reflect the goodwill ansing on the Buck & Hickman business (note 23 below) Farr values are provisional, however, and the
goodwill ansing on the acquistion will be finalised in the penod to 30 June 2012

The sxercise to separately identify the intangible asseis acguired with the Buck & Hickman business 1s currently in progress and the
resulting values will be reflected in the 2012 intenm accounts

Acquired intangibles principally compnise customer relationships which are considered to have estimated useful ives of between 5
and 10 years

The amortisation of software development expenditure has been charged in distnbution costs

Goodwill s carned at cost less amortisation to the date of transition effective 1 January 2004, subject to review for potential imparment
In accordance with 1AS 36 Imparrment of Assets imparrment testing has been carned out by comparng goodwill plus associated
operaling assets with the expecled value in use, calculated as the net present value of discounted future cash flows expected to be
denved from the assets

Goodwill 1s allocated to the group's cash generating units defined as the geographical spht of countnies in which the group operates
An operating segment-level summary of the goodwill allocation 1s presented below

2011 2010
£m £m

UK 17.0 53
France 4.8 49
Germany 34.0 347
Spain 5.2 53
Benelux 7.7 79
Eastern Europe 145 103
Other operating segments 6.3 64
89.5 748

The expected vadue In use has been calculated using assumptions ansing from management's data and metncs used on an engoing
basis These assumptions reflect management’s past expenence ansing from the application of the group strategy
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8 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Key assumptions are

> The cash generating operating units are defined according to the country of operation and refated goodwill has been allocated on
this basis

> The recoverable amount for each cash gererating operating unit has been determined based on a value in use calculation using
approved pre-tax budgets for 2012 Profit and cashflow data beyond this penod has been extrapolated using forecast growth rates
that are based on long term GDP growth rates pertinent to the country where the cash generating operating unit resides

> A nominal pre-tax weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”) of 12 52% (2010 10 15%) has beenused to discount future cashflows
Although based cn a company specific WACC 1t has been adjusted to reflect higher long tarm financing costs than the company
currenily expenences The nomnal WACC has been adjusted for tax and inflation rates in each of the countries that the company
currently operates

> There are no Indicators of imparment Sensitivity tests have been run These show that for cash generating units significantly matenal
to the business a 15% increase in the WACC would be required to result in any indicator of mpairment Decreasing budgsted
trading profit by 30% would not indicate an impairment for any significantly materal cash generating urits

9 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

20114 2010
Land and Land and
builldings Equipment Total buldngs Equipment Total
£m £m £m £m £m m
Cost
At 1 January 134 331 46.5 133 336 469
Exchange adjustments {0.3) {0 6) (0.9) {01) © 6) 07)
Additions 06 24 3.0 01 18 19
Acquisitions 31 28 59 - - -
Reclassification - - - 01 ©n -
Disposals © 1) {22) {2.3) - (16) (1 6)
At 31 December 167 365 522 134 331 46 5
Depreciation
At 1 January 76 27.9 35.5 71 273 34 4
Exchange adjustments {0.1) {0 5) {0.6) {01) [(eF5)] {0 6)
Charge for the year o6 22 2.8 05 27 32
Acquisitions 1.5 1.3 2.8 - - -
Reclassification - - - 01 ©cmn -
Disposals - {2.1) {2.1) - (15) {15)
At 31 DBecember 96 288 384 76 279 355
Net book value
At 31 December 7.1 67 13.8 58 52 10
2011 2010
£m £m

At 31 Decermber
Assets held under finance leases (land and bulldings and equipment included above)

Cost 14 15
Depreciation {0.9) 09)
05 06
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10 INVENTORIES

The group consumed £396 3 millon (2010 £324 4 mulion) of inventory during this penod

Finished goods inventories of £20 9 miflon (2010 £71 3 mullion) comprise entirely goods for resale
milion (2010 £3 7 millon} are carned at far value less costs to sell being lower than cost

11 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Finished goods inventories of £5 5

2011 2010
£fm £m
Amounts due within one year

Trade recevables 1126 814
Prowvision for impairment of recevables (3.3) 27
Net trade debtors 1093 787
Other debtors 2.4 12
Prepayments and accrued tncome 31 15
1148 814

The movement in the prowsion for impairment of recevables is analysed as follows
2011 2010
£m £m
At 1 January 27 35
Exchange adjustments o1 ©1)
Income statement charge included In distnbution costs 0S5 05
Acquisitions 0.6 -
Recovered (0 3) 02
Written off {as uncollectable) 0 1) (10
3.3 27

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade recevables are imited due to the group’s customer base being large and unrelated
Accordingly, management consider that no further credit nsk provision 1s required above the current provision for impairment

Certan European subsidianes of the group transferred recewvable balances amounting to €5 0 milien (£4 2 milkon) (2010 €4 4 muilion,
£3 8 million) to banks, under bills of exchange without recourse, 1IN exchange for cash at the year end 31 December 2011

12 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2011 2010

fm £m

Cash at bank and in hand 15.8 197
Short term bank deposits 01 20
15.9 217

Cash and cash equivalents compnse cash in hand and deposits which are readly convertible to known amounts of cash and which
are subject to insignificant nsk of changes in value and have an onginal maturity of three months or less at acquisttion
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13 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2011 2010
£m £m
Trade creditors 97.0 745
Other taxes and social secunty 9.6 67
Cther creditors 0.3 03
Accruals 22.0 128
128.9 943
14 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES - BORROWINGS
2011 2010
£m £m
Current
Unsecured bank and other borrowings 03 o7
Unsecured loans less than one year 30 30
Finance lease commitments due within one year 0.1 01
3.4 38
Non-current
Unsecured bank loan repayable
Between one and two years 20 529
Between two and five years 45.6 14
Qwver five years - 01
47.6 54 4
Finance lease commitments
Between one and two years 0.1 01
Between two and five years 0.1 01
Owver five years - -
0.2 02
47.8 54 6

Bank loans are denominated prnmarily in Euros and bear interest based on Euro LIBOR The effective interest rate on bank borrowings
for the year to 31 December 2011 was 4 5% {year to 31 December 2010 4 3%)

In July 2011 the company entered into a five year revolving multicurrency credit finance facility which prowvided for borrowings of €100 0
million, replacing the previous facility which was due to expire in February 2012 This faciity can be drawn until it expires on 30 June
2016 The amount of finance avaitable under this factity as at 31 December 2011 was €100 0 milion {£83 9 milion)

15 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Fair values of financial liabilibes

The group has mainly euro denominated borrowings which it has designated as a hedge of the net investment in its subsidianes in
continental Europe The farr value of these eurc borrowings at 31 December 2011 was £39 4 mullon (2010 £51 4 milion) The foreign
exchange gain of £0 8 million (2010 gamn of £1 @ midllon) on the translation of these borrowings into sterling at the closing exchange
rate has been recognised In the translation reserve

Where market values are not avalable, far values of financial assets and habilties have been calculated by discounting expected cash
flows at prevading interest rates and by applying year end exchange rates The carrying amounts of short-term borrowings approximate
to book value and there are no significant differences between the book value and farr valus of non-current borrowings
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15 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Maturity of financial habilities
The matunty profile of the carrying value of the group's non-current liabiliies was as follows

Finance Deferred

Debt leases consideration Total
£m Em £m £m

At 31 December 2011
In more than one year but not more than two years 20 {0 1) 386) 57
In more than two years but not more than five years 45 8) 1) - (45 7)
In more than five years - - - -
{47.6) 0.2) {3.6) {51.4}

At 31 December 2010
In more than one year but not more than two years 52 9 01) - {53 0)
In more than two years but not more than five years (14) 01) - {15)
In more than five years o1 - - 1)
(54 4) 02 - (54 6)

The group's financial labilities are all at floating rates and compnse drawn Sterling and Euro bank faciities which are mainly central
multi-currency commitied lnes The unutilised portion of these central commutted ines amounts to £37 5 million (2010 £51 4 mulion)
which s available to the group up to 30 June 2016 and carnes interest based on currency LIBOR

Minimum lease payments
The minimum lease payments under finance leases fall due as follows

2011 2010

£m £m

Not later than one year 0.1 o2

Later than one year but not more than five years 0.2 02

More than five years - -

0.3 04

Future finance charges on finance leases - -

Book value of finance lease llabilities 0.3 04
16 PROVISIONS

2011 2010

Restructunng Other Total Total

£m £m £m £€m

At 1 January 07 02 0.9 25

Exchange adjustment - - - ©1

Charged to the income statement in the year 11 - 1.1 -

Utiised in the year c7) - 0.7) (1 5)

At 31 December 11 02 1.3 0¢g
Amounts faling due

Within ona year 13 Q7

In more than one year but not mare than two years - Q2

Total 1.3 Q9

The opening balance on the restructunng prowision compnised the residual £0 7 million of costs relating to the restructunng provision
establshed at 31 December 2009, of which a further £0 4 million was utilsed dunng the year The charge to the income statement in
2011 prnncipally comprises the estimated costs of co-locating existing Brammer UK and Buck & Hickman branches as descnbed in
note 4 above This provision 1s expected to be utlised within one year Other provisions relate to warranty claims for the disposal of a
discontinued business The date for notification of any clams under the warranty expired in 2010
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17 DEFERRED CONSIDERATION AND EARN OUT PAYABLE

2011 2010
£m £m
At 1 January 8.0 156
Exchange adjustments {0.7) 02
Accrual of earn-outs payable 8.8 -
Unwinding of discount 0.1 02
Paid (1.8} (7 6)
At 31 December 144 80
Amounts falling due
Within one year 10.8 80
In more than one year but not more than two years 3.6 -
Total 14.4 80

The amounts recognised on acquisition are management’s best estimates of the amounts which will be payable Both the amounts
and the timing of luture payments are uncertain as they are dependent upen the future performance of the businesses acquired As
descnbed in note 8 above an accrual of £8 8 million has been reflected recognising the best estimate of earn-outs itkely to be payable
following a second year of strong performance by businesses acqured in 2007 and 2008

18 DEFERRED TAX

2011 2011 20114 2014 2011 2011
Accelerated Pension Share-based Tax
capital alowances fiabnlity payments losses Prowvisions Total
£m £€m £Em £em £m £m
Assets
At 1 January 14 42 - o8 - 64
Exchange adjustment 02 - - - - 0.2
Acquisitions 02} - - - - 02
Taken to equity - 01 08 - - 0.7
Income statement charge 01 01 o5 04 - {0.1)
At 31 Decernber 13 42 11 04 - 7.0
Liabilittes
At 1 January - - - - 9 7) 97)
Income statement credit - - - - 12 1.2
At 31 December - - - - {8 5} (8.5)
2011 2010
m £m
Net total
At 1 January 33 {0 6)
Exchange adjustment a2 a1
Acquisitions {02 -
Taken to equity 0.7 {22)
Income statement credit/{charge) 11 (©8)
At 31 December {1.5) {33)
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18 DEFERRED TAX

Deferred tax 15 calculated in full on temporary differences under the hability method using a tax rate applicable to the relevant junsdiction

Deferred tax assets have been recognised in full on taxable losses and provisions where realisation of the tax benefit from these tems
Is probable

The deferred tax on losses not recogmsed amounts to £2 0 mullkion

No defarred tax 1s recogrised on the unremitted earnings of overseas subsidianes and associates as there will be no additonal habiity
arising on repatnation to the UK

Based on current capital mvestment plans, the group expects to be able to claim capital allowances in excess of depreciation in future
years at a smilar level to the current year

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities (pror to the offsetting of balances within the same junsdiction as parmitted by IAS)
dunng the period are shown above Deferred tax fallng due after more than one year amounts to £1 5 milion (2010 £3 3 million)

19 CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL

2011 2010
Number Number
Ordinary shares of 20p each
Allotted, called up and fully pasd
At 31 December 116,944,074 106,361,185

Resolution One passed at the Gensral Meeting held on 28 October 2009 removed the mit on the company on its ability to 1Ssue
shares Accordingly the company has no limit on authonsed share capital (2010 no limut)

Placing

On 7 September 2011 the company issued 10,535,000 new ordinary shares at 240p per share through a placing with institutional
nwestors, representing approxirnately 9 9% of the total 1Issued share capital Net proceeds were £24 8 million, being gross proceeds
onssue of £25 3 million less expenses of £0 5 milion

Ordinanly, the excess of the net proceeds over the nominal value of the share capital 1Issued would be credited to a non-distributable
share premium account However, the placing was effected through a structure which resulted in the excess of the net proceeds over
the nominal value of the share capital being recognised within retained earnings under section 612 of the Companies Act 2008

The placing shares rank pan passu in all respects with the existing 1ssued shares

Purchase of own shares

Dunng the year the company acquired 75,447 of its own shares of 20p each through the Brammar pic Employee Share Ownership
Trust (“the Trust”) The total amount paid to acquire the shares was £122,982 which has been deductad from shareholders’ equity
The shares are held by the Trust to meet vestings under the group’s performance share plans and share matching plans Tranches of
these plans vested durng the penod and 88,567 shares were transferred to directors and semor managers n order to meet vestings
under these plans

At 31 December 2011 the Trust held a total of 208,121 shares in the company i order to meet part of the company's habilites under
the performance share plans and share matching plans The Trust deed contains a wawer provision in respect of these shares

Ordinary shares 1ssued
Options exercised during the penod under the group's employee share option schemes resulted in 56,393 erdinary 20p shares being
1ssued with exercise proceeds of £54,717
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20 SHARE BASED PAYMENTS

Moverments on share options and plans during the year were as follows

1 January Exercised/ 31 Dacember  Date from which
Price per share 2011 Granted vested Lapsed 2011 exercisabla Expiry date

Executive share option schemes
1995 scheme

366p 432 - - (432) = i6 Mar 2004 16 Mar 2011
102p 30,906 - - - 30,906 7 Oct 2008 7 Oct 2013
90p 28,330 - {10,305) - 18,025 15 Apr 2007 15 Apr 2014
99 5p 131,847 - (25,058) - 106,589 6 Sep 2007 6 Sep 2014
1997 scheme

366p 3,745 - - (3,745) - 16 Mar 2004 16 Mar 2011
102p 5,151 - 5,151) - - 7 Oct 20086 7 Oct 2013
90p 13,921 - - - 13,921 15 Apr 2007 15 Aprz014
99 5p 17,970 - (15,879) - 2,091 6 Sep 2007 6 Sep 2014
Total 232,102 - (56,383) {4,177) 171,532

Performance share plan

Op 282,010 - - (282,010) - Spring 2011

Op 180,960 - - (180,966} - Autumn 2011

Op 1,364,822 - - - 1,354,822 Spnng 2012

Op 437,839 - - (13,134) 424,705 Auturmn 2012

Op 1,024,168 - - - 1,024,168 Spnng 2013

Op 409,873 - - (22,795) 387,078 Autumn 2013

Op - 491,619 - - 491,619 Spnng 2014

Op - 302,153 - (1,191} 300,962 Autumn 2014

Total 3,689,678 793,772 - (500,096} 3,983,354

Share matching plan

Op 336,779 - (88,567) (248,212} - Spnng 2011

Op 060,278 - - - 960,278 Spnng 2012

Op 551,619 - - {10,468} 541,151 Spnng 2013

Op - 375,629 - (5,072) 370,557 Spnng 2014

Total 1,848,676 375,629 (88,567) {263,752) 1,871,986

Total 5,770,456 1,169,401 (144,960} {768,025) 6,026,872

Details of the terms of the Executive Share Option Scheme ("ESQS") Performance Share Plan {*"PSP"} and Share Matching Ptan {(“SMP7)
are disclosed in the remuneration report
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20 SHARE BASED PAYMENTS

In accordance with IFRS2, the far value of equity-settled share-based payments to employees 1s determined at the date of grant and
1s expensed on a straight line basis over the vesting penod based on the group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest A charge
of £2 0 milion (2010 no charge) was recognised in the year in respect of employee share based payment plans as the maximum
performance targets have been achieved The plans all comprise equity-settled share based transactions The far value 1s measured
using a Black-Scholes pneing model Previously the TSR conditons have beéen disregarded on the basis of matenality and treated in
the same way as a non-market based performance condition, for 2011 awards the far value has been calculated using scenanc-modeltng
and 1s the expected outcormes of meeting the performance crntena The farr value per opton granted and the assumptions used in the

calculations are as follows

Share Matching Plan

Performance Shara Plan

Awards granted in the year ended 31 December 2011
Grant date

Share pnce at grant date

Exercise pnce

Number of shares under option (initial grans)
Vesting Peniod {years)

Expected Volatility

Expected option ife (years)

Risk free rate

Expected dividend vield

Possibilty of ceasing employment before vesting
Expectation of meeting performance criteria

Farr value per option

18 March 2011
275 25p
n/a
375,629
3

056

3

165

2 40
10%
100%
256p

16 March 2011
268 Op
n/a
491,619
3

056

3

161
246
10%
100%
249p

12 September 2011

275p
n/a
302,153
3
055
3
074
262
10%
100%
254p

Share Matching Plan

Performance Share Plan

Awards granted in the year ended 31 December 2010
Grant date

Share price at grant date

Exercise price

Number of shares under option (initial grant)
Vesting Period (years)

Expected Volatiity

Expected option Ife {years)

Risk free rate

Expected dividend yield

Possibilty of ceasing employment before vesting
Expectation of meeting performance critenia

Fair value per option

06 April 2010
129 5p
n/a
551,619
3

056

3

192
425
10%
100%
114p

17 March 2010
120 5p
na
1,024,168
3

Q56

3

188

478

10%
100%
100p

18 August 2010
171p
n/a
409,873
3

058

3

122
333
10%
100%
156p

The expected volatiity 1s based on historical volatility over the last three years The expected Iife 1s the average expected penod to
exercise The nsk free rate of return is the yield on zero-coupon UK Government bonds of a term consistent with the assumed option life
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20 SHARE BASED PAYMENTS

A reconciiation of option and plan movements over the year to 31 December 2011 1s shown below

2011 2011 2010 2010
Weighted average Weighted average
exarcise pﬂGO ExXercise prce
Number Pence Number Panca
Share option and savings refated schemes
Qutstanding at 1 January 232,102 103 422 883 151
Exercised {56,393) 98 (75,597) 100
Lapsed 4,177} 366 {115,184) 280
Qutstanding at 31 December 171,532 a8 232,102 103
Exercisable at 31 December 171,532 - 232,102 103
Performance share plan
Cutstanding at 1 January 3,689,678 - 3,418,045 -
Granted 793,772 - 1,434,041 -
Lapsed {500,096) - (447,612) -
Rights 1ssue adjustment - - {714,796) -
Outstanding at 31 December 3,983,354 - 3,689,678 -
Exercisable at 31 December - - - -
Share matching plan
Qutstanding at 1 January 1,848,676 - 1,853,914 -
Granted 375,629 - 551,619 -
Vested (88,567) - (58,629) -
Lapsed (263,752} - (498,228) -
Qutstanding at 31 December 1,871,986 - 1,848,676 -
Exercisable at 31 December - - - -
2011 2011 2011 2010 2010 2010
Welghted average Weighted average
Range of exercise prices Weighted average remaining life  Weighted average remaining Iifa
{exclucing performance share exercise price Number Contractual EXEICISH price Number of Contractual
plan and share matching plan) Pence of shares years Pance shares years
ip - 100p 973 140,626 26 97 4 191,868 36
100p - 200p 102.0 30,906 1.8 1020 36,057 28
200p — 300p - - - - - -
300p - 400p - - - 366 0 4,177 02
21 RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH TO MOVEMENT IN NET DEBT
2011 2010
fm £m
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents {4.8) @ 8)
Nat decrease in borrowings 5.6 113
0.8 15
Exchange 0.6 17
Movement in net debt 1.4 32
Neat debt at 1 January {36.7) (39 9)
Net debt at 31 December {35.3) (367)
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22 CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

2011 2010
£m £m
Net profit 18.3 138
Tax charge 6.2 55
Depreciation/amortisation of tangible and intangible assets 5.7 56
Share options — value of employee services 2.0 -
Gain on disposal of tangible and intangible assets {0.3} -
Financing expense 28 24
GChanges in working capital
{excluding the effect of exchange movements and fair value adjustments)
Increase In inventory {9.0} (2 1)
Increase in trade and other recevables (11.8) (11 4)
Increase n trade and other payables and prowsions 14.3 123
Cash generated from operations after exceptional items 28.2 261

23 ACQUISITIONS

The group completed the purchase of the business and assets of Buck & Hickman from Trawvis Perkins plc on 30 September 2011 for a
total cash consideration of £26 9 mullion on a debt-free, cash-free basis From the date of acquisition to 31 Decemnber 2011 the business
contnbuted £26 5 millon to revenue and £0 6 million to profit after tax

The residual excess over the net assets acquired 1s recognised as goodwill in the financial staterments

Acquisition of Buck & Hickman business

Caryng values Provisional

pre acquisition far value

m £m

Intangible assets 149 14
Property, plant and equipment 31 31
Inventones 18 130
Recewables 238 238

Payables (22 3) (22 3)

Taxation

- deferred - 02
313 188

Net assets acquired 188
Goodwll 81
Consideration wholly satisfied in cash 269

The farr value adjustments contain some provisional amounts which will be finalised in the 2012 intenm accounts

The farr values are provisional pending the calculation of the farr values of the intangible assets acquired The far value adjustment to
Inventones 1s to bring the valuation of procurement overhead cost included withuin nventones i ine with the group's accounting policy

The goodwill recogrised above includes certain intang:ble assets that cannot be separately idenufied and measured due to therr nature
The acquisition prowides significant opportunities for further development of the group’s growth strategy Such opportunity and the
assembled workforce inherent in the acquired business cannot be measured as separately identifiable intangible assets The goodwill
recognised s not deductible for tax purposes

Acquisition costs of £0 5 milion were incurred which are disclosed wathin exceptional items in the income statement Costs of £0 5
milion ansing from a share placing to raise funds for the acquisition have been deducted from distnbutable reserves Further detals of
the share placing are given in note 18
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23 ACQUISITIONS

The outfiow of cash and cash equivalents on the acquisition of the Buck & Hickman business I1s calculated as follows

£m
Cash consideration 26.9
Acquisition related costs — charged to income statement as exceptional 0.5

27.4

The estimated results of operations for the group, as if the above acquisition had been made at the beginning of the year are as follows
2011

£m
Revenue 650.0
Profit after tax 20.0

This information Is not necessanly iIndicative of the resuits of operations that would have occurred had the purchase been made at the
beginning of the penod presented or the future results of the combined operations

24 EMPLOYEES AND KEY MANAGEMENT

2011 2010

£m Em
Staff costs for the group dunng the year
Wages and salanes 82.3 69 3
Social securty costs 18.2 146
Pension costs 1.6 23
Equity settled share-based payments 20 -
104.1 862
Number Number
Average number of employees, including executive directors
UK 1,000 841
Germany 428 410
France 325 326
Spain 216 216
Benelux 208 207
Eastern Europe 346 333
Other 69 67
2,592 2,400
2011 2010
£m £m
Key management compensation
Short term employee benefits 4.6 41
Post employment benefits 0.2 01
Equity settled share-based payments 2.0 -
6.8 42

The key management figures shown above include all the directors together with members of the Brammer executive team as detailed

on pages 22 and 23
2011 2010

£m £m

Drirectors

Aggregate emoluments 1.5 14

Aggregate amounts receivable under long-term incentive schemes 0.7 -
2.2 14

Details of directors' pension entittements, together wath details of benefits accrued on service completed up to 28 February 2006 under
the defined benefit scheme which was closed to future accrual at that date, are given in the remuneration repart on page 47
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25 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS - TOTAL FUTURE MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS

Property Vehicles, plant and equipment
2011 2010 2011 20t0
£m £m £m £m
Commitments under non-cancellable
operating leases expinng

Within one year 8.2 65 39 29
Between two and five years 17.6 108 6.3 20
After five years 9.5 47 - -
35.3 220 102 49

26 FUTURE CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
201+ 2010
£m m
Commitments for which contracts have been placed 02 -

27 PENSICN COMMITMENTS

UK Schemes

The UK group operates the Brammer Services Limited Retirement Benefit Scheme, which until 28 February 2008, provided benefits
on a final salary and defined contribution basis With effect from 1 March 2006, the defined benefit section of the scheme was closed
to future accrual Existng members of the defined benefit section were offered membership of the defined contnbution section of the
scheme The defined benefit scherme 1s funded by the group and contnbutions are paid as determined by the actuary following discussions
with the trustees and the company The assets of the scheme are held in nominee accounts separate from the group's finances under
the control of the trustees An investment review took place in November 2007 and changes to the existing arrangement were carned
out in 2008 The current fund managers are Fidelity Investments, BlackRock Investment Management and Key Asset Management,
under a poaoled arrangement in each case Within the pooled fund the trustees have no investment in the share capital of the company

Company contributions to the defined benefit scheme dunng the year were being made at the rate of 7 2% of contributory salary up
to February 2006 In addition, the company paid £1 5 millon in 2006 and had agreed to pay £1 95 million, indexed for inflation, per
annum In each of the years 2007 to 2017 (inclusive) During 2010 the compary agreed a deficit funding plan with the trustees of the
scheme to make payments of £2 7 milhon, indexed for inflation, in the years 2010 to 2023 inclusive

The latest completed triennial actuarial valuation of the scheme was camed out as at 31 December 2008, using the defined accrued
benefit method (the same method that was used at the previous valuation), by an independent actuary employed by Barnett Waddingham
LLP The assumptions, which were agreed between the company and trustees, that have the most significant effect on the results of
the valuation are those related to the rates of return on investments and the rates of increase in future prce iNflation and pensions
QOver the long term, the returns on INvestments backing the scheme's labiiies were assumed to be 5 80% per annum before retrement
and 4 30% per annum after retrement For pensions in payment (for both current pensioners and non-retired members) the return on
underfying investments was assumed to exceed future pension increases (in excess of the guaranteed minimum pension} by 1 55%
per annum Pensions in excess of the guaranteed minimum pension were assumed to Increase at 2 75% per annum The valuation
showed that the market value of the scheme’s assets was £63 5 million as at 31 December 2008, which represented 63% of the value
of the benelits that had accrued to members at that date The next triennial valuation 1s due to be completed as at 31 December 2011
Employer contributions for 2012 are currently estimated to be £3 0 million

A defined contribution scheme, the “Brammer Services Defined Contribution Pension Scheme”, was launched on 1 January 2002 for
new UK employees joining the group and membership of that scheme was offered 1o existing members of the defined benefit scheme
with effect from 1 March 2006, the date at which the defined benefit scheme was closed to future accrual The charge In the year for
this scheme was £0 9 milion (2010 £1 1 milkon)
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27 PENSION COMMITMENTS

Dutch Schemes

The two pensian schemes operated by the group in the Netherlands are defined benefit schemes that provide benefits related to
service and salary The scheme based on final pay was closed to new members on 1 January 2003 New members participate in a
defined benefit scheme based on average pay The managing drector 1s entitled to an indmidual pension plan that 1s based on final
pay Brammer Nederland funds all these schemes and contributions are paid as determined by the insurance company The assets of
the scheme are held within the insurance company and are separate from the group's finances

The msurance company has calculated company contnbutions to the defined benefit scheme durng the year It 1s not expected for
2012 that company contnbutions will change significantly Past service entitterments onginating from before 1 January 2000 are not yet
fully funded The funding of these entitlements is included in the contributions

The latest actuanal valuation of the scheme was carmed out as at 31 December 2010, using the projected unit method, by an independent
actuary based on data provided by the plan administrators, Nationale Nederlanden

Other Schemes

The group operates a number of defined contribution schemes overseas and contributes to the state pension scheme arrangements
in a number of European countres Costs incurred in the year and charges to the iIncome statement in respect of these schemes were
£0 6 millon (2010 £0 6 mullion)

IAS 19 retirement benefits
The valuations used for IAS 19 disclosures have been based on the most recent actuanal valuations updated to take account of the
requrements of IAS 19 in order to assess the habilites of the scheme Assets are stated at their market value at 31 December 2011

The principal assumptions made by the actuaries were

UK Netheriands

At 31 December At 37 December

2011 2010 2011 2010

Inflation rate 3.20% 3 60% 200% 2 00%

Rate of Increase in salanes n/a n/a 200% 3 00%

Rate of increase of pensions N payment 3.00% 3 60% 200% 2 00%

Rate of increase for deferred pensioners 2.40% 310% 200% 2 00%

Digcount rate 4,.80% 5 50% 5.50% 4 75%

Life expectancy at age 65 for

Current pensioners — males 21.40 2130
Current pensioners — females 24,00 2390
Future pensioners — males 22 90 22 80
Future pensioners — females 25 40 2530

The assets held and the expected rate of return were

Long term rate of

Long term rate of

return expected at Fair value at return expected at Far value at
3 December 2011 31 December 2011 31 December 2010 31 Decemnber 2010
%% £m % m

UK scheme
Equrties 6.00 49.5 7 50 572
Corporate bonds 4.80 113 550 79
Fixed interast gilts 2.50 11.2 400 79
Index linked gilts 250 11.6 4 00 79
Hedge Fund 6.00 7.3 750 77
Cash 0.50 0.6 050 06
Total market value of assets 497 91.5 G 66 892
Present value of pension kabihties {107.9) (103 5)
Deficit (16.4) (14 3)
Related deferred tax asset a1 39
Net penston lability {(123) (10 4)
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27 PENSION COMMITMENTS

Long term rate of Long term rate of

raturn expected at Fair valus at return expected at Fair value at
31 December 2011 31 December 2011 31 December 2010 31 December 2010
% £m % £m

Netherands scheme
Fixed interest gilts 400 43 400 52
Total market value of assets 43 52
Present value of penston liabilities {4.7) 6 7)
Deficit (0.4) {15)
Related deferred tax asset 0.1 04
Net penston liability {0.3) {11)

Where investments are held in bonds and cash the expected long term rate of return 1s taken to be the yelds generally prevaling on

such assets at the balance sheet date

A higher rate of return 1s expected on equity investments, which is based more on realistic future expectations than on the returns that
have been availlable histoncally The overall expected long term rate of return 1s then the average of these rates taking into account the

underlying asset portfolio of the penston plan

Pensions and other post retirement obligations

The amounts recognised In the balance sheet are determined as follows

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

£m £m £m fm £m

Present value of funded oblkgatans 1126 1102 107 3 810 959

Far value of plan assets (95.8) (94 4) (81 86) 67 7) (81 6)

Net hability recognised in the balance sheet 16.8 168 257 133 143
The amounts recognised i the Income statement are as follows

2011 2010

£€m £m

Current service cost 04 o2

Interest cost 59 60

Expected return on plan assets {6 2) {5 6)

Total pension expense included within distribution costs 0.1 06

Analysis of the movement in the balance sheet habihity

2011 2010

£m £m

Opening 15.8 257

On-going expense as above 0.1 06

Employer contributions {3.4) B3

Actuanal loss/(gain) recognised as a reserves movement 5.1 72

Valuation adjustments to Dutch schemes {0.8) -

Closing 16.8 158

The actual return on plan assets was a positive £2 3 milhon {2010
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27 PENSION COMMITMENTS

Reconciliation of defined benefit obligation

2011 2010
£Em £m
Opening defined benefit obligaton 1102 107 3
Exchange adjustments {0.1) ©2)
Service cost 0.4 02
Interest cost 5.9 60
Actuanal loss on defined benefit obligation 1.2 02
Valuation adjustments to Dutch schemes {2.0) -
Actual benefit payments (3.0) @33
Closing defined benefit obligation 112.6 1102
Reconciliation of fair value of plan assets
2011 2010
£m £m
Opening far value of plan assets (94 4) (81 6)
Exchange adjustments 01 02
Expected return on assets (62 (5 6)
Loss/(gan) on assets 3.9 74
Valuation adpstments te Dutch schemes 1.2 -
Employer contributions (3.4) (33)
Actual benefit payments 3.0 33
Closing far value of plan assets {95.8) {94 4)
UK Scheme
3 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Details of expenence (gains) and losses for the year
Difference between the expected
and actua! return on scheme assets
Amount (£ million) 37 7 4 {10 1) 208 {14)
Percentage of scheme assets 4.00% 8 30% 13 10% 32 80% 177%
Expenence losses on scheme habilities
Amount (£ million) - - - - -
Percentage of the present value of the scheme liabilties - - - - -
Total amount racognised 1 statement
of comprehensive Income
Amount (£ million) 53 82 134 16 {83)
Parcentage of the present value of the scheme labiihes 4.90% 7 90% 13 20% 2 10% 8 99%
Dutch Scheme
31 December 31 Dacember 31 Dacember 31 December 31 December
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Details of expenence (gans) and losses for the year
Difference between the expected
and actual return on scheme assets
Amount (€ million) - - - - -
Percentage of scheme assets - - - - -
Expenence losses on scheme liabilities
Amount (£ rmilhon) - - - - -
Percentage of the present value of the scheme liabiities - - - - -
Total amount recognised in statement
of comprehensive Income
Amount (€ million) {0.2) 10 05 ©1) (0 5)
Percentage of the present value of the scheme liabilities 3.60% 17 90% S 80% 3 70% 14 29%
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FIVE YEAR RECORD

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
£m £m £m £m £m
Profit and loss
Revenue 571.5 468 4 426 1 478 4 3796
Profit before goodwill, exceptional items and finance costs 31.8 230 184 26 2 199
Amortisation of acquired intangibles and goodwill,
and exceptional items {4.5) (13 (14 5) 09 ©5)
Profit on ordinary activities before finance costs 27.3 217 39 253 19 4
Net finance costs (2.8} 249 54 (6 4) (4 5)
Profit on ordinary actmties befora tax 24.5 193 (15) 189 149
Tax (6 2) 595) 11 59 (4 5)
Profit on ordinary actmties after tax 183 138 04 130 104
Discontinued operations - - 05 - -
Profit for the year retained in the business 18.3 138 01 130 104
Geographic segments
UK
Revenue 1905 1440 1328 1343 123 6
Operating profit 94 65 46 37 25
Segment (net} assets 328 181 165 169 i50
Germany
Revenue 1203 105 3 959 1239 a7 8
Operating profit 81 59 49 92 72
Segment {net) assets 170 156 152 220 170
France
Revenue 88.0 774 718 752 590
Operating profit 42 32 28 29 27
Segment {net) assets 106 71 83 129 120
Spain
Revenue 44 6 401 38 1 436 34 4
Operating profit 35 28 26 33 33
Segment {net) assets 3.2 34 46 119 110
Benelux
Revenue 513 a6 4 43 4 48 2 365
Operating profit 2.7 24 18 40 26
Segment {net) assets 96 99 1089 14 3 99
Eastern Europe
Revenue 58.2 485 396 46 1 262
Cperating profit 37 22 20 31 16
Segment {net) assets 167 16 4 189 218 158
Cther
Revenue 18.6 67 46 71 20
Cperating profit 02 - 071 - -
Segment {net) assets 111 113 85 64 26
Net assets employed
Goodwall 89.5 748 766 838 545
Property, plant, equipment and intangible assets 256 212 237 264 227
Other working capital 75.5 575 57 2 796 608
Net dabt {35.3} {36 7) (39 9) {83 9) (59 4)
Deferred consideration {14.4} B81) (15 6) {25 0} (14 5)
Tax {6 5) (6 0) {1 4) 8 3} 5 5)
Retirement benefit obligations {16.8) (15 8) (25 7) {133) (14 3)
Financed by
Shareholders’ equity 117.6 870 749 591 443
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FIVE YEAR RECORD

201t 2010 2009 2008 2007
£m £m £m £m £m

Cash flow
Net cash inflow from operating activities 28.2 281 273 292 167
Interest paid and receved (2.4) (2 2} (59) {39) 41)
Tax pad (4.1} 27) (23 {42) 24
Funding of pension schemes less ncome statement charge (3.3) (2 6} (15) {2 6) (2 2)
Net fixed assets movements — Software 33 (16) (10) {(1Q) (14)
Net fixed assets movements — property, plant and equipment (2.5) (17} 07) {33) (3 5)
Acqguisitions, deferred consideration and earn-out payments {28.7) 79) (8 8} {9 8) {12 4)
Didends pad (7.9) 60 (4 1) 41) (33)
Financing 19.3 (11 2) 118 g1 124
Movement in cash (4.8) @8 149 93 02)
Movement n debt, finance lease and liguid resources 5.6 113 231 (11 3) 01
Exchange movements cn cpening balances 0.6 17 61 (22 6) 52)
Moverment in net debt 14 32 441 (24 5) 52)
Ratios
Earmings per share — Basic* 16 8p 13 0p 0ip 17 4p 14 5p
Earnings per share — Fully dituted* 16 4p 13 Op 01p 17 1p 14 3p
Earnings per share — before amortisation and exceptionals* 19 8p 13 9p 13 1p 18 2p 149p
Divmdend per share® 84p 6 6p 55p 56p 51p
Interest cover ~ profit before amortisation and exceptionals 11.3x 10 1x 4 4x 4 4x 4 6x
EBITDA - profit before amortisation and exceptionals 36.2 27 4 231 310 234
Return on operating capital employed (organic) 38.1% 31 0% 24 1% 28 9% 27 9%
Return on investment {excluding net pension) 25% 21% 16% 32% 36%
Gearing {excluding net pension) 27% 37% 43% 122% 108%

*2008 and prior years' earnings and dmdend per share amounts have been restated to reflect the effect of the 1 for 1 nghts 1ssue

completed in November 2009
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Separate accounts in accordance with UK Accounting Standards

ol
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BRAMMER




DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors present therr report and the audited financial statements of the company for the year ended 31 December 2011

Principal activities
The company 1s the holding company for, and also provides management services to, the group

Business review, results and dividends
The profit for the year was £5 9 milion (2010 profit of £5 4 milhion) The directors have recommended that a final dvidend of £6 7
millkon be paid (2010 £4 8 millon)

From the perspective of the company, the key performance indicators are integrated with the key performance indicators of the group
and are not managed separately Accordingly, the key performance indicators of the Brammer group, which include those of the company,
are discussed In the chief executive's review and the financial review of the group’s annual report which do not form part of this report

Principal nsks and uncertamties

From the perspective of the company, the principal nsks and uncertainties, including the financial nsks, are integrated with the principal
nsks of the group and are not managed separately Accordingly, the pnncipal nsks and uncertainties of the Brammer group, which include
those of the company, are discussed on pages 18 and 19 cf the group’s annual report which does not form part of this report, and
the financial nsk factors, which include those of the company, are discussed on pages 59 and 60 of the group’s annual report

Payment to suppliers
The company Is a holding company and had no trade suppliers at the end of the financial year

Directors and directors’ interests
This information 1s shown In the group section of the annual report

Employees
This information 1s shown in the directors’ report In the group section of the annual report on page 27

Tax status
The company 1 not a close company for tax purposes

Statement of directors’ responsibilities
The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report, the directors’ remuneration report and the financial statements in accordance
with applicable law and regulations

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year Under that law the directors have prepared
the financial statements In accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting
Standards and applicable law) Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied
that they give a true and far view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that penod In
prepanng these financial statements, the directors are reguired to

» select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,

> make judgements and accounting estmaies that are reasonable and prudent,

» state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any matenal departures disclosed and explained
in the financial statements respectively, and

» prepare the financial staternents on the going concern basis unless it 1s Inapproprate to presume that the company will continue
in business

The drrectors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the company’s transactions
and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any tme the financial position of the company and enable them to ensure that the financial
statements and ihe Directors’ Remuneration Report comply with the Companies Act 2006 They are also responsible for safeguarding
the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregulanties

Each of the directors, whose names and functions are hsted on pages 20 and 21 confirm that, to the best of ther knowledge

> the financial staterments, which have been prepared in accordance with Umted Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice
{United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law), give a true and far view of the assets, habilities, financial position and
profit of the company, and

> the directars’ repart contained in the annual report includes a farr review of the development and performance of the business and
the position of the company, together with a description of the principal nisks and uncertainties that it faces

Auditors

So far as the directors are aware, there 1s no relevant audnt mformation of which the auditors are unaware Each director has taken all
the steps that he ought to have taken as a director in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit mformation and o establish
that the company’s auditors are aware of that information

By order of the board
Chris Short
Secretary .

14 February 2012
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF BRAMMER PLC

We have audited the parent company financial statements of Brammer plc for the year ended 31 December 2011 which compnse the
balance sheet, the accounting policies and the related notes The financial reporting framework that has been applied in therr preparation
1s apphcable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice)

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As explained more fully n the statement of drectors’ responsibilities, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the parent
company financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and far view Qur responsibility 1s to audit and express an
opinion on the parent company financial statements n accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK
and Ireland) Theose standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethwcal Standards for Auditors

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company's members as a body in accordance with Chapter
3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose We do not, in gvng these opinions, accept or assume responsibility
for any other purpose or to any cther person to whom this report is shown or Into whose hands it may come save where expressly
agreed by our prior consent i wrting

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit iInvolves obtaming evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance
that the financial staterments are free from matenal misstaternent, whether caused by fraud or error This iIncludes an assessment of
whether the accounting palicies are appropriate to the parent company's arcumstances and have been consistently applied and
adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors, and the overall presentation of
the financial statements In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial nformation in the annual report to identfy matenal
nconsistencies with the audited financial statemments If we become aware of any apparent matenal misstatements or iInconsistencles
we consider the implications for our report

Opmion on financial statements

In our opinicn the parent company financral statements

> gwve a true and far view of the state of the company's affarrs as at 31 December 2011,

> have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, and
> have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006

QOpmnion on other matters prescribed by the Comparies Act 2006
In our opinion

> the part of the directors' remuneration report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act
2006, and

> the informauon given in the drrectors’ report for the financial year for which the parent company financial statements are prepared
15 consistent with the parent company financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respact of the followsng matters where the Compames Act 2008 reguires us 1o report te you if, n our opinion

> adsquate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been recewved
from branches not visited by us, or

> the parent company financial statements and the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be audited are not in agreement with
the accounting records and returns, or

> certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or
> we have not receved all the information and explanations we require for our audrt

Other matter
Phave reporied separately on the group financial statements of Brammer pic for the year ended 31 December 2011

' LC%L—J M;Lcrux.ﬁuo pos
Martin Heath (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PncewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Manchester

14 February 2012
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BALANCE SHEET

At 31 Dscamber 2011

2011 2010
Notes £m £m
Fixed assets
Tangible assets 1 5.2 35
Investments - shares in group undertakings 2 112.7 94 8
117.9 983
Current assets
Debtors — due after more than one year 3 110.0 997
Debtors - due wathin one year 3 5.4 51
115.4 104 8
Cash at bank and in hand 0.1 0t
115.5 104 9
Creditors — amounts falling due withtn one year 4 {65.0) 57 1)
Net current assets 50.5 47 8
Total assets less current habdities 168.4 1461
Craditors — amounts falling due after more than one year 5 {48.9) {51 3)
Provisions for iabilities 6,7 - ©1
Net assets 119.5 947
Capital and reserves 8
Called up share capital 23.4 213
Share premium account 18.2 181
Special capital reserve 121 121
Profit and loss account 65.8 432
Total shareholders’ funds 119.5 947

The notes on pages 88 to 95 form part of these accounts

The accounts were approved by the board on 14 February 2012 and were signed on its behalf by

Dawvid Dunn Paul Thwaite
Charman Finance direct;

Brammer plc *

Registered number 00162925
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation
The company financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis and under the hustoncal cost convention and in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and with applicable UK accounting standards

A separate profit and loss account dealing with the results of the company has not been presented as permitted by section 408(3) of
the Companies Act 2006

Cash flow statement
Under FRS1 the company 1s exempt from the requirement to prepare a cash flow statement on the grounds that a parent undertaking
includes the company in its published consolidated financial statements

Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded using the rate of exchange rubng at the date of the transaction Monsetary assets
and habiities 1n foreign currencies are translated into sterling at the rates of exchange ruling on the balance sheet date and exchange
differences are taken to the profit and loss account

Fixed assets
Fixed assets are stated at cost and nclude the onginal purchase pnce of the asset together wath the costs attnbutable to bnnging the
asset to its working condition for its intended use Finance costs are not capitalised as part of fixed assets

Software development

Costs assoctated with maintaining computer software programmes are recogrised as an expense as incurred Costs that are directly
associated with identifiable software systems operated by the group and which will generate economic benefits excesding costs
beyond one year, are recogrised as fixed assets Direct costs include staff costs of the software development team and an appropriate
portion of direct overheads

Expenditure which enhances or extends the performance of identifiable software systems beyond therr onginal specifications 1s recognised
as a capital mprovemsant and added to the onginal cost of the software Computer software development costs recognised as assets
are amortised using the straight-line method over their useful lives, not exceeding a period of 7 years

Depreciation

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less depreciation Depreciation 1s prowded by equal annual instalments to write off the cost of
fixed assets, net of residual values, over the expected useful life of the asset concerned In general the lives of the assets have been
estimated as follows

Equipment 4 -7 years

Investments
Shares in subsidiary companies and fixed asset nvestments are shown at cost subject to prowision for impairment in valuation

Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised as the proceeds received, net of transaction costs incurred, which are then amortised over the expected
life of the facility

Deferred consideration
The amounts recogrused for deferred consideration are the directors’ best estimates of the actual amount which will be payable Deferred
consderation s discounted at an appropriate nsk-free rate

Pension costs

The company participates 1n a funded group operated defined benefit pension scheme, the Brammer Services Retirement Benefit
Scheme Under the defintions set out in FRS 17, the Brammer scheme 1s 2 mutti-employer pension scheme The company 1s unable
to identify its share of the undertying assets and labilities in the scheme on a consistent and reasonable basis and therefore treats the
scheme as a defined centrbution scheme Pension costs related to defined contnbution schermes are charged as contnbutions fall due

Provisions

Prownisions in respect of habilities are made in accordance with FRS 12 and are discounted where the eflect 1s matenal Provistons are
recognised when the company has a present obligation as a result of a past event, it 1s probable that a transfer of econornic benefits
will be required to settle the obhigation, and a reliable estmate can be made of the amount of the obligation
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Share based payments

The far values of employee share option and share performance plans are calculated using the Black-Scholes mode! In accordance
with FRS 20, '‘Share-based Payments' the resulting cost s charged to the income statement over the vesting penod of the options
The total amount to be expensed over the vesting penod 1s determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted, excluding
the impact of any non-market vesting conditions Non-market vesting conditions are included mn assumptions about the number of
options that are expected to vest At each balance sheet date, the value of the charge s adjusted to reflect expected and actual levels
of options vesting for changes in non market vesting cntena

Current and Deferred tax
Current tax
Corporation tax payable 1s provided on taxable profits at the current rate

Deferred tax

Deferred taxation 1s recogrused tn respect of all tming differences that have onginated but not reversed at the balance sheet date
where transactions or events that result in an obligation to pay more tax in the future or a nght to pay less tax in the future have occurred
at the balance sheet date Deferred tax assets are regarded as recoverable and recognised in the financial statements when, on the
basis of avalable evidence, it 1s more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits from which the future reversal of the timing
differences can be deducted The recoverabliity of tax losses Is assessed by reference to forecasts which have been prepared and
approved by the board Deferred tax assets and habilities are not discounted

Directors’ remuneration, employee share schemes and dividends
Detalls of directors’ remuneration, employee share schemes and dvdends are included in the group section of the annual report

90 | Brammer plc | Annual Report 2011




NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

1 FIXED ASSETS - TANGIBLE ASSETS

2011 2010
£m £m

Equipment
Cost
At 1 January 7.9 68
Additions 2.7 11
At 31 December 106 79
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 44 36
Charge 10 o8
At 31 December 54 44
Net book value
At 1 January 35 32
Movement in year 17 03
At 31 December 52 35
2 FIXED ASSETS - INVESTMENTS (UNLISTED)

2011 2010

£m £m

Subsidianes
At 1 January 94.8 947
Additional investment in existing subsidanes 17.9 01
At 31 December 112.7 948

Detals of the principal operating subsidiares which are erther wholly owned by the company or its subsidianes are shown in the group

section of the report on page 24

The addiional investment in the year includes the accrual of earn-out liabilities of £8 8 million relating to the performance of acquisitions

made in 2007 and 2008 Further detals are given in note 8 in the group financial statements

In the opinien of the directors, the value of the company’s Investments In 1ts subsidianes 1s not less than the amount at which 1t 1s

stated in the balance sheet

Acquisition of Buck & Hickman business

On 30 Septernber 2011 the company acquired the business of Buck & Hickman from Travis Perkins pic for a total cash consideration
of £26 ¢ millon on a debt-free, cash-free basis Details of the acquisition are given in note 23 in the group sechion of the annual report
Subsequently, on 31 October 2011 the farr value of the trade and assets of Buck & Hickman were transferred to Brammer UK Limited

for consideration of £26 9 millon
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

3 DEBTORS
2011 2010
£m £m
Amounis due after one year
Amounts owed by group undertakings 110.0 997
Amounts due within one year
Amounts owed by group undertakings 4.0 44
Other debtors 0.5 05
Prepayments and accrued income 0.4 02
Deferred tax (note 6) 0.5 -
5.4 51
1154 1048

Amounts due from group undertakungs are unsecured and carry interest at varying margins refating to base rate The loans are repayable
at any ume with the mutual agreement of both parties

4 CREDITORS - AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

2011 2010

£m £m

Bank overdrafts 8.3 45
Amounts owed {0 group undertakings 42.0 408
Corporation tax 0.9 17
Daferred consideration 10.4 69
Accruals 3.4 32
65.0 571

Amounts due to group undertakings are unsecured and carry intergst at varying marging relating to base rate The loans are repayable
at any time with the mutual agreement of both parties

The amounts recogrised on acquisition In respect of deferred consideration are rnanagement'’s best estimates of the amounts which
will be payable Both the amounts and the tirming of future payments are uncertain as they are dependent upon the future performance
of the businesses acquired

5 CREDITORS - AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR

2011 2010
£m £m
Bank and other borrowings
Unsecured bank loan repayable
Between one and two years 45.3 513
Between two and five years - -
Over five years - -
45.3 513
Deferred consideration 3.6 -
48.9 513

Details of the bank loans are given In notes 14 and 15 of the group financial statements
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

6 DEFERRED TAX

2011 2000
£m £m
Deferred tax
At 1 January (0.1) 0 1)
Profit and loss account 0.6 -
At 31 December 0.5 ©1)
The movement in the year and the closing asset pnncipally relate to deferred tax on share-based payments
7 PROVISIONS
2011 2010
£m £m
At 1 January - 02)
Utiised - Q2
At 31 December - -
Prowisions related to restructuning costs Further details are given in note 16 in the group financial statements
8 MOVEMENT IN SHAREHOLDERS'’ FUNDS
Share Share Special Profit and loss 2011 2010
capital promium capital account Total Total
£m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 213 181 121 43 2 94.7 952
Shares 1ssued dunng the year - 01 - - 04 01
Net proceeds from share placing 21 - - 227 24.8 -
Profit for the financial year - - - 59 5.9 54
Divdends - - - {7 9) (7.9) 60
Purchase of own shares (note 9) - - - 01} {0.1) -
Value of employee services - - - 20 20 -
Moverment in year 21 01 - 226 24.8 (0 5)
At 31 Decemnber 234 182 121 658 119.5 947
The special capital reserve 1s non-distnbutable
9 CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL
2011 2010
Number Number
Ordinary shares of 20p each
Allotted, called up and fully pad
At 31 December 116,944,074 106,361,185

Resolution One passed at the General Meeting held on 29 October 2009 removed the imit on the Company on its ability to 1ssue

shares Accordingly the Company has no imit on authonsed share capital (2009 no hmit)

In the period from 1 January 2012 to 14 February 2012 no shares were 1ssued on the exercise of ophions under the company’s share

option schemes

93 | Brammer plc | Annual Report 2011




NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

9 CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL

Placing

On 7 September 2011 the company 1ssued 10,535,000 new ordinary shares at 240 pence per share through a placing wath institutional
nvestors, representing approximately 9 9% of the total iIssued share capital Net proceeds were £24 8 milllon, being gross proceeds
onissue of £25 3 millon less expenses of £0 5 millon

Crdinarly, the excess of the net proceeds over the nominal value of the share capital Issued would be credited to a non-distnbutable
share premium account However, the placing was etfected through a structure which resulted in the excess of the net proceeds over
the nomina! value of the share caprtal being recognised within retained earnings under section 612 of the Comparies Act 2006

The placing shares rank par passu in all respects with the existing issued shares

Purchase of own shares

Durning the year the company acquired 75,447 of its own shares of 20p each through the Brammer plc Employee Share Ownership
Trust {“the Trust"} for an aggregate consideration of £122,982 which has been deducted from shareholders’ equity The shares are
held by the Trust in order to meet vestings under the company's performance share plans and share matching plans

Dunng the year 88,567 shares were transferred to directors and senior managers to meet vestings under these plans

At 31 December 2011 the Trust held a total of 208,121 shares (2010 277.634) In the company, at a cost of £233,411 (2010 £242,508),
in order to meet part of the company's labilities under the performance share plans and share matching plans The market value of
the shares held by the Trust at 31 Decermber 2011 was £0 5 million {2010 £0 7 milion) The Trust deed contains a warver provision in
respect of these shares

Ordinary shares 1ssued

Options exercised dunng the year under the group's employee share option schemes resulted in $6,393 ordinary 20p shares being
1issued with exercise proceeds of £54,717

10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE

2011 2010
£m £m

Wages and salanes 5.1 42
Social security costs 0.8 06
Share options granted to directors and employees 2.0 -
Other pension costs 25 24
104 72

Average number of employees {including drectors on a service contract) 50 41

11 AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

Fees payable to the company's auditors for the audit of the financial statemenits were £0 1 milion (2010 £0 1 mulion) Non-audit fees
payable to the company’s auditors were £0 1 milbon (2010 £0 1 millon)

12 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The company's major subsidianes are party to a bank guarantee whereby they agree to discharge on demand, in part or in total, bank
borrowings under a specific faciity of other comparues wathin the Brammer plc group
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

13 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The company 1s exempt under the terms of FRS8 from disclosing related party transactions with entities that are part of the group as
these transactions are fully eliminated on consolidation
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FINANCIAL CALENDAR 2012

17 May 2012 Annual general meeting at 43 -45 Broad Street, Teddington, Middlesex TW11 8QZ
8 June 2012 Record date

3 July 2012 Dntdend payrment date

31 July 2012 Announcement of intenm results for the six months to 30 June 2012

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

If you require any information about your sharehelding please contact the company's registrars, Equinit, Aspect House, Spencer Road,
Lancing, West Sussex BNS9 6DA telephone 0871 3842215 Calls to this number cost 8p per minute from a BT landline, other prowiders’
costs may vary bines are open from 8 30am to 5 30pm, Monday to Friday For overseas callers the number to callis +44 (0)121 4157047

The registrar has introduced a service for shareholders which gives them on-line internet access to therr shareholding To register
please go to www shareview co uk You will need your shareholder account number and you will be asked to select your own PIN {f
you have any further questions about this service please contact Equinit on the above number

Our website
You can find out further nformation about Brammer plc and wview company announcements on the Brammer website at www brammerbiz

ShareGift scheme
Some shareholders find themselves owning a very small number of shares that would cost thern more to dispose of than they are worth
They bring with them a tax hability and unwanted documentation

The ShareGift scheme is a registered chanty run by The Orr Mackintosh Foundation Any shares donated to the ShareGift scheme
are transferred into the name of The Orr Mackintosh Foundation, the shares are sold where possible and the proceeds are donated
to charity

If you would ke further information on the ShareGift Scheme please call 020 7930 3737 or visit its website at www sharegift org
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Brammer plc
Claverton Court
Claverton Road
Wythenshawe
Manchester M23 SNE
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